On the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and kernel home range analyses: the case of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*)

by

Kristen Kilistoff B.Sc., University of Guelph, 2003

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in the Department of Geography

© Kristen Kilistoff, 2014 University of Victoria

All rights reserved. This thesis may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without the permission of the author.

Supervisory Committee

On the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and kernel home range analyses: the case of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*)

by

Kristen Kilistoff B.Sc., University of Guelph, 2003

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Dennis E. Jelinski (Department of Geography) Supervisor

Dr. Trisalyn A. Nelson (Department of Geography) Departmental Member

Abstract

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Dennis E. Jelinski (Department of Geography) Supervisor Dr. Trisalyn A. Nelson (Department of Geography) Departmental Member

There are a myriad of studies of animal habitat use that employ the notion of "home range". Aggregated information on animal locations provide insight into a geographically discrete units that represents the use of space by an animal. Among various methods to delineate home range is the commonly used Kernel Density Estimation (KDE). The KDE method delineates home ranges based on an animal's Utilization Distribution (UD). Specifically, a UD estimates a three-dimensional surface representing the probability or intensity of habitat use by an animal based on known locations. The choice of bandwidth (i.e., kernel radius) in KDE determines the level of smoothing and thus, ultimately circumscribes the size and shape of an animal's home range. The bounds of interest in a home range can then be delineated using different volume contours of the UD (e.g., 95% or 50%). Habitat variables can then be assessed within the chosen UD contour(s) to ascertain selection for certain habitat characteristics.

Home range analyses that utilize the KDE method, and indeed all methods of home range delineation, are subject to the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) whereby the changes in the scale at which data (e.g., habitat variables) are analysed can alter the outcome of statistical analyses and resulting ecological inferences. There are two components to MAUP, the scale and zoning effects. The scale effect refers to changes to the data and, consequently the outcome of analyses as a result of aggregating data to coarser spatial units of analysis. The aggregation of data can result in a loss of fine-scale detail as well as change the observed spatial patterns. The zone effect refers to how, when holding scale constant, the delineation of areal units in space can alter data values and ultimately the results of analyses. For example, habitat features captured within 1km² gridded sampling units may change if instead 1km² hexagon units are used.

This thesis holds there are three "modifiable" factors in home range analyses that render it subject to the MAUP. The first two relate specifically to the use of the KDE method namely, the choice of bandwidth and UD contour. The third is the grain (e.g., resolution) by which habitat variables are aggregated, which applies to KDE but also more broadly to other quantitative methods of home range delineation

In the following chapters we examine the changes in values of elevation and slope that result from changes to KDE bandwidth (Chapter 2) UD contour (Chapter 3) and DEM resolution (Chapter 4). In each chapter we also examine how the observed effects of altering each individual parameter of scale (e.g., bandwidth) changes when different scales of the other two parameters are considered (e.g., contour and resolution). We expected that the scale of each parameter examined would change the observed effect of other parameters. For example, that the homogenization of data at coarser resolutions would reduce the degree of difference in variable values between UD contours of each home range.

To explore the potential effects of MAUP on home range analyses we used as model population 13 northern woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*). We created seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) for each caribou using three different KDE bandwidths. Within each home range we delineated four contours based on differing levels of an animal's UD. We then calculated values of elevation and slope (mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation) using a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) aggregated to four different resolutions within the contours of each seasonal home range.

We found that each parameter of scale significantly changed the values of elevation and slope within the home ranges of the model caribou population. The magnitude as well as direction of change in slope and elevation often varied depending the specific contour or season. There was a greater decrease in the variability of elevation within the fall and winter seasons at smaller KDE bandwidths. The topographic variables were significantly different between all contours of caribou home ranges and the difference between contours were in general, significantly higher in fall and winter (elevation) or calving and summer (slope). The mean and SD of slope decreased at coarser resolutions in all caribou home ranges, whereas there was no change in elevation. We also found interactive effects of all three parameters of scale, although these were not always as direct as initially anticipated. Each parameter examined (bandwidth, contour and resolution) may potentially alter the outcome of northern woodland caribou habitat analyses.

We conclude that home range analyses that utilize the KDE method may be subject to MAUP by virtue the ability to modify the spatial dimensions of the units of analysis. As such, in habitat analyses using the KDE careful consideration should be given to the choice of bandwidth, UD contour and habitat variable resolution.

Table of Contents

Sı	iperviso	bry Committee	ii
A	bstract.		iii
Тί	able of (Contents	vi
Li	st of Ta	bles	ix
Li	st of Fig	gures	x
A	cknowle	edgments	xiii
D	edicatio	n	xiv
C	o-Autho	orship Statement	xv
1	Intro	oduction	16
	1.1	References	23
2	The	Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and caribou (Rangifer tarandus) home	ç
ra	nge del	lineation: effects of bandwidth choice in Kernel Density Estimation	31
	2.1	Abstract	31
	2.2	Introduction	32
	2.3	Methods	38
	2.3.1	Caribou data	38
	2.3.2	2 Kernel Density Estimation	40
	2.3.3	3 Topographic data	43
	2.3.4	4 Statistical analysis	44
	2.4	Results	47
	2.4.1	Range and proportion of differences between bandwidths	48
	2.4.2	2 Difference between contours	49
	2.4.3	3 Difference between seasons	50
	2.5	Discussion	51
	2.5.1	Bandwidth Selection	57
	2.5.2	2 Effect of DEM resolution	59
	2.6	Conclusions	61
	2.7	References	73

3	The I	Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and caribou (<i>Rangifer tarandus</i>) l	nome
ra	ange deli	ineation: effects of utilization distribution contour choice	
	3.1	Abstract	
	3.2	Introduction	
	3.3	Methods	
	3.3.1	Caribou data	
	3.3.2	Kernel Density Estimation	101
	3.3.3	Data analysis	
	3.4	Results	108
	3.4.1	Range and proportion of differences between contours	109
	3.4.2	Differences between contour pairs	110
	3.4.3	Differences between seasons	111
	3.5	Discussion	
	3.5.1	Home range delineation	
	3.5.2	Habitats of greater use	117
	3.5.3	Bandwidth and resolution	121
	3.6	Conclusions	122
	3.7	References	133
4	The I	Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and caribou (<i>Rangifer tarandus</i>) l	nome
ra	ange deli	ineation: effects of aggregating slope and elevation	150
	4.1	Abstract	150
	4.2	Introduction	152
	4.3	Methods	159
	4.3.1	Caribou data	159
	4.3.2	Kernel Density Estimation	
	4.3.3	Topographic data	
	4.3.4	Data analysis	164
	4.4	Results	167
	4.4.1	Range and direction of change in topographic variables	
	4.4.2	Difference between changes in resolution	169
	4.4.3	Difference between contours	169

		N N	<i>iii</i>
	4.4.4	Difference between seasons	69
	4.5	Discussion 1	71
	4.5.1	Change in slope and elevation 1	72
	4.5.2	2 Differences in observed change with increasing resolution	73
	4.5.3	B Differences in observed change between contours and seasons	75
	4.5.4	Effect of bandwidth 1	77
	4.6	Conclusions1	78
	4.7	References1	88
5	Con	clusion2	06
	5.1	Discussion and Conclusion	06
	5.2	Research Contributions	09
	5.3	Research opportunities	11
	5.4	Implications	12
	5.5	References	14
Ap	pendix	A: Seasonal comparisons ccv	iii
Ap	pendix	B: Supplementary Results for chapter 2ccx	vii
Ap	pendix	C: Supplementary Results for chapter 3	iii
Ap	pendix	CD: Supplementary Results for chapter 4cc	liv

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Selected season dates for each caribou and sample sizes used to create seasonal
home ranges
Table 2.2 Range of descriptive metrics as well as maximum (absolute and directional)
differences in the elevation (m) with successive $(h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref} \text{ and } 0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref})$
and overall $(h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref})$ changes in bandwidth
Table 2.3 Range of descriptive metrics as well as maximum (absolute and directional)
differences in the slope (%) with successive $(h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref} \text{ and } 0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref})$
and overall (h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}) changes in bandwidth
Table 3.1 Selected season dates for each caribou and sample sizes used to create seasonal
home ranges
Table 3.2 The range of descriptive metrics and maximum observed difference in values
of elevation (m) between contours of all seasonal home ranges 126
Table 3.3 Range of descriptive metrics and maximum observed difference in values of
slope (%) between contours of all seasonal home ranges
Table 4.1 Selected season dates for each caribou and sample sizes used to create seasonal
home ranges
Table 4.2 Range of descriptive metrics and maximum observed change in values of slope
with increasing resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m). Absolute as well as
directional changes in CV of slope are provided, as CV is the only variable which
both increased and decreased at coarser resolutions

List of Figures

- Figure 2.1 Ranges of Northern woodland caribou herds (Rangifer tarandus caribou) in Figure 2.2 Proportion of increases vs. decreases in mean, SD and CV of elevation (m) with each change in bandwidth in the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) of the Figure 2.3 Proportion of increases vs. decreases in mean, SD and CV of slope (%) with each change in bandwidth in the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) of the five Figure 2.4 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) between contours within each seasonal home range at each of the three changes in Figure 2.5 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between contours within each seasonal home range at each of the three changes in Figure 2.6 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) within contours of the same value between the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} – Figure 2.7 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) within contours of the same value between the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth $(h_{ref} -$ Figure 3.1 Ranges of Northern woodland caribou herds (Rangifer tarandus caribou) in western Canada. (reproduced from: Environment Canada, 2012)...... 124
- Figure 3.2 Proportion of instances where mean (top), SD (middle) and CV (bottom) of elevation (m) was higher and lower within the smaller contour of a comparison in each of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).

Each letter identifies the bandwidth(s) at which differences in proportions were Figure 3.3 Proportion of instances where mean (top), SD (middle) and CV (bottom) of slope (%) was higher and lower within the smaller contour of a comparison in each of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Each letter identifies the bandwidth(s) at which differences in proportions were Figure 3.4 Significant pairwise differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) (right) and slope (%) (left) between contour pairs within each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) 130 Figure 3.5 Significant pairwise differences between seasons (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) between contours. Figure 3.6 Significant pairwise differences between seasons (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between contours.132 Figure 4.1 Ranges of northern woodland caribou herds (Rangifer tarandus caribou) in western Canada. (reproduced from: Environment Canada, 2012)...... 180 Figure 4.2 Proportion of increases vs. decreases in CV of slope with each change in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m) in the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Letters (a-f) indicate significant difference in proportions (exact binomial test of proportions, p<0.05) at one or more of the bandwidths examined (h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} , Figure 4.3 Statistically significant pairwise differences (p < 0.05) in $x\Delta x$ of slope with increasing resolution (25-75m vs. 75-125m, and 75-125m vs. 125-175m) within each contour (25, 50, 75 and 95) and seasonal home range (winter, calving, Figure 4.4 Statistically significant pairwise differences (p < 0.05) $x \Delta SD$ of slope with increasing resolution (25-75m vs. 75-125m, and 75-125m vs. 125-175m) within each contour (25, 50, 75 and 95) and seasonal home range (winter, calving,

Figure 4.5 Significant pairwise differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) of each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each increase in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m). Lightest grey represents the contours in which descriptive metrics of slope were lowest. Note, $x\Delta CV$ are the absolute values of differences.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Dennis Jelinski for his guidance, support and for sticking it out with me for all these years. I would also like to thank Dr. Trisalyn Nelson whose knowledge and enthusiasm for geography and the analysis of spatial relationships has always been inspiring. Thank you to Dr. Jiango Wu for agreeing to be my external and for providing some levity as well as insight at my defense. I would also like to thank Diane Braithwaite and Darlene Li of the Geography office who have been invaluable during my degree and no matter how many times I asked the same questions were always pleasant and extremely helpful.

I am very grateful to all my friends and family for their continued love and support. I could not have done this without you. I am very lucky to have had two fantastic lab-mates throughout all of this, Christine Weldrick and Heather Leech. A special thanks to Josh Pierrot who saw me through some of my toughest times and who was always there for me no matter how one-sided our friendship was. Thanks to Scott Amos and Stacey Ashworth for feeding me, taking care of me and enduring me for the past few years while I was continually "finishing". Thanks to Andre Bindon for being my personal computer guy. Thanks to Brendan Piper, Chantal Langlois, Darryl Tamney, Danni Duncan and Nicola Mark for being some of the best friends a person could have. Thanks to my parents who have never wavered in their love and support no matter what. Lastly, to Everest, who not only made sure I got out of the house at least once a day but was always there to remind me that no matter how bad things got, life is pretty awesome.

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my Baba, Mary Kilistoff. I love you very much. I am sorry my life path has kept me away for so long but now I'm coming home.

Co-Authorship Statement

This thesis is a combination of three scientific manuscripts of which I am lead author. The original idea of analysing the effect of kernel density bandwidth and resolution on the values of topographic variables in home range analyses was first proposed by both Dr. Dennis Jelinski and Dr. Trisalyn Nelson. This idea was later built upon by myself and Dr. Dennis Jelinski to focus specifically on home range analyses of northern woodland caribou and to include the analysis of utilization distribution contour. Access to the caribou data was provided by Mark Williams of the BC Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations. I performed all data preparation, data analysis, interpretation of results and writing. Dr. Trisalyn Nelson provided guidance with respect to statistical analyses. Dr. Dennis Jelinski provided editorial comments and suggestions.

1 Introduction

In spatial ecology, scale has two main components: Grain and extent (Meentemeyer and Box 1987, Wiens 1989). Grain is the minimum resolution of the data; for example, the pixel size in remote sensing imagery, quadrant size in studies of plant ecology, or, from an animal perspective, the minimum mapping unit at which habitat variables are assessed (e.g., Thompson and McGarigal 2002). Extent, which is inversely related to grain, is the scope or domain of the data and is often defined as the size of the study area or the time period for which a landscape or population process occurs. That these scale-based data can be "modified" is the crux of the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (Openshaw and Taylor 1979, Openshaw 1984, Fotheringham and Wong 1991). Specifically, MAUP refers to the impact that the choice of areal unit (in terms of size and shape) has on results of statistical analyses as a consequence of varying scale. There are two main components to MAUP. The first component, the scale issue, refers to the changes that occur in spatial data when it is aggregated to coarser spatial units (e.g., when remotely sensed data is resampled from a grid resolution of 30x30m to one of 50x50m). This process tends to average out the fine-scale detail in the data and in thematic landscape data can result in, for example, the loss of small or rare landscape classes (Turner et al. 1989, Gottschalk et al. 2011). The second component of MAUP, the zoning issue, refers to the number of different ways (holding grain constant) that spatial units can be delineated in space. For example, if rectangular sampling units are used (e.g., 100x500m), differences in variable values measured may occur when these units are oriented in a north-south direction versus an east-west direction due to the anisotropic nature of some landscape patterns (Dungan et al. 2002). The changes that occur in data as a result of both the scale and zoning aspects of MAUP can lead to spurious statistical results as well as inferences (Fotheringham and Wong 1991, Jelinski and Wu 1996, Dark and Bram 2007).

Whilst MAUP was well known to geographers (e.g., Openshaw and Taylor 1979, 1981), ecologists were largely unaware of the issue until publication of Jelinski and Wu's (1996) paper, as evidenced by the 214 Web of Science citations and 375 in Google Scholar. In other words, ecologists now recognize MAUP as an important issue needing attention when dealing with spatial data that are modified, typically by aggregation. This attention includes analysis of landscape pattern including use of landscape metrics (Wu 2004) and land-use/land-cover change (Buyantuyev et al. 2010), analyzing species-habitat relationships (Li et al. 2006, Schooley 2006, Lechner et al. 2012), modelling patterns of species distribution (Hui et al. 2009, Lassueur et al. 2006, Pandit et al. 2010), abundance (Hui et al. 2009) and diversity (Foody 2004).

Home range analyses, for which there are a myriad of studies on an extraordinarily wide range of animals, are subject to a range of issues related to MAUP but have been largely overlooked. The concept of an animal's home range (HR) was described by Burt (1943:351) as "that area traversed by the individual in its normal activities of food gathering, mating and caring for young". Kernohan et al. (2001: 126) suggested a more explicit definition of home range as "the extent of area with a defined probability of occurrence of an animal during a specified time period". These time periods can be spatially decomposed and quantified by applying Utilization Distributions (UDs), which takes the form of a 2-D probability density function representing the

probability of occurrence, or relative amount of time spent by an animal in a defined area within its home range (Van Winkle 1975, Seaman and Powell 1996, Millspaugh et al. 2006). Estimations of the UDs has garnered significant attention within the context of both parametric (e.g., Jenrich-Turner, Jenrich and Turner 1969; Dunn estimator, Dunn and Gipson 1977) and non-parametric methods (e.g., fourier series smoothing, Anderson 1982; harmonic mean, Dixon and Chapman 1980).

Worton, in two seminal works (1987, 1989), introduced Kernel Density Estimation (KDE) as a non-parametric and non-mechanistic technique for estimating HR's and UDs. In addition to providing less biased estimates of HR size than other methods (Worton 1995), the KDE is able to identify multiple centers of activity (Kernohan et al. 2001), and generates a direct estimate of an animal's UD (Worton 1987, Kernohan et al. 2001). Home ranges are created using the KDE by interpolation of point location data, say, as provided by radio-collar data (e.g. Rupp and Rupp 2010). A kernel is placed over every location and the density of locations within each kernel is determined (the radius of which is the bandwidth). A gridded (raster) surface, the Utilization Distribution (UD), is then produced by averaging the densities of all overlapping kernels at each location resulting in a surface representing the probability or intensity of use by an animal. Methods based on the UD such as KDE thus provide more information than simple delineation of an animal's home range (Anderson 1982).

In those home range analyses that use the KDE method, there are three potential ways that MAUP may significantly affect the results. These include, (1) the choice of bandwidth, or smoothing parameter, when creating the home range, (2) the contours delineated within the home range that identify specific areas of use based on variable

Utilization Distributions, and, (3), the grain at which habitat variables are analyzed (e.g., resolution or grid cell size of remotely sensed data).

While in the following chapters the specifics of these three issues will be described in more detail, the basic issues remain to be discussed in brief as follows. First, the choice of kernel bandwidth will determine the degree of smoothing applied to the data and, therefore, the size and shape of the area delineated as an animal's home range (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Gitzen and Millspaugh 2003, Fieberg 2007). Coarse-scale bandwidths (i.e. large) assign distant animal locations more influence and can potentially over-estimate home range size (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001), whereas fine-scale bandwidths cause nearby locations to have more influence on the UD resulting in smaller estimates and potentially under-estimating home range size (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). Therefore, as a result of changes in the size and shape of a home range and hence the nature of habitat (e.g., type or composition) or resources (e.g., forage, water, refuge from predators) found within, there is an implication that selection of bandwidth has the potential to impact analyses of those variables and resulting inferences (Marzluff et al. 2004, Harris and Chen 2005).

Secondly, similar to bandwidth, the UD contour at which analyses are conducted will also determine the size (geographic extent) and shape of the area included in home range analyses. Contours of the UD identify areas with a specified probability or level of use by an animal. The outer bounds of a home range is typically delineated using the 95% contour (e.g., Belant and Follman 2002, Brown et al. 2003, Berger and Gese 2007, Rayl et al. 2014). Investigations into more concentrated areas generally use the 50%

contour to delineate what is termed the 'core area' of an animal's home range (e.g., White et al 1996, Dickson and Beier 2002, Metsaranta and Mallory 2007, Webb et al. 2007). Selection of a specific UD contour will determine not only the size and shape of each area associated with a specific level of use, but, similar to bandwidth, could change the values or habitat or resource variables used in any analysis. For example, Hébert and Weladji (2013) found significant differences in the coniferous forest stand characteristics (e.g., tree height, ground cover and lichen biomass) associated with low (95%), medium (75%) and high (50%) use intensity levels (i.e., contours of the UD) within woodland caribou home ranges in Newfoundland.

Third, studies using UD-delineated home ranges to assess habitat or resource variables will often do so with the use of rasterized habitat or resource data (e.g., Rettie and Messier 2000, Wittmer et al. 2007, Wilson et al. 2012). The grain (e.g. the resolution) of this data might be determined by the source of the data (e.g., Landsat, 30m; Marzluff et al. 2004, Johnson and Gillingham, 2008) or may be aggregated to coarser resolutions to, for example, match the resolution of other variables used in an analysis (e.g., Kie et al. 2002, Roger et al. 2007, Bremset et al. 2009). The aggregation of data to coarser resolutions can impact the heterogeneity/variance present in each dataset and, in turn, possibly alter the outcome of any statistical analyses performed (Jelinski and Wu, 1996; Dark and Bram 2007).

The overall goal of this study is to assess the potential effect of MAUP on home range analyses with respect to choice of bandwidth and contour in KDE as well as the grain at which habitat variables are analysed. To illustrate the issues, we use home ranges created using high frequency GPS telemetry data collected for 13 woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus) of the Level Kawdy herd found in northern British Columbia (Figure 1.1). Woodland caribou in BC are the focus of a number of studies which aim to further our understanding of their movement and habitat use in order to aid in the effective management and conservation of this species (e.g. Terry et al. 2000, Fortin et al. 2008, Leblond et al. 2011). While previous research has investigated the effect of scale on the outcome of woodland caribou habitat analyses (e.g. Apps et al. 2001, Johnson et al. 2002, Leblond et al. 2011), few have done so using the parameters of scale assessed in this study (i.e., bandwidth, contour and resolution). Seasonal habitat selection by caribou is, in part, driven by topography including elevation and slope (Poole et al. 2000, Culling and et al. 2005, Gustine et al. 2006, DeCesare et al. 2012) and, as such, it is these variables that we use to assess the effect of scale in woodland caribou home range analyses. Specifically, we address how choice of bandwidth, contour and resolution change the values of topographic variables commonly used in home range analyses of woodland caribou, namely elevation and slope. To investigate the impact of MAUP, we created seasonal home ranges for each caribou using three different bandwidths and delineated four different contours within each home range. Caribou home ranges were then coupled with elevation and slope data from a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) aggregated to four different resolutions. We hypothesised that changes in each variable examined (bandwidth, contour, resolution) would have individual as well as combined impact on values of elevation and slope (e.g., the value of topographic variables within a home range will vary depending on the bandwidth used in KDE, and the degree to which they vary will differ depending on the resolution of the data).

The use of smaller bandwidths in KDE will decrease the total amount of area encompassed by each home range and each contour within a home range. Therefore, depending on the original topography in each contour (i.e., at the largest/original bandwidth examined), as well as the topography of adjacent contours, we expected that changes in topographic variables as bandwidth decreased would vary depending on contour and that, similarly, differences in elevation and slope between contours would vary depending on bandwidth.

Areas that are more variable with steeper slopes, in general, should be characterized by a greater decrease in slope values as DEM resolution increases, relative to areas that are less topographically variable (Zhang and Montgomery 1994, Wolock and McCabe 2000). In other words, with respect to slope in particular, the topography of the area in which the effect of aggregation is analysed will likely affect the degree to which topographic values change at coarser resolutions. In home range analyses this area (in terms of size and shape) is dictated by the bandwidth used in KDE and the UD contour at which analyses are performed. We therefore hypothesized that changes in both the KDE bandwidth and UD contour would change the observed effect of aggregating DEM resolution on topographic values in caribou home ranges. Conversely, because increasing resolution should, hypothetically, homogenize values of elevation and slope (Thieken et al. 1999, Wolock and McCabe 2000, Thompson et al. 2001), different resolutions should also impact the effect of bandwidth, as well as contour. In other words, we expected that, as a result of the homogenization of elevation and slope at coarser resolutions, there would be less observed change in these topographic values

between home ranges created using different KDE bandwidths or within each home range when compared between contours.

1.1 References

- Anderson, D.J. 1982. The home range: a new nonparametric estimation technique. Ecology 63:103-112.
- Apps, C. D., B. N. McLellan, T. A. Kinley, and J. P. Flaa. 2001. Scale-dependent habitat selection by mountain caribou, Columbia Mountains, British Columbia. The Journal of wildlife management 65:65–77.
- Belant, J.L., and E.H. Follmann. 2002. Sampling considerations for American black and brown bear home range and habitat use. Usrsus 13:299-315.
- Berger, K. M., and E. M. Gese. 2007. Does interference competition with wolves limit the distribution and abundance of coyotes? Journal of Animal Ecology 76:1075– 1085.
- Bremset Hansen, B., I. Herfindal, R. Aanes, B.-E. Saether, and S. Henriksen. 2009. Functional response in habitat selection and the tradeoffs between foraging niche components in a large herbivore. Oikos 118:859–872.
- Brown, G. S., F. F. Mallory, and J. Rettie. 2003. Range size and seasonal movement for female woodland caribou in the boreal forest of northeastern Ontario. Rangifer 23:227–233.
- Burt, W. H. 1943. Territoriality and home range concepts as applied to mammals. Journal of Mammalogy 24:346-352.
- Buyantuyev, A. J. Wu and C. Gries. 2010. Multiscale analysis of the urbanization pattern of the Phoenix metropolitan landscape of USA: Time, space and thematic resolution. Landscape and Urban Planning 94: 206-217.

- Culling, D.E. B.A. Culling and T. Raabis. 2005. Seasonal habitat use and movements of Graham caribou, 2001 to 2003. Final report prepared for Canadian Forest Products, and BC Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection. Fort St. John, BC, Canada. 88pp.
- Dark S. J., D. Bram. 2007. The modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP) in physical geography. Progress in Physical Geography 31:471-479.
- DeCesare, N. J., M. Hebblewhite, F. Schmiegelow, D. Hervieux, G.J. McDermid, L. Neufeld, M. Bradley, J. Whittington, K.G. Smith, L.E. Morgantini, M. Wheatley and M. Musiani. 2012. Transcending scale dependence in identifying habitat with resource selection functions. Ecological applications 22: 1068-1083.
- Dickson, B.G. and P. Beier. 2002. Home-range and habitat selection by adult cougars in southern California. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66: 1235-1245.
- Dixon, K.R. and J.A. Chapman. 1980. Harmonic mean measure of animal activity areas. Ecology 61: 1040-1044.
- Dungan, J. L., J. N. Perry, M. R. T. Dale, P. Legendre, S. Citron-Pousty, M.-J. Fortin, A. Jakomulska, M. Miriti, and M. S. Rosenberg. 2002. A balanced view of scale in spatial statistical analysis. Ecography 25:626–640.
- Dunn, J. E., and P. S. Gipson. 1977. Analysis of radio telemetry data in studies of home range. Biometrics 33:85-101.
- Environment Canada. 2012. Management plan for the northern mountain population of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Management Plan Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. Vii + 79pp.
- Fieberg, J. 2007. Kernel density estimators of home range: smoothing and the autocorrelation red herring. Ecology 88:1059-1066.

- Foody, G.M. 2004. Spatial nonstationarity and scale-dependency in the relationship between species richness and environmental determinants for the sub-Saharan endemic avifauna. Global Ecology and Biogeography 13: 315-320.
- Fortin, D., R. Courtois, P. Etcheverry, C. Dussault, and A. Gingras. 2008. Winter selection of landscapes by woodland caribou: behavioural response to geographical gradients in habitat attributes. Journal of Applied Ecology 45:1392– 1400.
- Fotheringham, A. S., and D. W. Wong. 1991. The modifiable areal unit problem in multivariate statistical analysis. Environment and planning A 23:1025–1044.
- Gitzen, R.E., and J.J. Millspaugh. 2003. Comparison of least-squares cross-validation bandwidth options for kernel home-range estimation. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:823-831.
- Gottschalk, T.K., B.Aue, S. Hotes, K. Ekschmitt. 2011. Influence of grain size on species-habitat models. Ecological Modelling 222: 3403-3412.
- Gustine, D.D., K.L. Parker, R.J. Lay, M.P. Gillingham and D.C. Heard. 2006. Interpreting resource selection at different scales for woodland caribou in winter. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1601-1614.
- Harris, R. And Z. Chen. 2005. Giving dimension to point locations: urban density profiling using population surface models. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems 29:115-132.
- Hébert, I., and R. B. Weladji. 2013. The use of coniferous forests and cutovers by Newfoundland woodland caribou. Forest Ecology and Management 291:318–325.
- Hui, C. 2009. On the scaling patterns of species spatial distribution and association. Journal of Theoretical Biology 261: 481-487.

- Hui, C.M.A. McGeoch, B. Reyers, P.C. Le Roux, M. Greve and S. Chown. 2009. Extrapolating population size from occupancy-abundance relationship and the scaling pattern of occupancy. Ecological Applications 19: 2038-2048.
- Jelinski D. E., J. Wu. 1996. The modifiable areal unit problem and implications for landscape ecology. Landscape Ecology 11:129-140.
- Jennrich, R.I. and F.B. Turner. 1969. Measurement of non-circular home range. Journal of Theoretical Biology 22: 227-237.
- Johnson, C. J., K. L. Parker, D. C. Heard, and M. P. Gillingham. 2002. A multiscale behavioral approach to understanding the movements of woodland caribou. Ecological Applications 12:1840–1860.
- Johnson, C. J., and M. P. Gillingham. 2008. Sensitivity of species-distribution models to error, bias, and model design: An application to resource selection functions for woodland caribou. Ecological Modelling 213:143–155.
- Kernohan, B.J., R.A. Gitzen, and J.J. Millspaugh. 2001. Analysis of animal space use and movements. In: Radio tracking and animal populations. Eds J.J. Millspaugh and J.M. Marzluff, pp126-166. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Kie, J.G., T. Bowyer, M.C. Nicholson, B.B. Boroski and E.R. Loft. 2002. Landscape heterogeneity at differing scales: effects on spatial distribution of mule deer. Ecology 83: 530-544.
- Lassueur, T, S. Joost and C.F. Randin. 2006. Very high resolution digital elevation models: do they improve models of plant species distribution? Ecological Modelling 198: 139-153.
- Leblond, M., J. Frair, D. Fortin, C. Dussault, J.-P. Ouellet, and R. Courtois. 2011. Assessing the influence of resource covariates at multiple spatial scales: an application to forest-dwelling caribou faced with intensive human activity. Landscape Ecology 26:1433–1446.

- Lechner, A.M., W.T. Langford, S.D. Jones, S.A. Bekessy and A. Gordon. 2012. Investigating species-environment relationships at multiple scales: differentiating between intrinsic scale and the modifiable areal unit problem. Ecological Complexity 11: 91-102.
- Li, X., D. Li, Z. Ma and D.C. Schneider. 2006. Nest site use by crested ibis: dependence of a multifactor model on spatial scale. Landscape Ecology 21: 1207-1216.
- Marzluff, J.M., J.J. Millspaugh, P. Hurvitz and M.S. Handcock. 2004. Relating resources to a probabilistic measure of space use: forest fragments and steller's jays. Ecology 85: 1411-1427.
- Meentemeyer, V. and E. O. Box. 1987. Scale effects in landscape studies. In: Landscape Heterogeneity and Disturbance. Eds M. G. Turner pp. 15-34. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Metsaranta, J.M., and F.F. Mallory. 2007. Ecology and habitat selection of a woodland caribou population in West-central Manitoba, Canada. Northeastern Naturalist 14:571-588.
- Millspaugh, J.J., R.M. Nielson, L. McDonald, J.M. Marzluff, R.A. Gitzen, C.D. Rittenhouse, M.W. Hubbard and S.L. Sheriff. 2006. Analysis of resource selection using utilization distributions. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 384-395.
- Openshaw, S. 1984. The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem. CATMOG, 38. Norwich, England: Geobooks.
- Openshaw, S. and P. Taylor. 1979. A million or so correlation coefficients: three experiments on the modifiable areal unit problem. In: Statistical Applications in the Spatial Sciences. Eds N. Wrigley pp.127-144. Pion, London.
- Openshaw, S. and P.Taylor. 1981. The modifiable areal unit problem. In: Quantitative Geography: A British View. Eds N. Wrigley and R. Bennett pp. 60-69. Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

- Pandit, S.N., A. Hayward, J. de Leeuw and J. Kolasa. 2010. Does plot size affect he performance of GIS-based species distribution models? Journal of Geographic Systems 12: 389-407.
- Poole, K.G., D.C. Heard and G. Mowat. 2000. Habitat use by woodland caribou near Takla Lake in central British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78: 1552-1561.
- Rayl, N. D., T. K. Fuller, J. F. Organ, J. E. McDonald, S. P. Mahoney, C. Soulliere, S. E. Gullage, T. Hodder, F. Norman, T. Porter, G. Bastille-Rousseau, J. A. Schaefer, and D. L. Murray. 2014. Mapping the distribution of a prey resource: neonate caribou in Newfoundland. Journal of Mammalogy 95:328–339.
- Rettie, W. J., and F. Messier. 2000. Hierarchical habitat selection by woodland caribou: its relationship to limiting factors. Ecography 23:466–478.
- Roger, E., S.W. Laffan and D. Ramp. 2007. Habitat selection by the common wombat (*Vombatus ursinus*) in disturbed environments: Implications for the conservation of a 'common' species. Biological conservation 137: 437-449.
- Rupp, S.P. and P. Rupp. 2010. Development of an individual-based model to evaluate elk (*Cervus elaphus nelsoni*) movement and distribution patterns following the Cerro Grande Fire in north central New Mexico, USA. Ecological Modelling 221:1605-1619.
- Schooley, R.L. 2006. Spatial heterogeneity and characteristic scales of species-habitat relationships. BioScience 56: 533-537.
- Seaman, D.E., and R.A. Powell. 1996. An evaluation of the accuracy of kernel density estimators for home range analysis. Ecology 77: 2075-2085.
- Seaman, D.E., J.J. Millspaugh, B.J. Kernohan, G.C. Brundige, K.J. Raedeke and R.A. Gitzen. 1999. Effects of sample size on kernel home range estimates. The Journal of Wildlife Management 63: 739-747.

- Terry, E. L., B. N. McLellan, and G. S. Watts. 2000. Winter habitat ecology of mountain caribou in relation to forest management. Journal of Applied Ecology 37:589– 602.
- Thieken, A.H., A. Lücke, B. Diekkrüger and O. Richter. 1999. Scaling input data by GIS for hydrological modelling. Hydrological processes 13:611-630.
- Thompson, C. M., and K. McGarigal. 2002. The influence of research scale on bald eagle habitat selection along the lower Hudson River, New York (USA). Landscape Ecology 17:569–586.
- Thompson, J.A., J.C. Bell and C.A. Butler. 2001. Digital elevation model resolution: effects on terrain attribute calculation and quantitative soil-landscape modeling. Geoderma 100: 67-89.
- Turner, M. G., R. O'Neil, R. H. Gardner and B. T. Milne. 1989. Effects of changing spatial scale on the analysis of landscape pattern. Landscape Ecology 3: 153-162.
- Van Winkle, W. 1975. Comparison of several probabilistic home-range models. The Journal of Wildlife Management 39: 118-123.
- Webb, S.L., D.G. Hewitt and M.W. Hellckson. 2007. Scale of management for mature male white-tailed deer as influenced by home range and movements. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1507-1512.
- White, P. C. L., G. Saunders, and S. Harris. 1996. Spatio-Temporal Patterns of Home Range Use by Foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Urban Environments. The Journal of Animal Ecology 65:121-125.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385.
- Wilson, R. R., A. K. Prichard, L. S. Parrett, B. T. Person, G. M. Carroll, M. A. Smith, C. L. Rea, and D. A. Yokel. 2012. Summer resource selection and identification of important habitat prior to industrial development for the Teshekpuk caribou herd in Northern Alaska. PLoS ONE 7:e48697.

- Wittmer, H. U., B. N. Mclellan, R. Serrouya, and C. D. Apps. 2007. Changes in landscape composition influence the decline of a threatened woodland caribou population. Journal of Animal Ecology 76:568–579.
- Wolock, D.M. and G.J. McCabe. 2000. Differences in topographic characteristics computed from 100- and 1000m resolution digital elevation model data. Hydrological Processes 14:987-1002.
- Worton, B.J. 1987. A review of models of home range for animal movement. Ecological Modelling 38: 277-298.
- Worton, B.J. 1989. Kernel Methods for estimating the utilization distribution in home range studies. Ecology 70: 164-168.
- Worton, B.J. 1995. Using monte-carlo simulation to evaluate kernel-based home range estimators. The Journal of Wildlife Management 59:794-800.
- Wu J. 2004. Effects of changing scale on landscape pattern analysis: scaling relations. Landscape Ecology 19:125-138.
- Zhang, W. and D.R. Montgomery. 1994. Digital elevation model grid size, landscape representation and hydrologic simulations. Water Resources Research 30: 1019-1028.

2 The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) home range delineation: effects of bandwidth choice in Kernel Density Estimation

2.1 Abstract

The notion of home range is fundamental to the study of animal habitat use. The Kernel Density Estimation (KDE) method is commonly used by researchers to delineate an animal's home range based on known locations. One of the most critical parameters in KDE is bandwidth choice. The choice of bandwidth in KDE determines the level of smoothing applied to an animal's location data and as a result determines both the size and shape of the resulting home range. In consequence, selection of bandwidth has the potential to impact an animal's home range and equally the habitat variable of interest within. Home range analyses that use the KDE method are thus subject to what is known as the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) by virtue of having a modifiable bandwidth. MAUP refers to how changes to the size and shape of spatial units of analysis can alter the outcome of statistical analyses. There are two components to MAUP: The scale and the zoning effect. The scale effect refers to the changes to data that occur as a result of aggregating data to coarser spatial units of analysis. The zoning effect refers to the multitude of ways (when holding scale constant) that areal units of analysis can be delineated in space. Home range analyses are also subject to MAUP as a result of the choice of contour (i.e. delineation within the home range representing higher levels of use) and grain (e.g., resolution) at which habitat variables are measured.

We examined the degree to which the values (mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation) of topographic habitat variables (elevation and slope) change

within the seasonal home ranges of northern woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) as a result of bandwidth choice in KDE. We also determined how the choice of contour within each home range and resolution of topographic variables alter the observed changes in elevation and slope that occur with changes in bandwidth. We created seasonal home ranges for each caribou and determined the change in topographic values $(\bar{x}, SD \text{ and } CV \text{ of elevation and slope})$ at three different bandwidths $(h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} \text{ and }$ $0.6h_{ref}$) within four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) of each home range at four DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m). We found that values of elevation and slope changed for all contours of caribou seasonal home ranges as KDE bandwidth decreased. When finer KDE bandwidths were used the topographic values decreased within the contours of certain seasons while they increased in others. The degree to which topographic values changed varied within each season between different contours as well as between seasons within specific contours. The change observed in topographic values with different bandwidths could potentially affect analyses of caribou habitat use and or preference, and further investigations should be conducted to determine to what degree of impact such analyses may undergo.

2.2 Introduction

The concept of an animal's home range was described by Burt (1943:351) as "that area traversed by the individual in its normal activities of food gathering, mating and caring for young". Since then ecologists make use of the notion of an animal's home range to assess, for example, spatial overlap between individuals (e.g., Horner and Powell 1990), habitat selection (e.g., Metsaranta and Mallory 2007) and to determine seasonal movement patterns (e.g., Walton et al. 2001). The Kernel Density Estimation (KDE)

method of Worton (1987, 1989) is widely used in home range analyses to identify the outer geographic bounds as well as areas of differing levels of use within an animal's home range (Kernohan et al. 2001, Laver and Kelly 2008). Kernel-based home range estimates are based on a density estimate calculated from a set of recorded locations (e.g., GPS locations) that can be interpreted as an animal's utilization distribution (UD; e.g., Dickson and Beier 2002, Fischer and Gates 2005, Hébert and Welaji, 2013).

Home range analyses that make use of the KDE method are potentially subject to the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) (Gehlke and Biehl 1934, Openshaw 1984). MAUP arises when spatial data are modified such that the results differ when the same analysis is applied to the same data. There are two main components to MAUP in terms of aggregation schemes. The first component is the scale effect whereby spatial units of analysis are aggregated into larger areal units and data values (e.g., mean) change as a result of this aggregation. The second component is the zoning effect where the scale of analysis is held constant (i.e., the spatial dimensions of the units), but the shape of the aggregation units is modified (for example, where data aggregated into 1 km² grid cells are re-arranged into 1 km² hexagons). Changes in data (e.g., decrease in variance) resulting from the use of different scales or zoning configurations can lead to spurious statistical results and ecological inferences (Jelinski and Wu 1996, Dark and Bram 2007).

The creation of the UD surface using the KDE approach, and the subsequent home range delineation, is subject to MAUP by virtue of having a modifiable kernel bandwidth. This ultimately determines not only the geographical extent and shape of a home range, but also the UD values within that home range (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Gitzen and Millspaugh 2003, Fieberg 2007).

Bandwidth selection is one, if not the most critical, choice when using KDE to create home ranges (Worton 1995, Seaman and Powell 1996 Seaman et al. 1999, Kernohan et al. 2001, Hemson et al. 2005, Kie et al. 2010). Fine-scale bandwidths (i.e., small bandwidths) cause nearby animal locations to have a strong influence on the resulting KDE surface (Worton, 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001), whereas coarse-scale bandwidths (i.e., large bandwidths) assign a greater influence to distant animal locations. The net result of using coarse-scale bandwidths is a smoothing of "peaks" and "valleys" of the distribution, thus providing a more general representation of an animal's UD (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). From a MAUP perspective, bandwidths that are too fine can lead to an underestimation of home range size, whilst coarse-scale bandwidths can overestimate home range area (Kernohan et al. 2001). Therefore, by modifying the extent, as well as shape, of an animal's home range, the choice of bandwidth in KDE can influence the delineation and subsequent analyses of habitat or resource variables associated with the home range (Marzluff et al. 2004, Harris and Chen 2005).

Within home range studies there are a number of bandwidth techniques. These techniques include the use of algorithms such as Least Squares Cross Validation (LSCV) (e.g., Red deer (*Cervus elaphus*), La Morgia et al. 2011; caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*), Fischer and Gates 2005, Schindler et al. 2006, Metsaranta and Mallory 2007, Schmelzer and Otto 2003), the reference method (h_{ref}) (e.g., Roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*), Börger et al. 2006a) and scaled- h_{ref} (e.g., caribou, Wilson et al. 2012, Rayl et al. 2014), or, instead of an algorithm, a static bandwidth size (e.g., caribou, Hébert and Weladji 2013). Many studies base bandwidth selection on the recommendations of Worton (1995) or

Seaman et al. (1996, 1999) (e.g. Morrow et al. 2001, Belant and Follmann 2002, Bontandina et al 2002, Kobler et al. 2008). However, the performance of a particular bandwidth can change with for example, different sample sizes (Fieberg 2007, Fieberg and Börger, 2012) or spatial distribution patterns (Gitzen et al. 2006, Downs and Horner 2008). Furthermore, in a recent review by Laver and Kelly (2008), they found that 48% of the 84 studies employing KDE did not report the bandwidth method used.

Despite the numerous investigations into bandwidth selection (e.g. Jones et al. 1996, Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Horne and Garton 2006), little is known about the potential impact of selected KDE parameters (e.g., bandwidth) on home range delineation, statistical results and subsequent inferences (Gitzen et al. 2006, Fieberg 2007). In other words, how might the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) impact the values and analysis of habitat or resource variables within home ranges delineated using KDE?

In addition to bandwidth, two other components of scale within home range analyses that utilize KDEs might also impact the observed values and spatial patterns of habitat variables, namely, 1) the choice of contour (delineated within each home range based on different levels of probability of the UD), and, 2) the grain (e.g. resolution) at which habitat variables are assessed. Contours delineated based on values of an animal's utilization distribution are used to identify and assess areas within a home range of differing probability or intensity of use (e.g., Barg et al. 2005, Webb et al. 2007, Ryder et al. 2007). The choice of contour, similar to bandwidth, will determine the geographic extent (in terms of size and shape) of area that is analysed within a home range. Thus contour choice will also determine the habitat features there within, potentially changing the outcome and inferences of home range analyses (e.g., Börger et al 2006a). The grain (e.g. resolution) at which habitat variables within a home range are assessed can also change variable values (e.g., the mean or variance) and potentially alter the outcome of statistical analyses. The aggregation of habitat data to larger spatial units has the potential to average out the fine scale detail of data and change the measured values and spatial patterns (Bowyer et al. 1996, Boyce 2006).

The overall objective of this study was to determine how bandwidth selection alters home range analyses when viewed through the lens of the MAUP, whereby changes in the size and shape of a home range as a result of the bandwidth used in KDE alters the measured habitat variables there within. In addition, we assessed how the change in habitat values that occurred with the use of different bandwidths varied depending on the choice of UD contour, as well as data resolution. To meet our objectives we used topographic variables, namely elevation and slope, within the home ranges of northern woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus) in British Columbia, Canada. Northern caribou are located throughout north central and western BC, and undertake altitudinal migrations to subalpine and alpine habitats during calving and summer to avoid predation by wolves (Bergerud et al. 1984, Bergerud and Page 1987, Johnson et al. 2004). They use low elevation pine forests in winter to forage on lichens by cratering, especially on south facing slopes (Bergerud et al. 1984, Bergerud and Page 1987). The seasonal home range of northern caribou is therefore, in part, driven by elevation and slope (Poole et. al. 2000, Culling and Culling 2005, Gustine et al. 2006, DeCesare et al. 2012), and these two variables are frequently included in studies investigating caribou habitat use (e.g., Poole et al. 2000, Johnson et al. 2004, Culling and Culling 2005, Jones et al. 2007, Leblond et
al. 2011). Furthermore, because the temporal scales of analyses may affect the observed habitat use patterns of caribou (Börger et al. 2006a, Basille et al. 2012, van Beest et al. 2013), our analyses includes a seasonal component.

To determine how the use of different bandwidths in KDE change the measured values of elevation and slope within caribou home ranges we used high frequency GPS telemetry data from 13 female caribou of the Level Kawdy herd in northern British Columbia (Figure 2.1). Using KDE we created seasonal home ranges for each caribou and assessed the change in values of elevation and slope (mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation) that occurred as we decreased bandwidth size. All changes in topographic values were assessed within the context of four different UD contours at four different Digital Elevation Model (DEM) resolutions. The changes in values of topographic variables at each decrease in KDE bandwidth were then used to assess the following:

- The magnitude and direction of change within each seasonal contour at each DEM resolution.
- The difference between contours within a season in terms of the magnitude of change in values.
- The difference between each season in terms of the magnitude of change in values.
- 4. For each seasonal contour, the difference, in terms of magnitude of change in values, between each of the four DEM resolutions.

We hypothesized that the use of different bandwidths in KDE would result in significant changes in the values of elevation and slope measured within northern caribou

seasonal home ranges. Furthermore, we expected that the observed change in topographic values (magnitude and direction) would vary depending on the resolution of those variables, as well as the specific contour and season in which they were assessed. In other words, depending on the topography within a specific contour, as well as the topography of adjacent contours, we expected that the observed changes in values of elevation and slope as bandwidth decreased would vary between contours within caribou seasonal home ranges. In addition, we expected that the homogenization of topographic values at coarser DEM resolutions (Thieken et al. 1999, Wolock and McCabe 2000, Thompson et al. 2001) would decrease the observed differences in topographic values at each change in bandwidth.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Caribou data

We used GPS telemetry data obtained from 13 northern woodland caribou of the Level Kawdy herd, British Columbia (58° N, 131° W) (Figure 2.1) equipped with ATS G2110E radio-collars (Advanced Telemetry Systems, ATS, Isanti, MN). Collars for these 13 caribou were deployed in October 2011 (eight caribou) and March 2012 (five caribou). The transmission rate of collars was one per day with the exception of a period between March 3rd-9th (2012) where transmission rate was five-to-six per day for eight of the caribou as identified in Table 2.1.

Telemetry data for the 13 caribou was categorized into the following seasons: Winter, calving, summer, rut and fall. There are a variety of methods employed to separate caribou location data into seasons including some investigators who us predetermined, (and somewhat arbitrary) dates for each season (e.g., Poole et al. 2000, James et al. 2004, Said et al. 2005, Wittmer et al. 2007). However, these dates may vary between herds, between years within a particular herd and even between individuals within a herd (Hatler 1986, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2007).

The dates of each season for individual caribou for this analysis were determined based on distinct shifts in values of net displacement, elevation and slope. Net displacement is a measure of the distance of a particular recorded caribou location from a point of origin and has been used by some authors to aid in identifying seasons for wolves (Lesmerises et al. 2012), moose (Dettki and Ericsson, 2008) and caribou (Courbin et al. 2009). For our purposes, the point of origin was the first recorded GPS location for each caribou. We plotted values of net displacement against time (Julian day) and overlaid the values of elevation and slope extracted at each caribou location from a 25m resolution digital elevation model (DEM). We used these plots of net displacement and dates identified by other authors (e.g., Poole et al 2000, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2007) as guidelines to identify seasons for each caribou based on distinct shifts in location coupled with distinct shifts in elevation and slope. Distinct shifts in location were identified as a sharp directional increase or decrease in values of net displacement. These shifts were both preceded and followed by relatively stable values of net displacement and accompanied by a change in the range of elevations and/or slopes occupied by a caribou.

Selected season dates varied for each caribou (Table 2.1). We were not able to identify a distinct calving season for two of the caribou (D030457 and D030465). Therefore only four seasons were subsequently analyzed for these two caribou. In addition, we identified two separate winter locations for caribou D030468. All other

caribou migrated to a well-defined wintering area between Dec 4th and Jan 19th where they remained until the spring whereupon they travelled to calving areas. However, D030468 migrated to its winter area on Dec 20th, remained there until Jan 24th, and then traveled approximately 87 km to a secondary wintering grounds where it remained until spring. We therefore analyzed not one, but two, sets of winter locations for D030468 separately in all further analyses.

2.3.2 Kernel Density Estimation

2.3.2.1 Home range delineation

Utilization distributions and home ranges for each of the thirteen Level Kawdy caribou were produced using fixed kernel density estimation (Worton 1989) in the ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI 2008) extension Home Range Tools (HRT, Rodgers et al. 2007). KDE is a non-parametric probability density function used to estimate an animal's home range or UD based on known locations of that animal. A kernel (probability density function) is placed over each observation (e.g., radio-telemetry location) and a density estimate for that location is then determined based on the average of the calculated densities that overlap at that point. The estimated probability density function, $\hat{f}_h(x)$ of an unknown UD is calculated using:

$$\widehat{f_h}(x) = \frac{1}{nh^2} \sum_{i=1}^n K\left[\frac{x - X_i}{h}\right]$$

where *n* is the number of locations, *K* is the kernel function used (e.g., bivariate normal/Guassian, Epanechnikov), *h* is the smoothing parameter or bandwidth of the kernel, *x* is the *x*, *y* location at which the estimate is calculated and *X* represents the *x*, *y*

coordinates of the *n* locations in the dataset (Silverman 1986, Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001).

To investigate the effect of bandwidth selection, we created three home ranges per caribou for each season using different proportions (1.0, 0.8, and 0.6) of the reference bandwidth (h_{ref}). The reference method selects a bandwidth based on sample size and the standard deviation of each observed *x*, *y* location (Worton 1989, Gitzen 2006):

$$h_{ref} = n^{-1/6} \sqrt{\frac{s_x^2 + s_y^2}{2}}$$

where s_x^2 and s_y^2 are estimates of the variances of the point locations in the *x* and *y* direction respectively (Worton, 1995). As a result, h_{ref} is appropriate for unimodal data (i.e., have one center of activity) that are normally distributed in bivariate space (Worton 1989, 1995). However, animal location data are typically not "normally" distributed (Blundell et al. 2001, Downs and Horner 2008, Kie et al. 2010) and often have multiple modes (centers of activity) (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Börger et al. 2008). In these cases h_{ref} tends to produce a bandwidth value that is too large and oversmoothens the data (Kie et al. 2010). To overcome this issue, using a proportion of the reference bandwidth (scaled- h_{ref}) is recommended (Rodgers et al. 2011) as it can produce less biased estimates of home range size (Worton 1995). The proportions of h_{ref} used in this study (1.0, 0.8 and 0.6) were deemed representative of the range of scaled- h_{ref} values used in the literature (e.g., Bertrand et al. 1996, Kie et al. 2002, Berger and Gese 2007, Jaques et al. 2009).

The number of locations used to create each seasonal home range ranged from 16 to 168 (Table 2.1). This number was occasionally lower (see Table 2.1) than that

recommended by Seaman et al. (1999) (minimum 30, > 50 preferred) and Girard et al. (2002) (30-100 for seasonal home ranges). This is due to a collar transmission rate of one per day and the inherently short nature of some seasons (e.g., calving). Although not all caribou seasonal home ranges met the recommended minimum number of locations, they did meet the minimum of one location per day as recommended by Girard et al. (2002). In addition, despite the presence of spatial autocorrelation in the seasonal subsets of location data for our caribou, as indicated by values of the Swihart and Slade index (Swihart and Slade 1985a) > 0.6, and Schoener index (Schoener 1981) >2.4 or <1.6 (Swihart and Slade 1985b, Rogers and Kie 2011), all recorded locations were used as recommended by De Solla et al. (1999), Blundell et al. (2001) and Fieberg (2007). The Rut home range produced for D030470 was approximately 3.3km², which was deemed too small in relation to other home ranges and thus excluded from any further analysis.

2.3.2.2 Contour delineation

Each cell in a gridded (rasterized) surface produced by the KDE method contains a probability/density value that represents the estimation of an animal's UD (Worton 1987, Kernohan et al. 2001). An animal's home range is then determined by the area that includes a fixed percentage of the estimated UD volume (termed volume contours or isopleths (Kernohan et al. 2001). Typically, the outer bounds of an animal's home range is delineated using a 95% volume contour of the UD and core use areas are frequently delineated using the 50% contour (Laver and Kelly 2008). To investigate the effect of contour selection on changes in values of slope and elevation with decreasing bandwidth, four contours were delineated within each home range: The 25, 50, 75 and 95% volume contours of the UD. The 50 and 95% contours were selected based on their common use in the home range literature (as discussed previously), and the 25 and 75% contours were selected as (roughly) logical mid-points between the other two contours. All subsequent values and change in values of slope and elevation were calculated within the context of each of the four contours of a home range.

2.3.3 Topographic data

To assess how resolution affects the observed change in values of slope and elevation with decreasing bandwidth, we used a 25m Digital Elevation Model (DEM), then aggregated it to three additional resolutions (75, 125, and 175m). All subsequent analyses were performed at each of the four resolutions. We resampled the DEM using bilinear interpolation. This method assigns the new, coarser-resolution cell, a value based on the weighted average of the nearest four cells (Wu et al. 2005). This resampling method was selected over other methods such as nearest neighbour and cubic convolution firstly due to its common usage (e.g., Chaubey et al. 2005, Descleé et. al. 2006, Bader and Ruijten 2008, Kerns et al. 2009) and secondly because the actual method used has less impact than the act of resampling itself (Rees 2000, Wu et al. 2005, Wu et al. 2008). Slope (%) values were calculated at each resolution (i.e., they were not calculated at the original 25m DEM and then resampled to coarser resolutions) in the spatial analyst extension of ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI 2008). We then calculated the summary statistics, namely mean (\bar{x}) , standard deviation (SD), and coefficient of variation (CV) of slope and elevation, within each of the four contours of all home ranges.

2.3.4 Statistical analysis

2.3.4.1 Magnitude and direction of change

All statistical analyses were performed in SPSS (IBM 2013). We used pairwise multiple comparisons to determine whether the \bar{x} of elevation or slope within each contour of a home range were significantly different at each successive decrease in bandwidth ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) and the overall change in bandwidth ($h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$). Pairwise comparisons were conducted using the Games-Howell (Games and Howell 1976) or Tukey-Kramer (Tukey 1953, Kramer 1956) methods and were performed in the context of each contour/season for individual caribou at each of the four resolutions. The Games-Howell method is recommended in unbalanced designs (i.e., unequal sample sizes between groups) when variances are unequal (Keselman and Rogan 1978, Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002, Ruxton and Beauchamp 2008). However, in unbalanced designs when variances are equal, the Games-Howell method can inflate the Family-Wise Error Rate (Rafter et al. 2002) and be less powerful than the Tukey-Kramer method (Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002), which is the recommended alternative in these cases (Dunnett 1980a, Hayter, 1984, Rafter et al. 2002).

Values of elevation and slope within each contour were not normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test p<0.05). However, transformations were not applied to the data for two reasons. First, both pairwise comparison methods (Games-Howell and Tukey-Kramer) use the studentized range distribution and are robust to non-normal data (Petrinovich and Hardyck 1969, Ramseyer and Tcheng 1973, Jaccard et al. 1984). Second, if the mean-variance relationship is not maintained after a transformation is applied, this can inflate type I error rate (McArdle and Anderson 2004). Variance homogeneity was assessed using the Brown-Forsythe (1974) modification of Levene's

test (Lev_{med}), which uses the median instead of the mean of the data and is more robust when data are non-normal (Conover et al. 1981, Day and Quinn 1989). When results of Lev_{med} indicated variances were homogeneous, the Tukey-Kramer pairwise comparison method was used, otherwise the Games-Howell procedure was used.

The results of the above pairwise comparisons that were significantly different (p<0.05) in \bar{x} elevation or slope between bandwidths were then used to calculate the mean change in \bar{x} ($\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$), SD ($\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$), and CV ($\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$) for each season/contour/resolution. In other words, for each season/counter, we determined the $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of elevation and slope at the three decreases in bandwidth at each of the four resolutions. The \bar{x} change in values of elevation and slope for each scenario were then used (as detailed in the following section) to assess differences between seasons, as well as the interactive effect of contour or resolution on changes in topographic values with decreasing bandwidth.

To assess whether values of elevation and slope were consistently higher or lower within a particular contour/season at each decrease in bandwidth (i.e., direction of change) we used the Exact Binomial Test of Proportions. This test is recommended for use specifically in the analysis of 2x1 contingency tables with small (<100) sample sizes (Richardson 1994). Also, because sample sizes were small (in our case ≤ 14) we used the exact form of this test, whereby *p* values are not estimated asymptotically but are instead calculated based on the exact distribution of the test statistic (Mehta and Patel 2011). All other analyses (next section) were performed on the absolute and/or directional values of $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$. However, directional \bar{x}_{Δ} values for a particular contour/season were only assessed in further analyses if the binomial test of proportions indicated a significantly higher proportion of change in one direction (p<0.05).

2.3.4.2 Pairwise comparisons of descriptive metrics

The $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ (hereafter referred to as the 'descriptive metrics' when discussing all three) of each contour/season/resolution at each successive $(h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) and overall change in bandwidth $(h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref})$ were used to further explore the effects of the following parameters

- 1. *Contour choice*: We compared the descriptive metrics of elevation and slope between the contours within each season.
- 2. *DEM resolution*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation within each contour/season between each of the four resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m).
- 3. *Season*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation within each contour/resolution between each of the five seasons (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).

All above comparisons of $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ were performed using either the Tukey-Kramer, Games-Howell or T3 procedures for pairwise multiple comparisons. Normality of the descriptive metrics were tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test (Shapiro and Wilk 1965). Homogeneity of variances was tested using either the Levene's (Lev_{mean}; Levene 1960) or the Brown-Forsythe (1974) modification of Levene's test (Lev_{med}). The Lev_{med} method is appropriate for samples with non-normal distributions, however, especially for small sample sizes, it has reduced power (higher Type II error rates) if distributions are in fact normal (O'Brien 1978, Games et al. 1979). Where the distribution of both samples was normal (Shapiro-Wilk, p<0.05), the Lev_{mean} method of testing variance homogeneity was used. If the results of the Lev_{mean} or Lev_{med} tests indicated variances were homogeneous, the Tukey-Kramer pairwise comparison method was used, otherwise the Games-Howell method was used. In cases where variance homogeneity could not be accurately assessed due to small sample sizes and/or differences in the distribution of each sample (i.e., one sample normally distributed and the other not), Dunnett's (1980b) modification (T3) of Tamhane's (1979) pairwise comparison procedure was used. Similar to the GH method, the T3 method can be used when variances are not homogeneous but is typically considered to be less powerful than the GH method (Rafter et al. 2002). Although it is less powerful than the GH method, the T3 method does (liberal) in cases where variances are in fact homogeneous (Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002).

2.4 Results

As bandwidth decreased we found no significant differences in the descriptive metrics between each of the four resolutions (25, 75, 125, 75m). However, the total number of significant differences found for each seasonal contour decreased at coarser resolutions (Tables B.1 and B.2, Appendix B). In addition, the results of other comparisons (e.g., comparing the descriptive metrics between contours of a season) were not significant at all resolutions examined. To illustrate our findings we have reported the results at the finest resolution for which significant differences were found. Further detailed results including, for example, 95% confidence intervals of pairwise comparisons, as well as the resolutions at which significant results were found, are reported in Tables B.5 - B.8 (Appendix B).

2.4.1 Range and proportion of differences between bandwidths

Elevation

As bandwidth decreased $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of elevation ranged up to 44.2m (±36.1m), 33.4m (±27.2m) and 0.0 3 (±0.02) respectively (Table 2.2). The maximum observed change in elevation was 129.6m (Mean), 88.0m (SD) and 0.08 (CV). As bandwidth decreased, the mean elevation also decreased within a significant proportion (p) of caribou home ranges in all contours of the winter (p = 0.83-1.0) and the 25% contour of the calving ranges (p = 0.89) (Figure 2.2). In contrast, mean elevation increased at finer bandwidths in the 95% contour of the summer (p = 0.83-0.92), fall (p = 0.83-0.9) and rut (p = 0.89-0.9) ranges (*p*<0.05). Both SD and CV of elevation were typically lower (*p*<0.05) at finer bandwidths in the fall (all contours, p = 0.0.83-1.0), winter (50, 75, 95%, p = 0.83-1.0), and rut (25, 95%, p = 0.83-1.0).

Slope

As bandwidth decreased, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of slope (%) within a contour/season ranged up to 3.3% (±2.8%), 2.5%(±0.5%) and 0.12 (±0.17) respectively (Table 2.3). The maximum observed change in slope was 9.7% (Mean), 8.2% (SD) and 0.42 (CV). As bandwidth decreased there was a significantly higher proportion of caribou home ranges in the winter (75% and 95% contours, p = 0.84-0.92), calving (95% contour, p = 0.90-1.0), rut (25% and 95% contours, p = 0.83-1.0) and fall (50, 75 and 95% contours, p = 0.83-1.0) that showed a decrease in mean slope (p<0.05) (Figure 2.3). A similar pattern emerged with respect to changes in the SD of slope (p = 0.83-0.92,

p<0.05) with the exception of the 95% and 25% contours of the calving and rut home ranges respectively. At finer bandwidths the CV of slope was also lower in a significant proportion of the caribou home ranges (p<0.05) of the winter (25% and 75% contours, p = 0.83-1.0), calving (95%, p = 0.89-1.0), summer (75%, p = 0.89), rut (25%, p = 1.0) and fall (25%, p = 0.8) seasons.

Elevation and slope

The contours of each season in which a significant proportion of caribou showed the same directional change in topographic values did not do so consistently at each decrease in bandwidth or at each resolution examined. Of those directional changes that were consistent at all three bandwidths, most occurred in the fall and winter (79%) and in the outer two contours of home ranges (70%). A similar pattern emerged with respect to resolution whereby directional changes that were significant at all four resolutions were typically in the fall and winter ranges and in the outer two contours of home ranges for both elevation (71% and 87%) and slope (75% and 77%).

2.4.2 Difference between contours

Within each season the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation were significantly higher within certain contours (p<0.05) (Figures 2.4 and 2.5). These differences between contours varied by season, the specific change in bandwidth, as well as DEM resolution.

Elevation

As bandwidth decreased, differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ of elevation between contours were found in all seasons (*p*<0.05) (Figure 2.4). Whereas, significant differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ between contours were found only in the fall and rut season, and differences were found in $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ in the winter, fall and rut ranges (*p*<0.05). The amount of change in \bar{x} , SD and CV of elevation was frequently higher within the outer contours of a season (75% of all differences), and it was generally higher within the 95% contour relative to one or more inner contour (70% of all sig differences). Winter was the only season where differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ were consistently higher within the 95% contour relative to one or more other contours at all three changes in bandwidth. In other seasons, differences in the change in elevation values were typically only found to be significant at one decrease in bandwidth (Table B.5, Appendix B).

Slope

As bandwidth decreased, significant differences (p<0.05) between contours in $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ of slope were found in the fall, in $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ in the calving, summer and fall ranges, and in $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ in winter and summer ranges (Figure 2.5). The $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ in the fall ranges were higher in the outer counters relative to inner contours (p<0.05). Whereas, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ in the summer and calving ranges was higher within the 50% contour, and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ in the winter and summer ranges was higher in the 25% contour.) Only contours within the summer ranges differed in terms of changing slope values at the initial decrease in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref})., while all other differences between contours were found at the second (0.8 h_{ref} -0.6 h_{ref}) and overall change in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.6 h_{ref}) (Table B.6, Appendix B).

2.4.3 Difference between seasons

As bandwidth decreased, the change in slope and elevation values within each contour varied between seasons (p<0.05) (Figures 2.6 and 2.7). Significant differences in the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation between seasons were not consistent in all resolutions or changes in bandwidth.

Elevation

As bandwidth decreased, the descriptive metrics of elevation were typically higher in the contours of the fall (50, 75 and 95%) and winter (95%) ranges (56% and 32% of all differences respectively) (Figure 2.6). Seasons differed more frequently with respect to $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ (40% and 44% of differences) and within the 95% contour (56% of all differences). Approximately half of the differences found between seasons (52%) were at the initial decrease in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref}). With the exception of $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ between the 50% contour of the summer and winter ranges, only those differences found between the 95% contour of seasons were significant at more than one resolution (Table B.7, Appendix B).

Slope

As bandwidth decreased, the descriptive metrics of slope were consistently lower within the contours of the winter home ranges relative to other seasons (63% of all differences) (Figure 2.7). Seasons with a higher amount of change in slope values varied depending on the specific value (\bar{x} , SD or CV), contour and change in bandwidth. Some 60% of differences between seasons were found at the initial decrease in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref}). Differences between seasons were not consistent at each resolution (Table B.8, Appendix B). Most were found to be significant at only one resolution, with the exception of comparisons between the fall and winter ranges.

2.5 Discussion

Ecologists often use Kernel Density Estimation (KDE; Worton 1989) to delineate animal home ranges in order to analyse wildlife habitat associations (Laver and Kelly 2008). Bandwidth selection within KDE is an important criterion because of its effects on home range size (Jones et al. 1996, Seaman and Powell 1996, Gitzen et al. 2006). Coarse scale (i.e., large) bandwidths can over-smooth location data by assigning distant locations more weight and thus potentially over-estimate home range size (Worton, 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). Conversely, fine-scale (i.e., small) bandwidths assign nearby locations more weight and can lead to an under-estimation of home range size (Worton, 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). Despite the potential for error in estimating in home range size, there is a dearth of research on how bandwidth choice changes the characteristics or values of habitat variables measured within a home range and inferences thereof (Börger et al. 2006b, Fieberg 2007).

We used the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP; Gehlke and Biehl 1934, Openshaw 1984) as an analytical framework to assess the impact of changing bandwidth on analysis of topographic habitat variables within northern woodland caribou home ranges created using KDE. We also determined how the observed changes in topographic values at different bandwidths varied depending on the contour and DEM resolution at which they were assessed. Our results indicated that bandwidth affects values of slope and elevation within the seasonal home ranges of northern caribou, and also that the degree to which values change (in terms of magnitude and direction) can vary depending on the specific season and contour.

The implications of our results in home range analyses could vary depending on the hierarchical scale (*sensu* Johnson 1980) at which habitat selection is assessed. Home ranges can be used to identify habitats or resources that are either used within the greater landscape (2nd order selection; e.g., Rettie and Messier 2000, McLoughlin et al 2007) or

available to an individual (3rd order selection; e.g., Dickson and Beier 2002, Mosnier et al 2003.). The impact on selection analyses will in part depend on the direction of change in topographic values (i.e., increase or decrease) that occurs with the use of different bandwidths. For example, within 2^{nd} order selection analyses, a decrease in the variability of topographic values within the home range could result in an apparent increase in selection for certain elevations or slopes within the greater landscape (Mayor et al. 2007, Witt et al. 2012). Conversely, apparent selection within the home range (3rd order) could decrease as a result of this lower variability in values (Boyce et al. 2003, Ciarniello et al. 2007). In the Level Kawdy caribou home ranges it was typically the fall and winter ranges that showed a consistent pattern in terms of the direction of change in topographic values at smaller bandwidths. In winter ranges all values of elevation and the mean and SD of slope were generally lower (in one or more contour) at smaller bandwidths. A similar pattern emerged in the fall with the exception of mean elevation which increased in the 95% contour of most caribou home ranges at smaller bandwidths. This decrease in the variability of topographic values could have implications for both 2nd and 3rd order selection analyses in both of these seasons. For example, the winter ranges of northern caribou are typically found in areas of lower elevation with gentler slopes relative to other seasons (Wood 1996, Jones et al. 2007, Culling et al. 2005). The decrease in variability of slope and elevation within these home ranges could lead to an increase in apparent selection for specific topographic values at the landscape level (2nd order) while at the same time decrease apparent selection within the home range (3rd order).

The implications of our findings for habitat selection analyses will also depend on the magnitude of change in topographic values. As bandwidth decreased the amount of change in topographic values varied within a season between contours as well as within a particular contour between seasons. For example, changes in elevation were typically lower in the calving ranges (44% of all differences) and higher in the fall and winter ranges (56% and 32% of all differences respectively). Changes in slope values were also typically higher in the fall (38% of all differences). However, contrary to trends observed for elevation, changes in slope were frequently lower in winter (63% of all differences) and higher in the calving ranges (31% of all differences). The increased topographic values in certain seasons may be, in part, the result of larger changes in the extent of analysis (i.e. contour/home range size) at smaller bandwidths. The variability of a particular habitat feature is expected to increase when there is an increase in the spatial extent owing to increased heterogeneity with space (Wiens 1989, Dungan et al. 2002).

Home ranges in the fall were significantly larger than those in the other seasons and subsequently had a greater decrease in contour area (i.e. km^2) when smaller bandwidths were used in KDE (see Table B.3, Appendix B). This larger change in contour size in the fall home ranges may have contributed to the greater change in topographic values relative to other seasons. Similarly, in the fall, there was a higher amount of change in topographic values in the outer (75 and 95%) contours relative to inner (25 and 50%) contours. There was also a larger decrease in size (i.e., km^2) in the outer versus inner contours of the fall home ranges (see Table B.4, Appendix B). The greater topographic variability within home ranges of the fall at h_{ref} or, conversely, significantly lower variability at $0.6h_{ref}$ especially within the outer contours, could affect 2^{nd} or 3^{rd} order analyses for this season. In terms of the impact on 3^{rd} order selection, the use of larger bandwidths (e.g. h_{ref}) would increase the topographic variability within the fall season and at the same time potentially increase what is apparent selection for certain elevations and slopes within the home range. For example, Witt et al. (2012) found that the increased heterogeneity of the landscape at their largest scale of analysis increased apparent use of hemlock patches by white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*).

Seasonal variations in caribou home range size have been found in other herds, as well as in other regions/ecotypes (e.g., Chicowski 1993, Stuart-Smith et al 1997, Brown et al. 2003, Ferguson and Elkie 2004, Metsaranta and Mallory 2007). Consistent with the findings of Stuart-Smith et al. (1997), Brown et al. (2003) as well as Metsaranta and Mallory (2007), the home ranges of the Level Kawdy herd were significantly larger in the fall and winter and smaller in calving and summer (Table A.1, Appendix A). However, Cichowski (1993) and Ferguson and Elkie (2004) found that woodland caribou summer ranges were larger than those in winter. Therefore, while a greater effect of changing bandwidth may be expected in seasons where caribou have larger home ranges, the specific seasons in which this occurs may not be consistent in different investigations (i.e., of different herds or regions).

The greater decrease in contour size (e.g., in the fall) may have led to some of the observed variation in descriptive metrics (e.g., $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$) between different seasons or contours. However, the topography of the area occupied by each seasonal home range also likely led to some of the variation in the effect of bandwidth. The effect that a change in the extent of analysis (e.g., KDE bandwidth/home range size) has on the values of a particular variable will depend, in part, on the heterogeneity of that variable within

the landscape. The effect will also depend on the scale at which that

heterogeneity/variability remains similar (i.e., domains of scale) or conversely changes (i.e., threshold; Wiens 1989, Wheatley 2010). Changes in extent that remain within a particular variable's scale domain will see little difference in variable values (e.g., Turner et al. 1989). Conversely, more change will be observed if the new analysis extent passes a scale domain threshold above or below which the patterns of the variable change significantly (Turner et al. 1989, Wiens 1989, Wu and Loucks 1995). This could in part explain the lower observed change in slope (all contours) and elevation (25, 50 and 75%) contours) in winter relative to other seasons. Northern caribou winter ranges are characterized by areas of lower elevation and gentler slopes relative to other seasons (Wood 1996, Jones et al. 2007, Culling et al. 2005; Tables A.3, Appendix A). Due to the lower topographic variability within the winter ranges, the changes in contour (and home range) size that occurred with decreasing bandwidth likely did not pass a scale threshold of slope or elevation within the landscape. However, change in the variability (SD and CV) of elevation was higher in the 95% contour of winter compared to other seasons (e.g. calving, rut and summer) and all other contours within the winter ranges (depending on the specific change in bandwidth). Therefore, the lower amount of change observed at smaller bandwidths in the inner contours of winter is likely due to lower variability in topography. Whereas the 95% contour (at the outer bounds of caribou winter ranges) is likely found in an area where the scale domain of patterns in topography (specifically elevation) changes, thus a decrease in contour size resulted in a larger decrease in values of elevation as this scale threshold was passed (Turner et al. 1989, Wiens 1989, Wu and Loucks 1995). This decrease in elevation in the 95% contour for winter could indicate

that the use of larger bandwidths (and potentially the delineation of home ranges using the 95% contour) includes areas within the winter home range that are significantly different from the area actually selected for by caribou. Thus habitat selection analyses of winter ranges may be more impacted by the use of larger bandwidths because of the inclusion of greater heterogeneity in elevation within the 95% contour.

2.5.1 Bandwidth Selection

We found that the values of slope and elevation in the home ranges of northern caribou changed with the use of different bandwidths in KDE, and that the amount of change observed varied with season and contour. Analyses of the effect of changing bandwidth on topographic variables were done using different proportions of the reference bandwidth (scaled- h_{ref} , Worton 1995). However, there are a number of other bandwidth methods available to researchers, such as Least Squares Cross Validation (LSCV: Silverman 1986), Biased Cross Validation (BCV: Scott and Terrell, 1987) and solve-the-equation plug-in methods (e.g., Sheather and Jones 1991). Each method differs in terms of its ability to estimate and characterize an animals' UD and home range, with some being more appropriate for certain distribution types (Silverman 1986, Worton 1989) spatial patterns (Gitzen et al. 2006, Downs and Horner 2008) or sample sizes (Seaman et al. 1999) of location data. The appropriate bandwidth method may also vary depending on the specific research objectives (Kernohan et al. 2001, Gitzen et al. 2006). Choice of one method over another can therefore result in the under- or over-estimation of home range size depending on the characteristics of the data. For example, LSCV, which is commonly recommended (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Powell 2000) and widely used (e.g. Fisher and Gates 2005, Webb et al. 2007, Kerston and

Marzluff 2010), has been criticised for its tendency to under-estimate home range size and create disjointed representations of an animal's space use especially when location data are highly clustered (Blundell et al 2001; Gitzen et al 2006). The reference method, which is also commonly employed (e.g. Börger 2006a, Rayl et al. 2014) is appropriate when location data are normally distributed in space, otherwise it has a tendency to oversmooth the data and produce larger estimates of home range size (i.e., over-estimates) (Kie et al. 2010). In accordance, researchers wishing to use the reference method often use a proportion of h_{ref} (i.e., scaled- h_{ref} , Worton 1995). Therefore, if the characteristics of location data (e.g. spatial pattern, sample size) differ between seasons then the use of a specific bandwidth method may over-estimate home range size for one season and underestimate for another.

Home range size, movement rates and distribution patterns of woodland caribou have been shown to vary seasonally (e.g. Cichowski 1993, Stuart-Smith et al. 1997, Ferguson and Elkie 2004). Differences in seasonal movement rates have been attributed to differences in the availability, abundance and patchiness of resources in the landscape, as well as trade-offs between foraging and vigilance for predators (Johnson et al, 2001, 2002, Mayor et al. 2009). Thus, relative seasonal movement rates can vary between herds or geographic locations possibly as a result of having to respond to different environmental, landscape or resource conditions and spatial patterns. Home range size, as previously discussed, also varies seasonally. The findings of this study are consistent with those of Stuart-Smith et al. (1997) as well as Metsaranta and Mallory (2007), whereby the fall and winter home ranges were larger than those in summer and calving, whereas Chichowski (1993) found that summer ranges were large than those in winter. In addition, as was the case in this study, sample sizes used to create home ranges vary seasonally due to differences in the length of certain seasons. As a result of differences in home range size, movement patterns and sample size, the use of one bandwidth method within a study to delineate all seasonal home ranges may perform well (i.e. accurate delineation) for some seasons while it may over- or under-estimate home range size in others. As demonstrated here, changes in the size of caribou home ranges can significantly change the values of elevation and slope measured within each home range. Therefore, differences in the performance of a particular bandwidth between seasons could potentially, for example, increase topographic variability measured within the home range of one season, while at the same time decreasing it in the home range of another season. Researcher would therefore benefit from the use of more than one bandwidth in home range analyses as recommended by Worton (1995) as well as Bowman and Azzalini's (1997).

2.5.2 Effect of DEM resolution

The aggregation of data to coarser resolutions may result in a loss of fine scale detail and homogenization of data values (Turner et al. 1989, Parody and Milne 2005). The effect of aggregating thematic land cover data in wildlife-habitat studies has been extensively studied (e.g., Karl et al. 2000, Betts et al. 2006, Li et al. 2006, Guisan et al. 2007, Stickler and Southworth 2008, Carter et al. 2010, Gottschalk et al. 2011, Song et al. 2013). However, investigations into the effect of aggregation on topographic data in habitat analyses have been little explored despite the importance of topography to a number of species, as well as its frequent inclusion in analyses of habitat associations (e.g., black-tailed deer (*Odocoileus hemionus columbianus*), Bowyer et al. 1998; cougars

(*Puma concolor*) Dickson et al. 2005; and grizzly bears (*Ursus arctos*), Ciarniello et al. 2007). On the other hand, in studies of hydrology, the effect of changing DEM resolution on topographic values is much better understood. In general, these studies have found a decrease in slope values at coarser resolutions (Thompson et al. 2001, Wu et al. 2008) and a decrease in the correlation between elevation values at fine and coarser resolutions (Usery et al. 2004).

We expected that as a result of changes in topography (e.g. homogenization or decrease in slope) the change observed in topographic values at smaller bandwidths would be significantly different (i.e. less change) when measured at coarser resolutions. The DEM resolutions examined in this study (25, 75, 125 and 175) were selected as a representative sample of a range of resolutions used in other studies of home range (e.g., 30m: Boyce et al. 2003, McCorquodale 2003; 50m: Rupp and Rupp 2010, van Beest et al. 2010; 80m: Bowyer et al. 1998; 90m: Barbknecht et al. 2011; 100m: Gibeau 1998, Jiang et al., 2010, Acevedo et al. 2011; 150m: Rupp and Rupp 2010; 200m: Rohner and Demarchi, 2000). Contrary to expectations, no significant differences were found in \bar{x}_{Λ} values between resolutions for any seasonal contour. However, the number of significant differences that occurred within each seasonal contour at smaller bandwidths (i.e., the number of caribou) decreased at coarser resolutions (Tables B.1 and B.2, Appendix B). Therefore, while the use of coarser resolutions did not significantly alter the mean change in topographic values (e.g., $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$) observed for a particular contour/season, it did change the values enough in the contours of some individual caribou that differences between bandwidths (e.g., \bar{x} elevation) were no longer significant. In addition, other comparisons (e.g. between seasons) were not always

significant at each DEM resolution examined. For example, while the change in SD of elevation was higher in the 95% contour of winter relative to calving at all resolutions, it was typically only significantly higher in contours of the fall at one of the resolutions examined (see Table B.7, Appendix B). This could potentially impact analyses that, for example, use coarser topographic data to compare caribou habitat selection between seasons (e.g. 90m: Ryder et al. 2007).

2.6 Conclusions

The results of this study indicate that the summary statistics for slope and elevation within the contours of northern caribou seasonal home ranges can change significantly depending on the bandwidth used. This observed change could have implications for other analyses of woodland caribou habitat selection. For example, potentially decreasing apparent selections within a home range if there is a decrease in the variability of topographic values at smaller bandwidths (Boyce et al. 2003, Ciarniello et al. 2007). Further analyses should be conducted to determine how and to what degree the observed change in topographic values will in fact alter the outcome of caribou habitat selection analyses. It would also be useful to extend these analyses to other species.

We concur with the recommendations of Worton (1995) and Bowman and Azzalini (1997) that studies using KDE to delineate home ranges should use multiple bandwidths to determine if, and to what degree, bandwidth choice impacts their findings. Kertson and Marzluff (2010), for example, used three different bandwidth methods (plugin, LSCV, and h_{ref}) to assess resource use (distance to water, % clearcut and regenerating forest, and slope) within cougar home ranges. While the use of different bandwidths did not significantly affect the outcome of cougar resources use models, it did, however, change the relative importance of the variables within each model (Kertson and Marzluff 2010).

In this study the observed change in topographic values varied between seasons as well as between contours. Therefore, bandwidth choice may affect the outcome of habitat selection analyses to a greater or lesser degree in certain seasons (e.g. fall) or within a season if using, for example, Johnson's (1980) method of hierarchical habitat use (e.g., 2nd vs 3rd). The performance of a particular bandwidth (e.g. LSCV) may depend on caribou distribution patterns and movement rates which can change seasonally, and this seasonal variation may also vary between herds (e.g. Cichowski 1993, Stuart-Smith et al. 1997, Ferguson and Elkie 2004). In addition, the changes in values of elevation and slope within a home range may depend on the topography of the area in which the home range is located, which can also vary seasonally and between herds (e.g., Jones et al. 2007). As such, analyses into the impact of bandwidth on caribou habitat selection should be conducted on additional herds over multiple years. In addition, although topography is important to habitat selection of woodland caribou, other habitat characteristics are also important (e.g. land or vegetation cover such as pinelichen woodland; Johnson et al. 2004) and the potential impact of bandwidth choice on these factors should be examined.



Figure 2.1 Ranges of Northern woodland caribou herds (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in western Canada. (reproduced from: Environment Canada, 2012)

	Season														
	Winter			Calving	ç		Summe	er		Rut			Fall		
Caribou	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n
D030452	Dec 27	May 4	119	May 23	Jun 15	23	Jul 5	Sep 11	69	Sep 12	Oct 24	41	Oct 25	Dec12	49
D030453	Dec 13	Apr 30	168	May 24	Jul 11	46	Jul 12	Sep 9	59	Sep 11	Oct 10	29	Oct 21	Dec25	66
D030457	Dec 23	Apr 10	142	n/a	n/a	n/a	May 22	Sep 6	104	Sep 14	Oct 20	37	Oct 21	Dec 12	53
D030460	Dec 27	Apr 16	90	May 24	July 1	39	Jul 2	Aug 22	52	Sep 12	Oct 22	41	Oct 23	Dec3	42
D030461	Jan 11	Apr 18	131	May 27	Jun 24	26	Jun 26	Sep 5	72	Sep 6	Oct 20	44	Oct 22	Dec7	47
D030462	Jan 17	Apr 24	130	May 22	Jul 6	46	Jul 17	Aug 26	39	Aug 27	Oct 19	53	Oct 21	Dec 5	44
D030464	Dec 20	Apr 28	164	May 27	Jul 11	46	Jul 22	Sep 11	52	Sep 12	Oct 22	38	Oct 23	Dec20	59
D030465	Jan 12	Apr 27	133	n/a	n/a	n/a	May 30	Sep 11	103	Sep 15	Oct 11	27	Oct 12	Dec7	57
D030466	Dec 28	May 10	130	May 30	Jun 25	27	Jun 26	Sep 13	77	Sep 14	Oct 16	33	Oct 17	Dec 10	53
D030468	Dec 21	Jan 24	36	May 13	Jun 16	35	Jun 18	Aug 25	69	Sep 7	Oct 17	39	Oct 18	Dec 13	55
	Feb 3	Apr 21	75												
D030470	Jan 19	Apr 28	101	May 24	Jun 8	16	Jun 10	Aug 11	61	Aug 12	Oct 25	70	Oct 26	Nov 27	33
D030471	Dec 23	Apr 16	148	May 22	Jul 9	35	Jul 13	Aug 29	31	Sep 7	Oct 22	32	Nov 10	Dec 6	26
D030490	Dec 4	May 5	148	May 21	Jun 17	28	Jul 3	Sep 10	67	Sep 15	Oct 20	36	Oct 21	Nov 24	35

 Table 2.1
 Selected season dates for each caribou and sample sizes used to create seasonal home ranges.

Elevation Variable	Direction of Change	Su	ccessive	cha	nges in	bandwid	dth	Overall change in bandwidth						
		Range						Range						
		$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	max	
MEAN	Absolute	4.9	(4.5)	-	23.7	(25.2)	78.7	8.2	(8.5)	-	44.2	(36.1)	129.6	
	Increase	2.8	(2.1)	-	30.8	(26.3)	78.7	2.1	(0.5)	-	55.7	(33.7)	129.6	
	Decrease	5.6	(5.0)	-	28.5	(17.3)	59.7	7.6	(4.2)	-	42.4	(42.3)	95.8	
۶D	Absolute	3.6	(7.8)	_	20.0	(10.2)	65.2	83	(9.6)	_	22 N	(27.2)	88.0	
30	Increase	0.3	(0.3)	-	12.1	(12.7)	32.5	1.5	(1.0)	-	18.3	(27.2)	42.6	
	Decrease	3.9	(2.7)	-	21.5	(19.4)	65.3	9.2	(5.4)	-	38.7	(26.8)	88.0	
CV	Absolute	< 0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.02	(0.02)	0.06	0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.03	(0.02)	0.08	
	Increase	< 0.01	(<0.01)	-	< 0.01	(<0.01)	0.02	<0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.01	(0.01)	0.03	
	Decrease	< 0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.02	(0.02)	0.06	<0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.03	(0.02)	0.08	

 Table 2.2 Range of descriptive metrics as well as maximum (absolute and directional) differences in the elevation (m) with successive (h_{ref}
 $-0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref}$ $0.6h_{ref}$) and overall (h_{ref} $0.6h_{ref}$) changes in bandwidth.

Slope Variable	Direction of Change	Sı	dth	Overall change in bandwidth									
		Range						Range					
		$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	max
MFAN	Absolute	0.3	(0.2)	_	2.8	0.3	8.5	0.7	(0.7)	_	3.3	(2.8)	9.7
	Increase	0.1	(0.1)	-	4.0	(1.2)	5.9	0.2	((0.1)	-	6.0	(1.4)	7.8
	Decrease	0.4	(0.3)	-	2.5	(4.0)	8.5	0.7	(0.3)	-	2.5	(4.0)	9.7
SD.	Absolute	<i><</i> 0 1	(<0.1)	_	25	(0.5)	8.2	0.6	(0.6)	_	22	(1 2)	Q 1
30	Increase	<0.1 0.1	(0.1)	-	1.8	(0.3)	2.8	<0.1	(<0.1)	-	2.3	(1.2)	3.7
	Decrease	0.1	(0.1)	-	2.2	(1.4)	8.2	0.5	(0.5)	-	2.9	(2.0)	8.1
CV	Absolute	0.02	(0.01)	-	0.12	(0.11)	0.28	0.04	(0.04)	-	0.12	(0.17)	0.42
	Increase	< 0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.12	(0.11)	0.28	<0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.14	(0.16)	0.29
	Decrease	0.01	(<0.01)	-	0.11	(0.06)	0.24	0.23	(0.02)	-	0.20	(0.20)	0.42

Table 2.3 Range of descriptive metrics as well as maximum (absolute and directional) differences in the slope (%) with successive ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) and overall ($h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) changes in bandwidth.



Figure 2.2 Proportion of increases vs. decreases in mean, SD and CV of elevation (m) with each change in bandwidth in the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).

^{1, 2, 3, 4} indicates the number of resolutions at which significant differences were found using the exact binomial test of proportions (p<0.05).



- Figure 2.3 Proportion of increases vs. decreases in mean, SD and CV of slope (%) with each change in bandwidth in the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).
 - ^{1, 2, 3, 4} indicates the number of resolutions at which significant differences were found using the exact binomial test of proportions (p<0.05).



Figure 2.4 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) between contours within each seasonal home range at each of the three changes in bandwidth ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$, $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$ and $h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$).

 \ast contours 25% and 50%

** contours 25% and 75%



Figure 2.5 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between contours within each seasonal home range at each of the three changes in bandwidth ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$, $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$ and $h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$).



Figure 2.6 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) within contours of the same value between the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} – 0.8 h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref} and h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}).

* Rut and winter



Figure 2.7 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) within contours of the same value between the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} – 0.8 h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref} and h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}).

* Calving and winter
- Acevedo, P., M.A. Farfán, A.L. Márquez, M. Delibes-Mateos, R. Real and J.M. Vargas.
 2011. Past, present and future of wild ungulates in relation to changes in land use.
 Landscape Ecology 26: 19-31.
- Bader, M.Y. and J.J.A. Ruijten. 2008. A topography-based model of forest cover at the the alpine tree line in the tropical Andes. Journal of Biogeography 35:711-723.
- Barbknecht, A. E., W. S. Fairbanks, J. D. Rogerson, E. J. Maichak, B. M. Scurlock, and L. L. Meadows. 2011. Elk parturition site selection at local and landscape scales. The Journal of Wildlife Management 75:646–654.
- Barg, J. J., J. Jones, and R. J. Robertson. 2005. Describing breeding territories of migratory passerines: suggestions for sampling, choice of estimator, and delineation of core areas. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:139–149.
- Basille, M., D. Fortin, C. Dussault, J.-P. Ouellet, and R. Courtois. 2012. Ecologically based definition of seasons clarifies predator-prey interactions. Ecography 36:220–229.
- Belant, J. L., and E. H. Follmann. 2002. Sampling considerations for American black and brown bear home range and habitat use. Ursus 13:299–315.
- Berger, K.M. and E.M. Gese. 2007. Does interference competition with wolves limit the distribution and abundance of coyotes. Journal of Animal Ecology 76: 1075-1085.
- Bergerud, A. T., H. E. Butler, and D. R. Miller. 1984. Antipredator tactics of calving caribou: dispersion in mountains. Canadian Journal of Zoology 62:1566–1575.
- Bergerud, A. T., and R. E. Page. 1987. Displacement and dispersion of parturient caribou at calving as antipredator tactics. Canadian Journal of Zoology 65:1597–1606.

- Bertrand, M.R., A.J. DeNicola, S.R. Beissinger and R.K. Swihart. 1996. Effects of parturition on home ranges and social affiliations of female white-tailed deer. The Journal of Wildlife Management 60: 899-909.
- Betts, M. G., A. W. Diamond, G. J. Forbes, M.-A. Villard, and J. S. Gunn. 2006. The importance of spatial autocorrelation, extent and resolution in predicting forest bird occurrence. Ecological Modelling 191:197–224.
- Blundell, G.M., J.A.K. Maier and E.M. Debevec. 2001. Linear home ranges: effects of smoothing, sample size, and autocorrelation on kernel estimates. Ecological Monographs 71: 469-489.
- Bontadina, F., H. Schofield, and B. Naef-Daenzer. 2002. Radio-tracking reveals that lesser horseshoe bats (*Rhinolophus hipposideros*) forage in woodland. Journal of Zoology 258:281–290.
- Börger, L., N. Franconi, F. Ferretti and F. Meschi. 2006a. An integrated approach to identify spatiotemporal and individual-level determinants of animal home range size. The American Naturalist 168: 471-485.
- Börger, L., N. Franconi, G. De Michele, A. Gantz, F. Meschi, A. Manica, S. Lovari, and T. Coulson. 2006b. Effects of sampling regime on the mean and variance of home range size estimates. Journal of Animal Ecology 75:1393–1405.
- Börger, L., B.D. Dalziel and J.M. Fryxell. 2008. Are there general mechanisms of animal home range behaviour? A review and prospectus for future research. Ecology Letters 11: 637-650.
- Bowman, A. W. and A. Azzalini. 1997. Applied smoothing techniques for data analyses: the kernel approach with S-PLUS illustrations. Oxford University, New York, USA
- Bowyer, R. T., and J. G. Kie. 2006. Effects of scale on interpreting life-history characteristics of ungulates and carnivores. Diversity and Distributions 12:244– 257.

- Bowyer, R. T., J. G. Kie, and V. van Ballenberghe. 1998. Habitat selection by neonatal black-tailed deer: climate, forage, or risk of predation? Journal of Mammalogy 79:415–425.
- Boyce, M. S. 2006. Scale for resource selection functions. Diversity and Distributions 12:269–276.
- Boyce, M. S., M. G. Turner, J. Fryxell, and P. Turchin. 2003. Scale and heterogeneity in habitat selection by elk in Yellowstone National Park. Ecoscience 10:421–431.
- Brown, G. S., F. F. Mallory, and J. Rettie. 2003. Range size and seasonal movement for female woodland caribou in the boreal forest of northeastern Ontario. Rangifer 23:227–233.
- Brown, M.B. and A.B. Forsythe. 1974. Robust tests for the equality of variances. Journal of the American Statistical Association 69: 364-367.
- Carter, N. H., D. G. Brown, D. R. Etter, and L. G. Visser. 2010. American black bear habitat selection in northern Lower Peninsula, Michigan, USA, using discretechoice modeling. Ursus 21:57–71.
- Chaubey, I., A.S. Cotter, T.A. Costello and T.S. Soerens. 2005. Effect of DEM data resolution on SWAT output uncertainty. Hydrological Processes 19:621-628.
- Ciarniello, L. M., M. S. Boyce, D. R. Seip, and D. C. Heard. 2007. Grizzly bear habitat selection is scale dependent. Ecological Applications 17:1424–1440.
- Cichowski, D. B., British Columbia, Ministry of Forests, and Research Branch. 1993.Seasonal movements, habitat use and winter feeding ecology of woodland caribou in west-central British Columbia. Ministry of Forests, Research Branch, Victoria, B.C.
- Conover, W.J., M.E. Johnson and M.M. Johnson. 1981. A comparative study of tests for homogeneity of variances, with applications to the outer continental shelf bidding data. Technometrics 23: 351-361.

- Courbin, N. D. Fortin, C. Dussault and R. Courtois. 2009. Landscape management for woodland caribou: the protection of forest blocks influences wolf-caribou cooccurrence. Landscape Ecology 24: 1375-1388.
- Culling, D.E. B.A. Culling and T. Raabis. 2005. Seasonal habitat use and movements of Graham caribou, 2001 to 2003. Final report prepared for Canadian Forest Products, and BC Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection. Fort St. John, BC, Canada. 88pp.
- Dark S. J., D. Bram. 2007. The modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP) in physical geography. Progress in Physical Geography 31:471-479.
- Day, R.W. and G.P. Quinn. 1989. Comparison of treatments after an analysis of variance in ecology. Ecological Monographs 59:433-463.
- DeCesare, N. J., M. Hebblewhite, F. Schmiegelow, D. Hervieux, G.J. McDermid, L. Neufeld, M. Bradley, J. Whittington, K.G. Smith, L.E. Morgantini, M. Wheatley and M. Musiani. 2012. Transcending scale dependence in identifying habitat with resource selection functions. Ecological applications 22: 1068-1083.
- De solla, S.R., R. Bonduarinsky and R.J. Brooks. 1999. Eliminating autocorrelation reduces biological relevance of home range estimates. Journal of Animal Ecology 68: 221-234.
- Desclée, B., P. Bogaert and P. Defourny. 2006. Forest change detection by statistical object-based method. Remote Sensing of the Environment 102:1-11.
- Dettki, H. and G. Ericsson. 2008. Screening radiolocation datasets for movement strategies with time series segmentation. Journal of Wildlife Management 72: 535-542.
- Dickson, B. G., and P. Beier. 2002. Home-range and habitat selection by adult cougars in Southern California. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66:1235.

- Dickson, B. G., J. S. Jenness, and P. Beier. 2005. Influence of vegetation, topography and roads on cougar movement in southern California. Journal of Wildlife Management 69:264–276.
- Downs, J. A., and M. W. Horner. 2008. Effects of point pattern shape on home-range estimates. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:1813–1818.
- Dungan, J. L., J. N. Perry, M. R. T. Dale, P. Legendre, S. Citron-Pousty, M.-J. Fortin, A. Jakomulska, M. Miriti, and M. S. Rosenberg. 2002. A balanced view of scale in spatial statistical analysis. Ecography 25:626–640.
- Dunnett, C.W. 1980a. Pairwise multiple comparisons in the homogeneous variance, unequal sample size case. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75:789-795.
- Dunnett, C.W. 1980b. Pairwise multiple comparisons in the unequal variance case. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75: 796-800.
- Environment Canada. 2012. Management plan for the northern mountain population of woodland caribou (Rangifer tarandus caribou) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Management Plan Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. Vii + 79pp.
- ESRI. 2008. ArcMap 9.3, Redlands, CA: ESRI Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc.
- Ferguson, S. H., and P. C. Elkie. 2004. Seasonal movement patterns of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*). Journal of Zoology 262:125–134.
- Fieberg, J. 2007. Kernel density estimators of home range: smoothing and the autocorrelation red herring. Ecology 88:1059–1066.
- Fieberg, J., and L. Börger. 2012. Could you please phrase "home range" as a question? Journal of Mammalogy 93:890–902.

- Fischer, L. A., and C. C. Gates. 2005. Competition potential between sympatric woodland caribou and wood bison in southwestern Yukon, Canada. Canadian Journal of Zoology 83:1162–1173.
- Games, P.A. ad J.F. Howell. 1976. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures with unequal N's and/or variances: a monte-carlo study. Journal of Education and Behavioral Statistics 1: 113-125.
- Games, P.A., H.J. Keselman and J.J. Clinch. 1979. Tests for homogeneity of variance in factorial designs. Psychological Bulletin 86: 978-984.
- Gehlke, C.E., and K.Biehl. 1934. Certain effects of grouping upon the size of the correlation coefficient in census tract material. Journal of the American Statistical Association 24: 169-170.
- Gibeau, M. L. 1998. Use of urban habitats by coyotes in the vicinity of Banff Alberta. Urban Ecosystems 2:129–139.
- Girard, I., J.P. Ouellet, R. Courtois, C. Dussault and L. Breton. 2002. Effects of sampling effort based on GPS telemetry on home-range size estimations. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66:1290-1300.
- Gitzen, R.E., and J.J. Millspaugh. 2003. Comparison of least-squares cross-validation bandwidth options for kernel home-range estimation. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:823-831.
- Gitzen, R.A., J.J. Millspaugh and B.J. Kernohan. 2006. Bandwidth selection for fixedkernel analysis of animal utilization distribution. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1334-1344.
- Gottschalk, T. K., B. Aue, S. Hotes, and K. Ekschmitt. 2011. Influence of grain size on species–habitat models. Ecological Modelling 222:3403–3412.

- Guisan, A., C. H. Graham, J. Elith, F. Huettmann, and the NCEAS Species Distribution Modelling Group. 2007. Sensitivity of predictive species distribution models to change in grain size. Diversity and Distributions 13:332–340.
- Gustine, D.D., K.L. Parker, R.J. Lay, M.P. Gillingham and D.C. Heard. 2006.Interpreting resource selection at different scales for woodland caribou in winter.Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1601-1614.
- Harris, R. And Z. Chen. 2005. Giving dimension to point locations: urban density profiling using population surface models. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems 29:115-132.
- Hatler, D.F. 1986. Studies of radio-collared caribou in the spatsizi wilderness park area, British Columbia, 1980-1984. Wildlife Branch Report R-12.
- Hayter, A.J. 1984. A proof of the conjecture that the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons procedure is conservative. The Annals of Statistics 12: 61-75.
- Hébert, I., and R. B. Weladji. 2013. The use of coniferous forests and cutovers by Newfoundland woodland caribou. Forest Ecology and Management 291:318–325.
- Hemson, G., P. Johnson, A. South, R. Kenward, R. Ripley, and D. Macdonald. 2005. Are kernels the mustard? Data from global positioning system (GPS) collars suggests problems for kernel home-range analyses with least-squares cross-validation: Kernel home-range analyses and LSCV problems. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:455–463.
- Horne, J. S., and E. O. Garton. 2006. Likelihood cross-validation versus least squares cross-validation for choosing the smoothing parameter in kernel home-range analysis. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:641–648.
- Horner, M.A. and R.A. Powell. 1990. Internal structure of home ranges of black bears and analyses of home-range overlap. Journal of Mammalogy 71:402-410.

IBM. 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. IBM, Armonk, New York.

- Jaccard, J., M.A. Becker and G. Wood. 1984. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures: a review. Psychological Bulletin 96: 589-596.
- James, A.R.C., S. Boutin, D.M. Hebert and A.B. Rippin. 2004. Spatial separation of caribou from moose and its relation to predation by wolves. Journal of Wildlife Management 68:799-809.
- Jaques, C.N., J.A. Jenks and R.W. Klaver. 2009. Seasonal movements and home-range use by female pronghorns in sagebrush-steppe communities of Western South Dakota. Journal of Mammology 90: 433-441.
- Jelinski D. E., J. Wu. 1996. The modifiable areal unit problem and implications for landscape ecology. Landscape Ecology 11:129-140.
- Jiang, G., J. Ma, M. Zhang, and P. Stott. 2010. Multi-scale foraging habitat use and interactions by sympatric cervids in Northeastern China. Journal of Wildlife Management 74:678–689.
- Johnson, C., K. Parker, and D. Heard. 2001. Foraging across a variable landscape: behavioral decisions made by woodland caribou at multiple spatial scales. Oecologia 127:590–602.
- Johnson, C. J., K. L. Parker, D. C. Heard, and M. P. Gillingham. 2002. Movement parameters of ungulates and scale-specific responses to the environment. Journal of Animal Ecology 71:225–235.
- Johnson, C. J., D. R. Seip, and M. S. Boyce. 2004. A quantitative approach to conservation planning: using resource selection functions to map the distribution of mountain caribou at multiple spatial scales. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:238–251.
- Johnson, D. H. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65.

- Jones, E. S., M. P. Gillingham, D. R. Seip, and D. C. Heard. 2007. Comparison of seasonal habitat selection between threatened woodland caribou ecotypes in central British Columbia. Rangifer 27:111–128.
- Jones, M. C., J. S. Marron, and S. J. Sheather. 1996. A brief survey of bandwidth selection for density estimation. Journal of the American Statistical Association 91:401.
- Karl, J. W., P. J. Heglund, E. O. Garton, J. M. Scott, N. M. Wright, and R. L. Hutto. 2000. Sensitivity of species habitat-relationship model performance to factors of scale. Ecological applications 10:1690–1705.
- Kernohan, B.J., R.A. Gitzen and J.J. Millspaugh. 2001. Analysis of animal space use and movements. In Radio tracking animal populations, Eds J.J. Millspaugh and J.M. Marzluff, pp125-166. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Kerns, B.K., B.J. Naylor, M. Buonopane, C.G. Parks and B. Rogers. 2009. Modeling Tamarisk (*Tamarix* spp.) habitat and climate change effects in the northwestern United States. Invasive Plant Science and Management 2:200-215.
- Kertson, B. N., and J. M. Marzluff. 2010. Improving studies of resource selection by understanding resource use. Environmental Conservation 38:18–27.
- Keselman, H.J. and J.C. Rogan. 1978. A comparison of the modified-Tukey and Scheffe methods of multiple comparisons for pairwise contrasts. Journal of the American Statistical Association 73: 47-52.
- Kie, J.G., R.T Bowyer, M.C. Nicholson, B.B. Boroski and E.R. Loft. 2002. Landscape heterogeneity at differing scales: effects on spatial distribution of mule deer. Ecology 83: 530-544.
- Kie, J.G., J. Matthiopoulos, J.Fieberg, R.A. Powell, F. Cagnacci, M.S. Mitchell, J.M. Gaillard and P.R. Moorcroft. 2010. The home-range concept: are traditional estimators still relevant with modern telemetry technology? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 365:2221-2231.

- Kobler, A., T. Klefoth, and R. Arlinghaus. 2008. Site fidelity and seasonal changes in activity centre size of female pike *Esox lucius* in a small lake. Journal of Fish Biology 73:584–596.
- Kramer, C.Y. 1956. Extensions of multiple range tests to group means with unequal numbers of replications. Biometrics 12: 307-310.
- La Morgia, V., E. Malenotti, G. Badino, and F. Bona. 2011. Where do we go from here? Dispersal simulations shed light on the role of landscape structure in determining animal redistribution after reintroduction. Landscape Ecology 26:969–981.
- Laver, P. N., and M. J. Kelly. 2008. A critical review of home range studies. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:290–298.
- Leblond, M., J. Frair, D. Fortin, C. Dussault, J.-P. Ouellet, and R. Courtois. 2011. Assessing the influence of resource covariates at multiple spatial scales: an application to forest-dwelling caribou faced with intensive human activity. Landscape Ecology 26:1433–1446.
- Lesmerises, F., C. Dussault and M.H. St Laurent. 2012. Wolf habitat selection is shaped by human activities in a highly managed boreal forest. Forest Ecology and Management 276: 125-131.
- Levene, H. 1960. Robust tests for equality of variances. In: Contributions to Probability and Statistics: Essays in Honor of Harold Hotelling, Ed I. Olkin, pp 278-292. Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, California.
- Li, X., D. Li, Z. Ma, and D. C. Schneider. 2006. Nest site use by crested ibis: dependence of a multifactor model on spatial scale. Landscape Ecology 21:1207–1216.
- Mayor, S. J., J. A. Schaefer, D. C. Schneider, and S. P. Mahoney. 2007. Spectrum of selection: new approaches to detecting the scale-dependent response to habitat. Ecology 88:1634–1640.

- Mayor, S. J., J. A. Schaefer, D. C. Schneider, and S. P. Mahoney. 2009. The spatial structure of habitat selection: A caribou's-eye-view. Acta Oecologica 35:253– 260.
- Marzluff, J.M., J.J. Millspaugh, P. Hurvitz and M.S. Handcock. 2004. Relating resources to a probabilistic measure of space use: forest fragments and steller's jays. Ecology 85: 1411-1427.
- McArdle, B.H. and M.J. Anderson. 2004. Variance heterogeneity, transformations, and models of species abundance: a cautionary tale. Canadian Journal of fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61: 1294-1302.
- McCorquodale, S. M. 2003. Sex-specific movements and habitat use by elk in the Cascade Range of Washington. The Journal of wildlife management 67:729–741.
- McLoughlin, P. D., J.-M. Gaillard, M. S. Boyce, C. Bonenfant, F. Messier, P. Duncan, D. Delorme, B. V. Moorter, S. Saïd, and F. Klein. 2007. Lifetime reproductive success and composition of the home range in a large herbivore. Ecology 88:3192–3201.
- Mehta, C. R. and N. R. Patel. 2011. IBM SPSS Exact Tests. International Business Machines corporation, USA, 236p.
- Metsaranta, J.M., and F.F. Mallory. 2007. Ecology and habitat selection of a Woodland Caribou population in West-central Manitoba, Canada. Northeastern Naturalist 14:571-588.
- Morrow, J. L., J. H. Howard, S. A. Smith, and D. K. Poppel. 2001. Home range and movements of the bog turtle (*Clemmys muhlenbergii*) in Maryland. Journal of Herpetology 35:68.
- Mosnier, A., J.-P. Ouellet, L. Sirois, and N. Fournier. 2003. Habitat selection and homerange dynamics of the Gaspé caribou: a hierarchical analysis. Canadian Journal of Zoology 81:1174–1184.

- O'Brien, R.G. 1978. Robust techniques for testing heterogeneity of variance effects in factorial designs. Psychometrika 43: 327-342.
- Openshaw, S. 1984. The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem. CATMOG, 38. Norwich, England: Geobooks.
- Parody, J. M., and B. T. Milne. 2005. Implications of rescaling rules for multi-scaled habitat models. Landscape ecology 19:691–701.
- Petrinovich, L.F. and C.D. Hardyck. 1969. Error rates for multiple comparison methods: some evidence concerning the frequency of erroneous conclusions. Psychological Bulletin 71: 43-54.
- Poole, K.G., D.C. Heard and G. Mowat. 2000. Habitat use by woodland caribou near Takla Lake in central British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78: 1552-1561.
- Powell, R. A. 2000. Animal home ranges and territories and home range estimators. Pages 65-110 in L. Boitani and T.K. Fuller, editors. Research technologies in animal ecology – controversies and consequences. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Rafter, J.A., M.L. Abell and J.P. Braselton. 2002. Multiple comparison methods for means. SIAM Review 44: 259-278.
- Ramseyer, G.C. and T.-K. Tcheng. 1973. The robustness of the studentized range statistic to violations of the normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions. American Educational Research Journal 10: 235-240.
- Rayl, N. D., T. K. Fuller, J. F. Organ, J. E. McDonald, S. P. Mahoney, C. Soulliere, S. E. Gullage, T. Hodder, F. Norman, T. Porter, G. Bastille-Rousseau, J. A. Schaefer, and D. L. Murray. 2014. Mapping the distribution of a prey resource: neonate caribou in Newfoundland. Journal of Mammalogy 95:328–339.

- Rees, W.G. 2000. The accuracy of Digital Elevation Models interpolated to higher resolutions. International Journal of Remote Sensing 21:7-20.
- Rettie, W. J., and F. Messier. 2000. Hierarchical habitat selection by woodland caribou: its relationship to limiting factors. Ecography 23:466–478.
- Richardson, J. T. 1994. The analysis of 2 x 1 and 2 x 2 contingency tables: an historical review. Statistical Methods in Medical Research 3:107–133.
- Rodgers, A.R. and J.G. Kie. 2011. HRT: Home Range Tools for ArcGIS version 1.1. User's manual. Ontario ministry of natural Resources, Center for northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Rodgers, A.R., A.P. Carr, H.L. Beyer, L. Smith and J.G. Kie. 2007. HRT: Home Range Tools for ArcGIS. Ontario ministry of natural Resources, Center for northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Rohner, C., and Demarchi, D. A. 2000. Cumulative effects and mountain caribou win west-central Alberta: an individual-based and spatially explicit simulation model for conservation planning. Unpublished, West-Central Alberta Caribou Standing Committee (WCACSC), Alberta Environment, Grand-Prairie, AB.
- Rupp, S. P., and P. Rupp. 2010. Development of an individual-based model to evaluate elk (*Cervus elaphus nelsoni*) movement and distribution patterns following the Cerro Grande Fire in north central New Mexico, USA. Ecological Modelling 221:1605–1619.
- Ryder, J. L., P. McNeil, J. Hamm, W. A. Nixon, D. Russell, and S. R. Francis. 2007. An integrated assessment of Porcupine caribou seasonal distribution, movements, and habitat preferences for regional land use planning in northern Yukon Territory, Canada. Rangifer 27:259–270.
- Said, S., J.-M. Gaillard, P. Duncan, N. Guillon, N. Guillon, S. Servanty, M. Pellerin, K. Lefeuvre, S. Martin and G. Van Laere. 2005. Ecological correlates of home-

range size in spring-summer for female roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) in a deciduous woodland. Journal of Zoology 267: 301-308.

- Scott, D. W. and G. R. Terrell. 1987. Biased and unbiased cross-validation in density estimation. Journal of the American Statistical Association 82:1131-1146
- Seaman, D.E., and R.A. Powell. 1996. An evaluation of the accuracy of kernel density estimators for home range analysis. Ecology 77: 2075-2085.
- Seaman, D. E., J. J. Millspaugh, B. J. Kernohan, G. C. Brundige, K. J. Raedeke, and R. A. Gitzen. 1999. Effects of sample size on kernel home range estimates. The journal of wildlife management 63:739–747.
- Schindler, D. W., D. Walker, T. Davis, and R. Westwood. 2007. Determining effects of an all-weather logging road on winter woodland caribou habitat use in southeastern Manitoba. Rangifer 27:209–217.
- Schmelzer, I., and R. Otto. 2003. Winter range drift in the George River Caribou Herd: a response to summer forage limitation? Rangifer 23:113–122.
- Schoener, T.W. 1981. An empirically based estimated of home range. Theoretical Population Biology 20: 281-325.
- Seaman, D.E., and R.A. Powell. 1996. An evaluation of the accuracy of kernel density estimators for home range analysis. Ecology 77: 2075-2085.
- Seaman, D.E., J.J. Millspaugh, B.J. Kernohan, G.C. Brundige, K.J. Raedeke and R.A. Gitzen. 1999. Effect of sample size on kernel home range estimates. The Journal of Wildlife Management 63: 739-747.
- Shapiro, S.S. and M.B. Wilk. 1965. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). Biometrika 52: 591-611.

- Sheather, S. J., and Jones, M. C. 1991. A reliable data based bandwidth selection method for kernel based density estimation. Journal of the Royal Statistics Society. Series B (Methodological) 53:683–690.
- Silverman, B. W. 1986. Density estimation for statistics and data analysis. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Song, W., E. Kim, D. Lee, M. Lee, and S.-W. Jeon. 2013. The sensitivity of species distribution modeling to scale differences. Ecological Modelling 248:113–118.
- Stickler, C. M., and J. Southworth. 2008. Application of multi-scale spatial and spectral analysis for predicting primate occurrence and habitat associations in Kibale National Park, Uganda. Remote Sensing of Environment 112:2170–2186.
- Stuart-Smith, A. K., C. J. Bradshaw, S. Boutin, D. M. Hebert, and A. B. Rippin. 1997. Woodland caribou relative to landscape patterns in northeastern Alberta. The Journal of wildlife management 61:622–633.
- Swihart, R.K. and S.A. Slade. 1985a. Influence of sampling interval on estimates of home-range size. The Journal of Wildlife Management 49: 1019-1025.
- Swihart, R.K. and N.A. Slade. 1985b. Testing for independence of observations in animal movements. Ecology 66: 1176-1184.
- Tamhane, A.C. 1979. A comparison of procedures for multiple comparisons of means with unequal variances. Journal of the American Statistical Association 74: 471-480.
- Thieken, A.H., A. Lücke, B. Diekkrüger and O. Richter. 1999. Scaling input data by GIS for hydrological modelling. Hydrological processes 13:611-630.
- Thompson, J.A., J.C. Bell and C.A. Butler. 2001. Digital elevation model resolution: effects on terrain attribute calculation and quantitative soil-landscape modeling. Geoderma 100: 67-89.

- Tukey, J.W. 1953. The problem of multiple comparisons. Unpublished report, Princeton University, Princeton, N.J.
- Turner, M. G., R. V. O'Neill, R. H. Gardner, and B. T. Milne. 1989. Effects of changing spatial scale on the analysis of landscape pattern. Landscape ecology 3:153–162.
- Usery, E. L., M. P. Finn, D. J. Scheidt, S. Ruhl, T. Beard, and M. Bearden. 2004. Geospatial data resampling and resolution effects on watershed modeling: A case study using the agricultural non-point source pollution model. Journal of Geographical Systems 6:289–306.
- van Beest, F.M., L.E. Loe, A. Mysterud and J.M. Milner. 2010. Comparative space use and habitat selection of moose around feeding stations. Journal of Wildlife Management 74:219-227.
- van Beest, F.M., E. Vander Wal, A. V. Stronen and R.K. Brook. 2013. Factors driving variation in movement rate and seasonality of sympatric ungulates. Journal of Mammalogy 94: 691-701.
- Walton, L.R., H.D. Cluff, P.C. Paquet, M.A. Ramsay. 2001. Movement patterns of barren-ground wolves in the central Canadian Artic. Journal of Mammalogy 82:867-876.
- Webb, S. L., D. G. Hewitt, and M. W. Hellickson. 2007. Scale of management for mature male white-tailed deer as influenced by home range and movements. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1507–1512.
- Wheatley, M. 2010. Domains of scale in forest-landscape metrics: Implications for species-habitat modeling. Acta Oecologica 36:259–267.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385.
- Wilson, R. R., A. K. Prichard, L. S. Parrett, B. T. Person, G. M. Carroll, M. A. Smith, C.L. Rea, and D. A. Yokel. 2012. Summer resource selection and identification of

important habitat prior to industrial development for the Teshekpuk caribou herd in Northern Alaska. PLoS ONE 7:e48697.

- Witt, J. C., C. R. Webster, R. E. Froese, T. D. Drummer, and J. A. Vucetich. 2012. Scaledependent drivers of ungulate patch use along a temporal and spatial gradient of snow depth. Canadian Journal of Zoology 90:972–983.
- Wittmer, H. U., B. N. Mclellan, R. Serrouya, and C. D. Apps. 2007. Changes in landscape composition influence the decline of a threatened woodland caribou population. Journal of Animal Ecology 76:568–579.
- Wolock, D.M. and G.J. McCabe. Differences in topographic characteristics computed from 100- and 1000m resolution digital elevation model data. Hydrological Processes 14:987-1002.
- Wood, M.D. 1996. Seasonal habitat use and movements of woodland caribou in the Omineca Mountains, north central British Columbia, 1991-1993. Rangifer 16:365-378.
- Worton, B. J. 1987. A review of models of home range for animal movement. Ecological modelling 38:277–298.
- Worton, B.J. 1989. Kernel methods for estimating the utilization distribution in home range studies. Ecology 70: 164-168.
- Worton, B.J. 1995. Using Monte Carlo simulation to evaluate kernel-based home range estimators. Journal of Wildlife Management 59: 794-800.
- Wu, S., J. Li and G. Huang. 2005. An evaluation of grid size uncertainty in empirical soil loss modeling with digital elevation models. Environmental Modeling and Assessment 10:33-42.
- Wu, S., J. Li and G.H. Huang. 2008. A study on DEM-derived primary topographic attributes for hydrologic applications: sensitivity to elevation data resolution. Applied Geography 28: 210-223.

Wu, J., and O. L. Loucks. 1995. From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. The Quarterly Review of Biology 70:439–466.

3 The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) home range delineation: effects of utilization distribution contour choice.

3.1 Abstract

The concept of an animal's home range in ecology is frequently used to provide insight into patterns of habitat use or selection. Kernel Density Estimation is a common method used to delineate home ranges base on an animal's utilization distribution (UD): A continuous surface that estimates the probability or intensity of use by an animal based on known locations. Volume contours of the UD are then used to delineate home range outer bounds (typically 95%) or areas within the home range with higher levels of use (typically 50%). An overlooked factor in selection of UD contours in home range analyses relates to the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP). MAUP arises during the spatial analysis of aggregated data whereby the results of analyses change when different aggregation schemes are used. MAUP takes two forms: The scale effect and the zone effect. The scale effect refers to the changes in the data and, ultimately, the results, as a consequence of aggregating data to coarser spatial units of analysis. The zone effect refers to the number of ways spatial units of analysis can be delineated in space when holding scale constant. Home range analyses are also subject to MAUP as a result of the modifiable grain at which habitat variables can be assessed and, specifically, when the KDE method is used by virtue of having a modifiable bandwidth which will determine not only the size and shape of the animal's home range, but will also affect the values of the UD surface.

To investigate the potential implications of MAUP in home range analyses with respect to contour choice we used as a model population 13 northern woodland caribou from the Level Kawdy herd in British Columbia. Our purpose was to determine the degree to which topographic variables (elevation and slope) important in caribou seasonal habitat selection, varied between the contours of caribou home ranges. We also assessed how the choice of bandwidth in Kernel Density Estimation (KDE) and the resolution at which topographic values were measured changed the observed differences in elevation and slope values between contours. Using KDE, we created seasonal home ranges for each caribou with three different bandwidths (h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} and 0.6 h_{ref}) and determined the difference in values (mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation) of elevation and slope between four contours of the UD (25, 50, 75 and 95%) at four different resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m). Elevation and slope were significantly different between all contours of caribou seasonal home ranges. Certain seasons, such as winter and fall, showed an increasing trend in topographic values between the inner and outer contours. Differences in topographic values were higher between certain contours within a season (e.g. 25-95%) and between seasons (e.g., differences in slope were higher in summer relative to fall and winter). Changes in the values of elevation and slope as a result of contour choice could potentially alter the results of habitat use or selection analyses.

3.2 Introduction

An animal's home range is often defined as the "area traversed by the individual in its normal activities of food gathering, mating and caring for young" (Burt 194:351). A more quantitative definition is that an animal's home range is the smallest area associated with a 95% probability of finding a particular animal (White and Garrott 1990). This latter definition uses an animal's utilization distribution (UD) for its calculations, a continuous three-dimensional surface that estimates the intensity or probability of use by an animal based on known or recorded locations (e.g. using GPS telemetry data) (Van Winkle 1975, Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Millspaugh et al. 2006). Regions of a home range with differing levels of use are delineated based on isopleths or volume contours of the UD representing different probabilities or rates of usage by individuals (Jenrich and Turner 1969, Fieberg and Kochanny, 2005, Millspaugh et al 2006). The areas within these volume contours are frequently used to investigate aspects of habitat selection (e.g., Belant and Follmann 2002, Metsaranta 2008), resource use (e.g., Terry et al. 2000, Marzluff et al. 2004, Millspaugh et al. 2006, Metsarenta and Mallon 2007) or home range overlap of individuals or populations (e.g., Fieberg and Kochanny 2005, Hoset et al. 2007, Thiebot et al. 2012).

The selection of a specific UD volume contour determines the spatial extent and, indirectly, the shape of the area characterizing an animal's home range. Importantly, the UD represents an areal unit composed of positional data that have been aggregated, thus rendering them susceptible to nonstationarity across a range of measures (e.g., mean and variance). This ability to modify the area analysed via choice of contour volume makes home range analyses based on UDs subject to the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP; Gehlke and Biehl 1934, Openshaw 1984). When spatial data are aggregated, the results are conditional on both the scale at which data are collected, and the configuration of the areal units employed to represent given phenomena (e.g., Karl et al. 2000, Jackson et al. 2006). There are two main components to MAUP. The first

component is the scale effect whereby the aggregation of data into larger spatial units can average out the fine scale detail and, as a result, change the observed values as well as spatial patterns (e.g., Turner et al. 1989). The second component of MAUP, the zoning effect, refers to the number of different ways in which spatial data can be delineated in space (when holding scale constant). For example, depending on the direction (i.e., orientation) in which a rectangular transect or sampling grid is placed on the landscape, it may capture or, conversely, fail to capture, the spatial patterns of a phenomenon due to the anisotropic nature of some landscapes (e.g., Leduc et al. 1994).

Accordingly, in home range analyses the potential for MAUP issues may arise because contour choice will determine the specific delineation of (i.e., zoning), as well as the geographical extent (i.e., aggregation) of, areas associated with differing levels of use. Landscapes are heterogeneous by definition (Forman and Godron 1981), but the level of heterogeneity increases with increasing extent (Wiens 1989, Dungan et al. 2002). It holds true, therefore, that within a given contour volume there will be areas that have more attributes that ultimately impact forage resources, fewer predators, high quality bedding sites, and more mating opportunities. In consequence, inferences concerning, say, habitat selection within the bounds of a home range, are scale-dependent, and in these cases will depend on the scale (volume) of the contours at which they are investigated (Börger et al 2006a, Hébert and Weladji 2013).

Home range bounds are typically delineated using the 95% contour of an animal's UD (e.g., Belant and Follman 2002, Brown et al. 2003, Berger and Gese 2007, Rayl et al. 2014), whereas areas of higher or more concentrated levels of use, typically called "core areas", are often delineated using the 50% contour of the UD (e.g., White et al 1996,

Dickson and Beier 2002, Metsaranta and Mallory 2007, Webb et al. 2007). These delineations, while commonly used (Laver and Kelly 2008), have been criticized for their lack of biological significance (Vander Wal and Rodgers, 2012), as well as for their relatively arbitrary selection (Barg et al. 2005, Wilson et al. 2010). Although Laver and Kelly (2008) argued for the continued use of 95% and 50% for the sake of consistency and comparability, a number of authors have suggested alternative contour values. For example, Seaman et al. (1999) recommend using volume contours <80% whereas Börger et al. (2006b) found that the 90% contour produced unbiased estimates of home range size.

Home range analyses based on an animal's UD are increasingly more common given technological advances such as the production of relatively inexpensive radiocollars, the satellite-based receipt and transmission of signals to researchers in near realtime, and the enhanced computational abilities that couple GIS (e.g., ArcGIS; ESRI 2010) with analytical tools (e.g., Geospatial Modeling Environment, Beyer 2012; Home Range Tools, Rodgers et al. 2007). This widespread use of UD based studies demands a better understanding of the implications of changing volume contours for analyses.

We used the Kernel Density Estimation method (KDE, Worton 1989) to demonstrate the effects of MAUP, in terms of contour selection, on home range analyses. The KDE method is advantageous because it is non-parametric, has the ability to produce less biased estimates of HR size (Worton 1995) and is capable of identifying multiple centers of activity (Kernohan et al. 2001). The KDE method is one of the most commonly used methods in home range analyses (Laver and Kelly 2008). In addition, by using the KDE method we were able to explore how (one of) two other aspects of home range analyses that make it subject to MAUP interact with contour choice to affect the observed differences in values of elevation and slope, namely, 1) bandwidth choice in KDE and 2) the resolution of topographic variables.

The first additional aspect of home range analyses that we examined, (that is, bandwidth choice), is one of the most important parameters in KDE. The KDE method estimates an animal's UD by placing a kernel or probability density function over each location, which then calculates the density of observed locations within the kernel, the width of which (i.e., radius) is determined by the selection of an appropriate bandwidth (smoothing parameter). The use of fine-scale bandwidths (i.e., small bandwidths) may cause nearby locations to have a greater influence on the UD surface, potentially underestimating home range size (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). Conversely, coarse scale bandwidths assign distant animal locations more influence and tend to over-smooth the data resulting in larger home ranges (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). The bandwidth used in a KDE will, therefore, not only determine the size and shape of the area that depicts an animal's home range, but will also ultimately determine the level of smoothing applied to the data and influence the values of the UD (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Gitzen and Millspaugh 2003, Fieberg 2007).

The second additional aspect of home range analyses that we examined was the resolution (i.e., grain) at which habitat variables were aggregated. The aggregation of habitat data to coarser resolutions can alter the data in such a way that it leads to changes in the outcome of statistical analyses (Lawler et al. 2004, Lechner et al. 2012a). The effect that aggregation has on analytical results can be due to the loss of fine-scale detail

(Clark and Avery 1976, Turner et al. 1989) or changes in the observed distribution or spatial patterns in the data (Bowyer et al. 1996, Rahbek 2005).

The overall objective of this study was to determine the potential effect of MAUP on home range analyses in terms of the choice of UD volume contours. To demonstrate the complexities of the changing volume contours from a MAUP perspective, we used as a model system a population of northern woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) and specifically assessed how topographic values varied between different contours of a given caribou home range. Northern woodland caribou are one of three ecotypes of woodland caribou in British Columbia, the other two being mountain and boreal. Each ecotype is distinguished based on its geographic location, diet and seasonal movement patterns (Stevenson and Hatler 1985, Seip and Cichowski 1996). Northern caribou are located throughout north central and western BC, and utilize altitudinal migrations to subalpine and alpine habitats during calving and summer to avoid predation by wolves (Bergerud et al. 1984, Bergerud and Page 1987, Johnson et al. 2004a). They use low elevation pine forests in winter to forage on lichens by cratering, especially on south facing slopes (Bergerud et al. 1984, Bergerud and Page 1987). Thus seasonal home range selection is, in part, driven by slope and elevation (Poole et. al., 2000; Culling and Culling, 2005; Gustine et al., 2006; DeCesare et al., 2012). Furthermore, because the temporal scales of analyses may affect the habitat patterns of northern woodland caribou (Börger et al. 2006a, Basille et al. 2012, van Beest et al. 2013), our analyses included a seasonal component.

To determine how the values of topographic variables (specifically the \bar{x} , SD and CV of elevation and slope) measured within caribou home ranges varied depending on

contour selection, we used high frequency GPS telemetry data from 13 female caribou of the Level Kawdy herd in northern British Columbia (Figure 3.1) to create seasonal home ranges for each caribou using KDE. Within each seasonal home range, we delineated contours based on four different levels of the UD and using a 25m Digital Elevation Model (DEM) calculated the mean, SD and CV of slope and elevation to determine:

- 1. How values of topographic variables varied between the four contours of each seasonal home range in terms of magnitude and direction.
- 2. How the choice of KDE bandwidth altered the observed differences in topographic values between contours.
- 3. How the DEM resolution at which values were calculated altered the observed differences in topographic values between contours.
- 4. How the differences in topographic values between contours varied depending on the specific season in which differences were assessed.

We hypothesized that values of elevation and slope would be different within each seasonal home range between all contours examined. However, we also expected that differences between certain contours or within certain seasons would likely be higher as a result of greater differences in size (i.e. area) between certain contour pairs or within seasonal home ranges with a greater amount of variability in terrain (in terms of topography). The former (influence of size) may contribute to greater differences in topographic values as a result of the increased probability of including a larger range of habitats simply as a result of increasing the geographic extent of analysis. We expected that the use of different bandwidths would change the observed differences in values of elevation and slope between contours. For example, that smaller bandwidths, by decreasing the total home range size, would decrease the differences observed between contours. Similarly, we expected that as a result of aggregation, topographic variables measured within each home range would be more homogeneous (Thieken et al. 1999, Wolock and McCabe 2000, Thompson et al. 2001), thus decreasing the observed differences in values between contours.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Caribou data

We used GPS telemetry data obtained from 13 northern woodland caribou of the Level Kawdy herd, British Columbia (58° N, 131° W) (Figure 2.1) equipped with ATS G2110E radio-collars (Advanced Telemetry Systems, ATS, Isanti, MN). Collars for these 13 caribou were deployed in October 2011 (eight caribou) and March 2012 (five caribou). The transmission rate of collars was one per day with the exception of a period between March 3rd-9th (2012) where transmission rate was five-six per day for eight of the caribou as identified in Table 3.1.

Telemetry data for the thirteen caribou was categorized into the following seasons: Winter, calving, summer, rut and fall. There are a variety of methods employed to separate caribou location data into seasons. For example, some investigators use predetermined, somewhat arbitrary dates for each season (e.g., Poole et al. 2000, James et al. 2004, Said et al. 2005, Wittmer et al. 2007). However, these dates may vary between herds, between years within a particular herd and even between individuals within a herd (Hatler 1986, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2007).

We determined dates of each season for individual caribou based on distinct shifts in values of net displacement, elevation and slope. Net displacement is a measure of the distance of a particular recorded caribou location from a point of origin and has been used by some authors, for example, to aid in identifying seasons for wolves (Lesmerises et al. 2012), moose (Dettki and Ericsson, 2008) and caribou (Courbin et al. 2009). For our purposes, the point of origin used was the first recorded GPS location for each caribou. We plotted values of net displacement against time (Julian day) and overlaid the values of elevation and slope extracted at each caribou location from a 25m resolution Digital Elevation Model (DEM). We used these plots of net displacement and dates identified by other authors (e.g., Poole et al 2000, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2007) as guidelines to identify seasons for each caribou based on distinct shifts in location as coupled with distinct shifts in elevation and slope. Distinct shifts in location were identified as a sharp directional increase or decrease in values of net displacement. These distinct shifts were both preceded and followed by relatively stable values of net displacement and accompanied by a change in the range of elevations and/or slopes occupied by a caribou.

Selected season dates varied for each caribou (Table 3.1). We were not able to identify a distinct calving season for two of the caribou (D030457 and D030465), therefore only four seasons were subsequently analyzed for these two caribou. In addition, we identified two separate winter locations for caribou D030468. All other caribou migrated to a well-defined wintering area between Dec 4th and Jan 19th where they remained until the spring whereupon they travelled to calving areas. With that said, D030468 migrated to its winter area on Dec 20th, remained there until Jan 24th, then

traveled approximately 87 km to a secondary wintering grounds where it remained until spring. We therefore analyzed these two sets of winter locations separately in all further analyses.

3.3.2 Kernel Density Estimation

3.3.2.1 Utilization distributions

Utilization distributions for each of the thirteen caribou were produced using fixed kernel density estimation (Worton 1989) in the ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI 2008) extension Home Range Tools (HRT, Rodgers et al. 2007). A kernel (probability density function) is placed over each observation (e.g., radio-telemetry location) and a density estimate for that location is then determined based on the average of the calculated densities that overlap at that point. The estimated probability density function, $\hat{f}_h(x)$ of an unknown UD is calculated using:

$$\widehat{f_h}(x) = \frac{1}{nh^2} \sum_{i=1}^n K\left[\frac{x - X_i}{h}\right]$$

where *n* is the number of locations, *K* is the kernel function used (e.g., bivariate normal/Guassian, Epanechnikov), *h* is the smoothing parameter or bandwidth of the kernel, *x* is the *x*, *y* location at which the estimate is calculated and *X* represents the *x*, *y* coordinates of the *n* locations in the dataset (Silverman, 1986; Worton, 1989; Seaman and Powell, 1996; Kernohan et al., 2001).

The number of locations used to estimate each UD ranged from 16 to 168 (Table 3.1). This number was occasionally lower (see Table 3.1) than recommended by Seaman et al. (1999) (minimum 30, > 50 preferred) and Girard et al. (2002) (30-100 for seasonal home ranges). This discrepancy was due to a collar transmission rate of one per

day and the inherently short nature of some seasons (e.g., calving). Although not all caribou seasonal home ranges met the recommended minimum number of locations indicated above, they did meet the minimum of one location per day as recommended by Girard et al. (2002). In addition, the seasonal location data for each caribou was spatially autocorrelated as indicated by values of the Swihart and Slade index (Swihart and Slade 1985a) > 0.6, and Schoener index (Schoener 1981) >2.4 or <1.6 (Swihart and Slade, 1985b; Rogers and Kie, 2011). Some argue, though, that the benefit of obtaining a representative sample of animal locations outweighs the possible negative effects of autocorrelated data (De Solla et al., 1999; Blundell et al., 2001; Fieberg, 2007). Therefore, despite the spatial autocorrelation of caribou data, all recorded locations were used. The Rut home range produced for D030470 was approximately 3.3km², which was deemed too small relative to other home ranges and thus excluded from any further analysis.

3.3.2.2 Contour delineation

Conceptually, the KDE method produces a continuous probability surface. However, in practice, (i.e., in the computer algorithm), the KDE method produces a gridded raster surface where each cell contains a probability/density value which represents the estimation of an animal's UD (Worton, 1987, Kernohan et al. 2001). To investigate the effect of contour selection on values of slope and elevation within northern woodland caribou home ranges we delineated the following four UD contours: 25, 50, 75 and 95%. The 50 and 95% contours were selected based on their common use in the home range literature (Laver and Kelly 2008), and the 25 and 75% contours were selected as approximate mid-points between the other two contours.

3.3.2.3 Bandwidth

To investigate the effect of bandwidth selection on differences in topographic variables between contours, we created the seasonal UDs for each caribou using three bandwidth sizes in KDE. Bandwidth size was varied by using three proportions (1.0, 0.8 and 0.6) of the reference bandwidth (h_{ref}). The reference method selects a bandwidth based on sample size and the standard deviation of each observed x,y location (Worton, 1989; Gitzen, 2006):

$$h_{ref} = n^{-1/6} \sqrt{\frac{s_x^2 + s_y^2}{2}}$$

where s_x^2 and s_y^2 are estimates of the variances of the point locations in the x and y direction respectively (Worton 1995). As a result, h_{ref} is appropriate if data are unimodal (i.e., have one center of activity) and are normally distributed in bivariate space (Worton 1989, 1995). However, animal location data are typically not normally distributed (Blundell et al. 2001, Downs and Horner 2008, Kie et al. 2010) and often have multiple modes (centers of activity) (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Börger et al. 2008). In these cases h_{ref} tends to produce a bandwidth value that is so large that it oversmoothes the data (Kie et al. 2010). Using a proportion of the reference bandwidth (scaled- h_{ref}) is sometimes recommended (Rodgers et al. 2011) as it can produce less biased estimates of home range size (Worton 1995). The proportions of h_{ref} used in this study were deemed representative of the range of scaled- h_{ref} values used in the literature (e.g., Bertrand et al. 1996, Kie et al, 2002, Berger and Gese 2007, Jaques et al. 2009). Differences in topographic values between contours were assessed at each of the three bandwidths used.

3.3.2.4 Topographic data

To assess how DEM resolution changed the observed differences in values of slope and elevation between contours, we used a 25m DEM that we aggregated to three additional resolutions (75, 125 and 175m). All subsequent analyses were performed at each of the four resolutions. The DEM was resampled using bilinear interpolation. This method assigns the new, coarser-resolution cell, a value based on the weighted average of the nearest four cells (Wu et al., 2005). This resampling method was selected over other methods such as nearest neighbour and cubic convolution as it is commonly used (e.g., Chaubey et al., 2005; Descleé et. al., 2006; Bader and Ruijten, 2008; Kerns et al., 2009) and because the method used (e.g., bilinear interpolation) has less impact than the act of resampling itself (Rees, 2000; Wu et al 2005; Wu et al., 2008). Slope (%) values were calculated at each resolution (i.e., they were not calculated at the original 25m DEM and then resampled to coarser resolutions) in the spatial analyst extension of ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI 2008). We then calculated the summary statistics, namely mean (\bar{x}) , standard deviation (SD), and coefficient of variation (CV) of slope and elevation within the mutually exclusive bounds of each of the four contours of a caribou's home range. For example, summary statistics for the 50% contour were calculated for the area between the 25% and 50% contour of a caribou's UD.

3.3.3 Data analysis

3.3.3.1 Difference between contours

All statistical analyses were performed in SPSS (IBM 2013). We used pairwise multiple comparisons to determine whether the \bar{x} of elevation or slope was significantly different (*p*<0.05) between each of the following six contour pairs: 25-50, 25-75, 25-95,

50-75, 50-95, and 75-95. Pairwise comparisons were conducted using either the Games-Howell (Games and Howell 1976) or Tukey-Kramer (Tukey 1953, Kramer, 1956) methods and were performed in the context of each contour/season for individual caribou at each of the four resolutions. The Games-Howell method is recommended in unbalanced designs (i.e., unequal sample sizes between groups) when variances are unequal (Keselman and Rogan 1978, Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002, Ruxton and Beauchamp 2008). However, in unbalanced designs when variances are equal, the Games-Howell method can inflate the Family-Wise Error Rate (Rafter et al. 2002) and be less powerful than the Tukey-Kramer method (Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002), which is the recommended alternative in these cases (Dunnett 1980a, Hayter 1984, Rafter et al. 2002).

Values of elevation and slope within each contour were not normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test p<0.05). However, transformations were not applied to the data for two reasons. Firstly, both pairwise comparison methods (Games-Howell and Tukey-Kramer) use the studentized range distribution and are robust to non-normal data (Petrinovich and Hardyck 1969, Ramseyer and Tcheng 1973, Jaccard et al. 1984). Secondly, if the mean-variance relationship is not maintained after a transformation is applied, this can inflate Type I error rate (McArdle and Anderson 2004). Variance homogeneity was assessed using the Brown-Forsythe (1974) modification of Levene's test (Lev_{med}), which uses the median instead of the mean of the data and is more robust when data are non-normal (Conover et al. 1981, Day and Quinn 1989). When results of Lev_{med} indicated variances were homogeneous, the Tukey-Kramer pairwise comparison method was used, otherwise the Games-Howell procedure was used.

Of all of the results of the above pairwise comparisons, it was those that indicated a significant difference (p<0.05) in \bar{x} elevation or slope between contour pairs that were then used to calculate the mean difference in \bar{x} ($\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$), SD ($\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$), and CV ($\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$) between contour pairs for each combination of season, bandwidth and resolution. The \bar{x} difference in values of elevation and slope for each scenario were then used (as detailed in the following section) to assess the differences between seasons, as well as the interactive effect of bandwidth or resolution on differences in topographic values between contours.

To assess whether values of elevation and slope were, within a season, consistently higher or lower in one contour relative to another, we used the Exact Binomial Test of Proportions. This test is recommended for use specifically in the analysis of 2 x 1 contingency tables with small (<100) sample sizes (Richardson 1994). Also, because sample sizes were small (n ≤14), we used the Exact form of this test, whereby *p* values are not estimated asymptotically, but are instead calculated based on the exact distribution of the test statistic (Mehta and Patel 2011). All further analyses (see below) were performed on the absolute and/or directional values of $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$. However, directional \bar{x}_{Δ} values for a particular contour-pair/season were only further assessed if the binomial test of proportions indicated a significantly higher proportion of differences in one direction (*p*<0.05).

3.3.3.2 Pairwise comparisons of descriptive metrics.

The $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ (hereafter referred to as the 'descriptive metrics' when discussing all three) of each contour pair for each combination of season, bandwidth and resolution were used to further explore the effects :

- *KDE bandwidth:* We compared the descriptive metrics of elevation and slope for each season/resolution between each of the three bandwidths used (*h_{ref}*, 0.8*h_{ref}* and 0.6*h_{ref}*)
- DEM resolution: For each season/bandwidth we compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation between each of the four resolutions examined (25, 75, 125, 175m).
- 3. *Specific contour pair*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation between contour pairs of each season/bandwidth/resolution.
- 4. *Season*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation for each contour pair/bandwidth/resolution between the five seasons (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).

Comparisons of $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ were performed using either the Tukey-Kramer, Games-Howell or T3 procedures for pairwise multiple comparisons. All three parameters ($\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$) were tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality (Shapiro and Wilk 1965). Homogeneity of variances was tested using either the Levene's (Lev_{mean}; Levene 1960) or the Brown-Forsythe (1974) modification of Levene's test (Lev_{med}). The Lev_{med} method is appropriate for samples with non-normal distributions, although, and especially for small sample sizes, it has reduced power (higher Type II error rates) if distributions are in fact normal (O'Brien 1978, Games et al. 1979). In these instances where the distribution of both samples was in fact normal (Shapiro-Wilk, p<0.05), the Lev_{mean} method of testing variance homogeneity was used. If the results of the Lev_{mean} or Lev_{med} tests indicated variances were homogeneous then the TukeyKramer pairwise comparison method was used, otherwise the Games-Howell method was used. Where variance homogeneity could not be assessed due to small sample sizes or differences in the distribution of each sample (i.e., one normally distributed and the other not) Dunnett's (1980b) modification (T3) of Tamhane's (1979) pairwise comparison procedure was used. Similar to the GH method, the T3 method is used when variances are not homogeneous, although it has less power than the GH method (Rafter et al. 2002). The T3 method while having less power does not have the same inflated Type I error rate in cases where variances are homogeneous (Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002).

3.4 Results

When we tested the effect of bandwidth and resolution on the observed differences between contours, we found that the descriptive metrics did not differ significantly for any contour pair/season between each of the bandwidths or DEM resolutions examined (p>0.05). For example, there was not a significant difference in the $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}25-50\%}$ of the calving season when compared between home ranges delineated using $h_{ref.}$ 0.8 h_{ref} or 0.6 $h_{ref.}$. Although DEM resolution did not affect the overall mean of differences between a certain season/contour pair (e.g., $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}25-50\%}$ in summer), the number of significant differences between contours did decrease at coarser resolutions (Tables C.1 and C.2, Appendix C). In addition, results of other comparisons (e.g., between seasons) were not consistent (i.e., significant) at each bandwidth or resolution examined. To illustrate our findings we report the results at the largest bandwidth and finest resolution for which significant differences were found. Further details including, for example, the 95% confidence intervals of pairwise comparisons, as well as the
resolutions and bandwidths at which significant differences were found, are reported in Tables C.3-C.6 (Appendix C).

3.4.1 Range and proportion of differences between contours

Significant differences in elevation and slope were found between all contours of each season (p<0.05) (Tables 3.2 and 3.3). For each the contour pair of each season pair (e.g., summer 25-50%), values of elevation and slope were both higher and lower within the larger contour of the comparison depending on the specific caribou examined. Consistent change in a particular direction (i.e., an increase or decrease in topographic values from the inner to outer contours) was only significant (as measured by the binomial test of proportions, p) for certain contour pairs/seasons (p<0.05) (Figures 3.2 and 3.3).

Mean elevation was higher in the 95% contour of winter ranges relative to all other contours (p<0.05) (p = 0.86-0.93). For a significant proportion of caribou home ranges in the fall (p = 0.83-0.93) and winter (p = 0.85-1.0), the SD and CV of elevation was higher in the outer contour of all comparisons (p<0.05). This was also the case for home ranges in the calving (p = 0.89-1.0) and rut (p = 0.83-1.0) seasons with the exception of comparisons between the 50 and 75% contours (p<0.05). With some exceptions (e.g., 50-75% contours in winter), all values of slope were lower in the smaller contour of a comparison for a significant proportion of caribou home ranges in the fall (p = 0.83-1.0) (Figure 3.3). The mean and SD of slope were lower within the 25% contour of rut ranges relative to all other contours and in the 50% contour relative to the 95% contour (p = 0.83-1.0).

All values of both slope and elevation were frequently lower (p<0.05) within the smaller contours of a comparison in the fall and winter home ranges with the exception of mean elevation. In addition, significant differences (p<0.05) in proportions for these two seasons were also were typically found at all three (or at least two) of the bandwidths examined (with the exception of CV slope in winter). Contours within the summer ranges showed the fewest number of significant differences in proportions for variables of both slope and elevation (i.e., mean, SD and CV of slope were not often consistently higher or lower within the smaller or larger contour of a comparison).

3.4.2 Differences between contour pairs

Within each season, there was a greater difference in the \bar{x} , SD and/or CV of elevation and slope between certain contours compared to others (Tukey-Kramer, Games-Howell orT3 pairwise comparison, *p*<0.05) (Figure 3.4).

Elevation

Significantly larger differences (p < 0.05) between some contour pairs were observed for \bar{x} elevation (34-82m) in the summer, rut and fall home ranges, for SD of elevation (27-75m) in all seasons except for the rut, and for CV (0.01-0.07) in all seasons except summer (values in brackets indicate the range of differences found between two contour pairs). Differences in elevation were frequently highest between the 25 and 95% contours (70% of all differences), and to a lesser extent, between the 25-75% and 50-95% contour pairs (14 and 16% of all differences respectively). When compared to differences between adjacent contours (e.g. 25-50%), descriptive metrics between the 25 and 95% contours were significantly larger (p < 0.05) at all bandwidths, whereas the descriptive metrics between the 25-75 or 50-95% contour pairs were larger at the two smallest bandwidths ($0.8h_{ref}$ and/or $0.6h_{ref}$).

Slope

Significantly larger differences (p<0.05) between certain contour pairs were observed for \bar{x} slope (1.6-5.3%) in the fall, summer and winter home ranges for SD of slope (1.8-4.9%) in all seasons except for the summer, and for CV (0.12-0.19) in all seasons except winter (Figure 3.4) (values in brackets indicate the range of differences found between two contour pairs). Relative to differences between adjacent contours (e.g., 25 and 50%), descriptive metrics were frequently higher between the 25-75% or 25-95% contour pairs. Compared to the 75-95% contour pair, descriptive metrics were higher at all bandwidths between the 25-95% contours of the fall and the 25-75% contours of the rut ($\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ only). Otherwise, higher differences between certain contour pairs were typically only statistically significant at one or both of the largest bandwidths (p<0.05).

3.4.3 Differences between seasons

The difference in the \bar{x} , SD and/or CV of elevation and slope between certain contour pairs were significantly higher in some seasons relative to others. (*p*<0.05) (Figures 3.5 and 3.6).

Elevation

Depending on the specific contour pair, descriptive metrics were typically higher in the summer, fall and winter ranges (27%, 24% and 39% of all differences respectively). At bandwidths of $0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.6h_{ref}$, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$ between most contours of the rut and/or winter ranges was lower than in summer (*p*<0.05). By contrast, for winter ranges there was a greater difference in $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ between the 95% contour and the inner contours relative to the calving, rut and summer ranges. Similarly, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of elevation between the 25% contour of the fall home ranges and one or both of the outer contours was higher relative to the rut, summer and winter ($\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ only) ranges.

Slope

Differences in \bar{x} slope between contours was higher in summer ranges relative to fall, rut and/or winter (p<0.05). The $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ between the 75% contour and the two inner contours was higher in the calving season relative to winter and in the summer ranges relative to fall, winter and rut (50-75% only) (p<0.05). In the winter ranges, $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV 25-50\%}$ was lower compared to summer, and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV 25-75\%}$ was lower compared to summer, rut and fall (p<0.05).

3.5 Discussion

Animals do not roam aimlessly across landscapes in a random fashion but rather the spatial distribution of individuals (i.e. animals) within a population is determined by their interactions with the environment (Lima and Zollner1996). The use of finite space by individuals within a population is often described in terms of having a home range (Burt 1943). Burt's (1943:351) definition describes home ranges as the "area traversed by the individual in its normal activities of food gathering, mating and caring for young." Early analyses used known locations to construct an animal's utilization distribution (UD), a three-dimensional surface representing the probability or density of use by an animal that is created based on known or recorded locations (Van Winkle 1975, Seaman and Powell 1996). Worton (1987, 1989) first proposed the Kernel technique for estimating a UD, which is a three-dimensional probability density map that shows which areas of the home range have more concentrated use.

Researchers must select a specific volume contour to delineate the bounds of a home range (typically 95%) or areas with more concentrated use, often characterized as "core areas", and often specified as 50% (Laver and Kelly 2008). However, whatever the choice of contour it will ultimately determine the size and shape of the home range. It is within the home range that additional analyses on habitat structure are often made (Harris et al. 1990, Laver and Kelly 2008). Therefore, how the home range is delineated has consequences in terms of determining habitat-animal interactions. By virtue of aggregating individual location data for a specific animal renders the construction of the UD vulnerable to the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) Gehlke and Biehl 1934, Openshaw 1984). Simply stated, MAUP arises when the spatial units of an investigation are modifiable in terms of their size and shape, and the scale at which they are analysed can alter the outcome of statistical results and inferences thereof. There are two components to MAUP. The first component is the scale effect whereby the aggregation of data to larger spatial units can potentially alter the outcome of analyses. The second component is the scale effect whereby different delineations of spatial units (e.g., 1km²) gridded vs. 1km² hexagonal data) can also affect statistical results.

In the last 15 years or so ecologists have increasingly recognized MAUP as a serious issue (Jelinski and Wu 1996, Hay et al. 2001, Hui et al. 2010, Lechner et al. 2012b, Wu 2013). Notwithstanding the emerging appreciation of MAUP in ecological analyses, we believe that MAUP has not yet received an acceptable amount of critical attention in home range analyses despite its potential effect to many studies of wildlife

habitat (see Kie et al 2010). We examined the variable role of contour choice on woodland caribou home range analyses, focusing on slope and elevation as habitat variables. We used these two variables because they are important in habitat selection of northern woodland caribou (Poole et al. 2000, Culling et al. 2005, Gustine et al. 2006, Jones et al. 2007). Our specific objectives were to assess, (1) how the values of elevation and slope varied between contours of northern caribou seasonal home ranges and, (2) how the observed differences varied depending on the bandwidth used in KDE, as well as the resolution of the DEM from which topographic values were derived

3.5.1 Home range delineation

The 95% contour of an animal's UD is widely used to delineate home range outer bounds (e.g., Wilson et al. 2012, Rayl et al. 2014, Kochanny et al. 2009, Quinn et al. 2013, Anich et al. 2009, Persson et al. 2010, Steyaert et al. 2011). However, use of this contour is somewhat of a contentious issue (Seaman et al. 1999, Powell and Mitchell 2012). Specifically, the 95% contour has been criticised for its arbitrary choice and lack of biological significance (Seaman et al. 1999, Powell 2000, Dickson and Beier 2002, Powell and Mitchell 2012). Seaman et al. (1999) and Börger et al. (2006b) found that relative to other contours, home ranges created using the 95% contour had a higher degree of bias (i.e., over-estimated home range size) and recommend using contours at 90% (Börger et al. 2006b) or <80% (Seaman et al. 1999) of the UD. The use of the 95% contour and the potential over-estimation of home range size can alter the outcome of statistical results. For example, Börger et al. (2006a) found that climatic variables best explained the variation in roe deer home range size when the 90% contour was used compared to smaller contours of 70 and 50%. Despite the potential to overestimate home range size and influence subsequent results, a recent review by Laver and Kelly (2008) found that of those studies using UD based methods 82% still used the 95% contour to delineate the outer bounds of an animal's home range.

Within the seasonal home ranges of the Level Kawdy caribou, slope and elevation were significantly different in the 95% contour relative to all other contours. The differences in topographic summary statistics between the 95% and other contours has implications in terms of Johnson's (1980) 2nd or 3rd order selection analyses. Johnson (1980) recognized the hierarchical nature of habitat use whereby a selection process will be of higher order than another if it is conditional upon the latter. He described four ordered selection processes. Second order analyses attempt to identify what habitat or resources an animal selects from the greater landscape (available) to establish a home range (used), while 3rd order selection assesses the differential selection of habitats or resources within an animal's home range (e.g., areas used for foraging).

Changes in the values and observed heterogeneity of variables as a result of different delineations (i.e., size and shape) of habitat that is available (3rd order) or used (2nd order) can change the apparent selection for certain resources (Boyce et al. 2003). Using different definitions of availability (i.e., the size of area defined as available) can change the direction of seeming apparent selection, as well as the relative importance of certain variables in models of habitat selection. For example, Apps and Kinley (2000) found that mountain caribou selected for steep slopes and rugged terrain at coarse scales of availability, whereas they selected against these features when availability was defined at a finer scale. Gustine et al. (2006) assessed the relative importance of predation risk (i.e., likelihood of encountering predators based on wolf habitat preferences) to woodland

caribou within the framework of Johnson's (1980) 3rd order selection. They used two different definitions of availability: Seasonal movement (an individual's potential for movement in each season) and seasonal home range (100% Minimum Convex Polygon; Mohr 1947). They found that the relative importance of predator avoidance was high at the seasonal home range scale and low when measured at the scale of seasonal movement (Gustine et al. 2006).

The effect that the selection of the 95% contour had on the summary statistics for slope and elevation was more pronounced within certain seasons. For example, differences in topographic values between the 95% contour and inner contours were higher in the winter (SD and CV of elevation) and summer (\bar{x} of slope and elevation). In their winter range, northern caribou are typically found in low elevation contiguous tracts of forest (Wood 1996, Jones et al. 2007, Culling et al. 2005). Thus, in winter, the increased variability in elevation (within the 95% contour) values could potentially increase the seemingly apparent selection for low elevations within the home range, whereas it could alternatively decrease apparent selection for low elevation within the larger landscape. In addition, the impact on selection analyses when the 95% contour is used may be greater in seasons such as the fall winter and rut. In these seasons, the differences between the 25% and 95% contour were significantly higher than between other contour pairs. The increase in topographic variability when the 95% contour is used in these seasons could, in terms of 2nd order selection analyses, indicate that there is not a high degree of selection for specific elevations when in fact there is one.

3.5.2 Habitats of greater use

Analyses of those areas of habitat characterized by more concentrated use are often designated as "core areas" (Samuel et al. 1985, Seaman and Powell 1990). Core areas are frequently delineated using the 50% contour of the UD (e.g., Webb et al. 2007, Shuter and Rodgers 2012, Bastille-Rousseau et al. 2013). While used extensively (Laver and Kelly 2008), the 50% contour has also been criticized for its arbitrary selection and lack of biological rationale (Vander Wal and Rodgers 2012). Thus "true" core habitat may not always coincide with the 50% contour (e.g., central place foragers vs. wanderers; Powell 2000). In addition, core areas can vary between individuals of the same species (Wilson et al 2010), between seasons (Burdett et al. 2007) and the specific research objectives (Harris et al. 1990). For example, Burdett et al. (2007) found the UD contour delineating the core area of female Lynx (Lynx Canadensis) varied seasonally and ranged from 56% (\pm 1%) in summer-fall to 78% (\pm 6%) during the denning season. Similarly, Wilson et al. (2011) found the UD contours delineating covote (*Canis latrans*) core areas ranged from 10.-70.0% depending on the individual. Consequently, the delineation of supposed core area using the 50% could potentially alter conclusions of animal use of core habitat if the habitat variables are significantly different than those within an animal's actual core of, say, 30%.

Our findings indicate that the summary statistics for elevation and slope vary between all four contours of the Level Kawdy caribou home ranges. Therefore, habitat use in terms of these variables within core habitat appear dependent on the contour at which analyses are performed, even highly so in some cases. As indicated by our findings, the degree to which contour choice will affect habitat analyses will vary depending on the season, as well as potentially between individuals within a season. For example, there was a greater difference in mean elevation and all values of slope between contours of the summer ranges relative to winter, rut and fall. By comparison, summer and calving ranges of northern caribou are characterized by the use of higher elevation areas with steeper slopes (Wood 1996, Poole et al. 2000, Culling et al. 2005). The summer ranges of the Level Kawdy caribou had significantly higher values of slope (mean and SD) relative to other seasons (Table A.3, Appendix A). Greater variability in slope within these ranges and conversely the use of areas of lower elevation and gentler slopes in winter (Culling et al. 2005) may have contributed to the larger differences (in summer) between contours.

Changes in the extent of area analysed can have a greater impact on variable values and subsequent analyses in areas that are more heterogeneous. For example, Schaeffer and Messier (1995) found little change in habitat selection of muskoxen (*Ovibos moschatus*) when analysed at different scales (i.e., extents). They attribute this lack of variation in selection between scale to the relatively homogeneous environment of the arctic and the range of scales analysed (i.e., from feeding crater to a minimum area polygon around all feeding sites in the study area). In other words, the scales analysed by Schaeffer and Messier (1995) were likely all within the scale domain of the variables measured (i.e., an area where patterns/values of a variable remain relatively consistent) and did not pass a scale threshold (the point at which there is a significant change in the values and spatial patterns of a variable) (Turner et al. 1989, Wiens 1989, Wu and Loucks 1995). Conversely, in a more heterogeneous environment such as Yellowstone National park, the scale at which elk (*Cervus canadensis*) habitat selection was measured (four

scales ranging from home range to study area) had a significant impact on analysis results (Boyce et al. 2003).

Seasonal home ranges located in areas of greater topographic variability may have more variation between contours in terms of elevation and slope. Further confounding this is the seasonal variation in the scale of caribou habitat selection (e.g., Johnson et al 2002, Leblond et al. 2011). For example, Leblond et al. (2011) found that the extent at which models best explained resource selection of caribou varied seasonally. They found that measures of terrain ruggedness (the CV of either slope or elevation) explained more variation in caribou habitat selection at buffer scales of a 2km radius in the rut, 4km radius in summer and 8km in all other seasons (2011). These differences in the scale of selection between seasons could be the result of seasonal differences in patchiness of resources (e.g. forage), as well as the physical requirements (e.g., diet) of caribou (Johnson et al 2002, Leblond et al. 2011).

Summer ranges had some of the largest differences in values between contours, although the direction of change in values was less consistent than in other seasons. In other words, topographic values were higher in outer contours of summer ranges for approximately half of the Level Kawdy caribou, and, conversely, lower in the outer contours for the other half of the caribou. This lack of consistency (in terms of direction of change in values) could also be the result of habitat use of northern caribou in summer relative to other seasons.

In the summer months caribou habitat use may not be limited to the same degree as in other seasons such as, for example, winter and calving. For example, winter's snow conditions, (which are often associated with topography and aspect), affect forage abundance and accessibility (Wood 1996, Apps et al. 2001, Johnson et al. 2004b). Similarly, topography is important during the calving season when caribou select high elevation areas with steep slopes as a predator avoidance tactic (Bergerud et al 1984, Bergerud and Paige 1987). While caribou may still use higher elevations and slopes in summer as a predator avoidance tactic, they have been found to use a wider variety of habitats in terms of vegetation and topography (Cichowski 1993, Johnson et al. 2002, Gustine and Parker 2008). In addition, habitat selection by caribou is in part an attempt to spatially separate themselves from predators as well as alternate prey (e.g., moose) (Seip 1990, James et al 2004). However, some herds have been found to occupy the same areas/habitats as predators and alternative prey during the summer season (Seip 1990, Gustine and Parker 2008). The fewer limiting factors in terms of habitat use (topography, forage, snow, predation), may have contributed to the lack of a consistent pattern in terms of the relative magnitude of topographic values between contours of the summer range.

Conversely, seasons such as fall and winter showed a consistent trend of increasing values of elevation and slope in outer contours. In addition, differences in the SD and CV of elevation were frequently higher between contours of the fall and winter home ranges relative to other seasons. The trends observed in the fall and winter could be related to the size of these home ranges and the relative sizes of contours within these seasons. Caribou home ranges in the fall and winter were significantly larger than in other seasons, and although outer contour(s) (95% and occasionally 75%) were larger than inner contours (25 and 50%) in all seasons, the differences in size were greater within the fall and winter (Table A.2, Appendix A). Increasing the size/extent of the area

can increase the probability of including habitats not found in smaller extents (Wiens 1989, Lechner et al. 2012a). Therefore the use of larger contours for analysing higher levels of habitat use within a home range may increase the variability of values measured simply as a result of increasing the areal extent.

3.5.3 Bandwidth and resolution

Differences in elevation and slope between contours were assessed within caribou home ranges created using three different bandwidths (h_{ref} , $0.8h_{ref}$, and $0.6h_{ref}$), as well as at four different DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m). We then compared the summary statistics of topographic values for each seasonal contour pair between bandwidths (holding resolution constant) and between DEM resolutions (holding bandwidth constant) and no significant differences were found. However, when other comparisons were made (e.g. comparing observed difference between the 25 and 95% contours across seasons), these results were not always consistent (i.e. significant) at all bandwidths or resolutions. For example, the difference in mean elevation between contours in winter ranges was only higher than other seasons at the largest bandwidth (h_{ref}) examined, whereas differences in mean elevation between contours in the summer were typically higher relative to other seasons at the two smaller bandwidths $(0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.6h_{ref}$). Therefore, bandwidth used in KDE could alter the differences that may occur between seasons in resource selection studies as a result of contour choice. In other words, the contour choice may have more of an impact within the analyses of specific season only when certain bandwidths are used in KDE.

3.6 Conclusions

We have demonstrated that elevation and slope vary between the UD contours of northern caribou seasonal home ranges. The use of specific UD contour values to delineate the outer bounds of a home range (e.g. 95%) or areas with higher levels of use (e.g., 50%) will therefore determine the values of topographic variables measured within each of these areas and could potentially alter the results of habitat use or selection studies. We agree with Laver and Kelly (2008) that the continued use of the 95% contour is important for consistency between studies. However, researchers should consider using a second/additional contour such as the 90% suggested by Seaman et al. (1999) or <80% recommended by Börger et al. (2006b) to assess whether different delineations of a home range significantly affect their results.

Investigations into higher levels of use within the home range should consider additional contours or the use of more objective methods to delineate core areas (e.g. Samuel et al. 1985, Seaman and Powell 1990, Kenward et al. 2001, Wilson et al. 2010, Vander Wal and Rodgers 2012). Empirical use of these methods has produced core ranges at UD values smaller as well as larger than 50% (e.g., 85% Florkiewicz et al. 2007; 18.7 – 71.5%, Wilson et al. 2010; 40%, Barg et al. 2005; and 56-78%, Burdett et al. 2007). Use of one of these methods would still, as a consequence of imposing a hard boundary, determine/impact the habitat values within each core area and, hence, also impact statistical results and inferences about habitat use or selection. However, because of the increased objectivity, they have the potential to more accurately depict an animal's "true" core area and thus produce more reliable results. In addition, the method suggested by Wilson et al. (2010) allows for the identification of multiple core areas since the internal structure of an animal's home range may be the result of more than one behavioural processes.

Further investigations should be conducted to determine specifically how the variation observed in this study in topographic values between contours of northern caribou seasonal home ranges will affect analyses of habitat use or selection. In addition, our results indicated that differences between contours varied between seasons, with some showing a larger difference in certain values between contours, while other seasons had a more consistent pattern in terms of the change in values from inner to outer contours. As indicated previously, these variations between seasons could be the result of the topography within each seasonal home range or differences in home range/contour size. If this is the case, the patterns observed in this study may apply to other caribou herds that exhibit similar trends in seasonal habitat use or home range size such as, for example, Metsaranta and Mallory (2007) who found that fall and winter home ranges were larger than other seasons. However, both Ferguson and Elkie (2004) and Cichowski (1993) reported that summer home ranges of were larger relative to other seasons. Further investigations would therefore benefit from analysing additional herds, as well as over multiple years as habitat use can vary within a herd depending on the year.



Figure 3.1 Ranges of Northern woodland caribou herds (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in western Canada. (reproduced from: Environment Canada, 2012)

	Season															
	Winter			Calving			Summer			Rut			Fall			
Caribou	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	
D030452	Dec 27	May 4	119	May 23	Jun 15	23	Jul 5	Sep 11	69	Sep 12	Oct 24	41	Oct 25	Dec12	49	
D030453	Dec 13	Apr 30	168	May 24	Jul 11	46	Jul 12	Sep 9	59	Sep 11	Oct 10	29	Oct 21	Dec25	66	
D030457	Dec 23	Apr 10	142	n/a	n/a	n/a	May 22	Sep 6	104	Sep 14	Oct 20	37	Oct 21	Dec 12	53	
D030460	Dec 27	Apr 16	90	May 24	July 1	39	Jul 2	Aug 22	52	Sep 12	Oct 22	41	Oct 23	Dec3	42	
D030461	Jan 11	Apr 18	131	May 27	Jun 24	26	Jun 26	Sep 5	72	Sep 6	Oct 20	44	Oct 22	Dec7	47	
D030462	Jan 17	Apr 24	130	May 22	Jul 6	46	Jul 17	Aug 26	39	Aug 27	Oct 19	53	Oct 21	Dec 5	44	
D030464	Dec 20	Apr 28	164	May 27	Jul 11	46	Jul 22	Sep 11	52	Sep 12	Oct 22	38	Oct 23	Dec20	59	
D030465	Jan 12	Apr 27	133	n/a	n/a	n/a	May 30	Sep 11	103	Sep 15	Oct 11	27	Oct 12	Dec7	57	
D030466	Dec 28	May 10	130	May 30	Jun 25	27	Jun 26	Sep 13	77	Sep 14	Oct 16	33	Oct 17	Dec 10	53	
D030468	Dec 21	Jan 24	36	May 13	Jun 16	35	Jun 18	Aug 25	69	Sep 7	Oct 17	39	Oct 18	Dec 13	55	
	Feb 3	Apr 21	75													
D030470	Jan 19	Apr 28	101	May 24	Jun 8	16	Jun 10	Aug 11	61	Aug 12	Oct 25	70	Oct 26	Nov 27	33	
D030471	Dec 23	Apr 16	148	May 22	Jul 9	35	Jul 13	Aug 29	31	Sep 7	Oct 22	32	Nov 10	Dec 6	26	
D030490	Dec 4	May 5	148	May 21	Jun 17	28	Jul 3	Sep 10	67	Sep 15	Oct 20	36	Oct 21	Nov 24	35	

 Table 3.1 Selected season dates for each caribou and sample sizes used to create seasonal home ranges

			Small	contou	r < 1	arge co.	ntour		Small contour > Large contour										
Elevation Variable	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	Max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	Max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	- 3	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	Max
<u>Mean</u>	25-50	19.1	19.1	-	77.9	59.3	151.6	15.1	18.5	-	63.6	44.5	151.6	9.0	10.2	-	101.0	59.7	149.0
	25-75	36.3	22.6	-	111.1	74.0	260.2	26.3	19.4	-	115.5	95.4	260.2	17.1	15.3	-	132.9	84.8	192.8
	25-95	46.1	34.8	-	139.3	71.9	347.0	28.5	29.7	-	201.9	72.7	278.5	13.4	6.5	-	162.6	122.6	347.0
	50-75	22.7	19.4	-	70.8	48.4	190.6	15.5	13.7	-	105.9	49.7	190.6	21.5	19.3	-	82.2	52.6	125.3
	50-95	35.0	31.4	-	109.8	62.0	269.8	13.1	4.9	-	159.2	82.5	263.4	20.5	12.4	-	126.5	117.6	269.8
	75-95	24.8	18.6	-	71.8	49.4	177.2	10.7	10.4	-	69.5	13.7	99.7	25.7	19.0	-	89.1	46.2	177.3
<u>SD</u>	25-50	23.7	11.6	-	71.3	64.9	192.5	24.9	21.0	-	80.2	65.4	192.5	3.3	3.4	-	44.4	28.4	76.8
	25-75	38.9	29.7	-	75.1	46.0	192.3	32.5	20.4	-	89.9	50.2	192.8	13.7	8.5	-	49.2	24.2	83.1
	25-95	43.2	20.3	-	101.6	55.3	203.5	45.9	22.2	-	108.6	51.4	203.7	5.8	6.6	-	28.3	16.7	53.0
	50-75	12.5	15.7	-	44.7	40.5	156.1	11.0	17.9	-	58.0	51.8	156.8	2.0	2.3	-	39.2	1.6	49.1
	50-95	23.5	18.6	-	70.1	37.0	164.4	25.9	18.9	-	73.5	48.4	164.8	14.3	17.6	-	57.0	66.5	105.1
	75-95	13.5	14.2	-	50.6	39.1	112.1	12.1	9.4	-	54.4	37.9	112.3	2.0	2.4	-	27.5	35.4	70.3
<u>CV</u>	25-50	0.02	0.001	-	0.05	0.05	0.14	0.02	0.01	-	0.06	0.05	0.14	0.004	0.003	_	0.03	0.02	0.05
	25-75	0.02	0.01	-	0.05	0.02	0.13	0.02	0.01	-	0.06	0.03	0.13	0.01	0.01	-	0.03	0.02	0.05
	25-95	0.03	0.14	-	0.09	0.05	0.17	0.03	0.01	-	0.09	0.05	0.17	0.01	0.004	-	0.03	0.01	0.03
	50-75	0.01	0.01	-	0.03	0.03	0.10	0.01	0.01	-	0.04	0.04	0.10	0.003	0.003	-	0.02	0.02	0.04
	50-95	0.02	0.01	-	0.07	0.04	0.14	0.02	0.01	-	0.07	0.04	0.14	0.01	0.01	-	0.04	0.05	0.08
	75-95	0.01	0.01	-	0.05	0.04	0.12	0.01	0.01	-	0.05	0.04	0.12	0.004	0.01	-	0.02	0.03	0.04

 Table 3.2 The range of descriptive metrics and maximum observed difference in values of elevation (m) between contours of all seasonal home ranges.

		Absolut	e differ	ence	e			Small	contour	· < L	arge co	ntour		Small contour > Large contour					
Elevation Variable	Contou r Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	Max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	Max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	Max
<u>Mean</u>	25-50	1.4	(0.8)	-	5.7	(3.1)	15.2	1.4	(0.6)	-	4.2	(2.8)	8.5	0.8	(0.7)	-	9.3	(1.5)	15.2
	25-75	1.5	(1.1)	-	8.6	(5.4)	20.0	4.5	(1.2)	-	8.0	(6.9)	20.0	0.7	(0.8)	-	12.1	(5.0)	17.0
	25-95	2.1	(1.4)	-	9.2	(7.2)	24.2	2.2	(1.4)	-	9.5	(8.1)	24.2	0.3	(0.1)	-	9.1	(6.1)	19.2
	50-75	0.7	(0.5)	-	4.9	(3.5)	13.4	0.6	(0.3)	-	6.1	(4.0)	13.4	0.6	(0.4)	-	4.7	(1.5)	10.0
	50-95	1.2	(0.9)	-	6.4	(5.7)	18.4	1.2	(0.9)	-	6.8	(6.0)	18.4	0.7	(0.5)	-	9.4	(2.2)	17.6
	75-95	1.3	(1.1)	-	3.6	(2.9)	10.4	1.4	(0.7)	-	3.8	(2.3)	6.8	0.5	(0.3)	-	4.8	(2.9)	10.4
<u>SD</u>	25-50	1.5	(1.1)	-	4.3	(3.5)	11.0	1.5	(0.8)	-	4.3	(4.1)	11.0	0.5	(0.6)	-	5.9	(3.4)	10.4
	25-75	1.2	(1.6)	-	8.0	(5.0)	18.5	1.3	(1.0)	-	7.5	(5.3)	18.5	0.3	(0.3)	-	9.3	(4.4)	13.6
	25-95	2.4	(2.0)	-	7.0	(5.2)	17.6	2.4	(1.6)	-	8.3	(6.0)	17.6	<0.1	(<0.1)	-	6.1	(0.8)	10.1
	50-75	0.6	(0.6)	-	4.8	(3.0)	11.7	0.3	(0.1)	-	5.5	(2.2)	11.7	0.8	(0.1)	-	4.8	(0.1)	5.8
	50-95	1.4	(1.4)	-	4.6	(3.5)	11.0	1.7	(1.5)	-	5.4	(4.3)	11.0	<0.1	(<0.1)	-	4.3	3.1	8.8
	75-95	0.7	(0.6)	-	2.8	(2.0)	7.2	0.4	(0.2)	-	3.1	(2.1)	6.5	0.21	(0.2)	-	3.7	(2.0)	7.2
<u>cv</u>	25-50	0.09	(0.08)	-	0.31	(0.20)	0.77	0.05	(0.04)	-	0.33	(0.21)	0.77	0.02	(0.01)	-	0.19	(0.16)	0.33
	25-75	0.09	(0.06)	-	0.35	(0.23)	0.76	0.07	(0.06)	-	0.37	(0.23)	0.76	0.02	(0.01)	-	0.30	(0.16)	0.42
	25-95	0.12	(0.09)	-	0.36	(0.21)	0.78	0.14	(0.01)	-	0.44	(0.21)	0.78	0.01	(0.01)	-	0.37	(0.08)	0.60
	50-75	0.05	(0.04)	-	0.22	(0.15)	0.54	0.03	(0.04)	-	0.26	(0.09)	0.55	0.03	(002	-	0.33	(0.13)	0.47
	50-95	0.11	(0.06)	-	0.21	(0.13)	0.73	0.09	(0.01)	-	0.29	(0.27	0.73	0.06	, (0.05)	-	0.32	(0.21)	0.53
	75-95	0.06	(0.05)	-	0.19	(0.18)	0.70	0.05	(0.03)	-	0.22	(0.19)	0.70	0.01	(0.02)	-	0.14	(0.10)	0.34

 Table 3.3 Range of descriptive metrics and maximum observed difference in values of slope (%) between contours of all seasonal home ranges.



Figure 3.2 Proportion of instances where mean (top), SD (middle) and CV (bottom) of elevation (m) was higher and lower within the smaller contour of a comparison in each of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Each letter identifies the bandwidth(s) at which differences in proportions were significant.

Bandwidths: a = all $b = h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref}$ $c = 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.6h_{ref}$ $d = h_{ref}$ $e = 0.8h_{ref}$ $f = 0.6h_{ref}$



Figure 3.3 Proportion of instances where mean (top), SD (middle) and CV (bottom) of slope (%) was higher and lower within the smaller contour of a comparison in each of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Each letter identifies the bandwidth(s) at which differences in proportions were significant.

Bandwidths: a = all $b = h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref}$ $c = 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.6h_{ref}$ $d = h_{ref}$ $e = 0.8h_{ref}$ $f = 0.6h_{ref}$



Figure 3.4 Significant pairwise differences (*p*<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) (right) and slope (%) (left) between contour pairs within each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall)



Figure 3.5Significant pairwise differences between seasons (winter, calving,
summer, rut and fall) (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m)
between contours.

```
* winter and rut
```

```
** summer and rut
```

*** summer, calving and rut



Figure 3.6 Significant pairwise differences between seasons (winter, calving,
summer, rut and fall) (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%)
between contours.

```
* rut and fall
** winter and rut
*** winter, rut and fall
```

- Anich, N. M., T. J. Benson, and J. C. Bednarz. 2009. Estimating territory and home-range sizes: do singing locations alone provide an accurate estimate of space use? The Auk 126:626–634.
- Apps, C. D., and T. A. Kinley. 2000. Multiscale habitat modeling for mountain caribou in the Columbia Highlands and Northern Columbia Mountains ecoregions, British Columbia. BC Min. Environ., Lands and Parks, Williams Lake, BC, 37pp.
- Apps, C.D., B.N. McLellan, T.A. Kinley and J.P. Flaa. 2001. Scale-dependent habitat selection by mountain caribou, Columbia Mountains, British Columbia. The Journal of wildlife Management 65: 65-77.
- Bader, M.Y. and J.J.A. Ruijten. 2008. A topography-based model of forest cover at the the alpine tree line in the tropical Andes. Journal of Biogeography 35:711-723.
- Barg, J.J., J. Jones and R.J. Robertson. 2005. Describing breeding territories of migratory passerines: suggestions for sampling, choice of estimator, and delineation of core areas. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:139-149.
- Basille, M., D. Fortin, C. Dussault, J.-P. Ouellet and R. Courtois. 2012. Ecologically based definitions of seasons clarifies predator-prey interactions. Ecography 36: 220-229.
- Bastille-Rousseau, G., J. A. Schaefer, S. P. Mahoney, and D. L. Murray. 2013. Population decline in semi-migratory caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*): intrinsic or extrinsic drivers? Canadian Journal of Zoology 91:820–828.
- Belant, J.L., and E.H. Follmann. 2002. Sampling considerations for American black and brown bear home range and habitat use. Usrsus 13:299-315.
- Berger, K.M. and E.M. Gese. 2007. Does interference competition with wolves limit the distribution and abundance of coyotes. Journal of Animal Ecology 76: 1075-1085.

- Bertrand, M.R., A.J. DeNicola, S.R. Beissinger and R.K. Swihart. 1996. Effects of parturition on home ranges and social affiliations of female white-tailed deer. The Journal of Wildlife Management 60: 899-909.
- Bergurud, A.T., H.E. Butler and R.D. Miller. 1984. Antipredator tactics of calving caribou: dispersion in mountains. Canadian Journal of Zoology 62:1566-1575.
- Bergerud, A.T. and R.E. Page. 1987. Displacement and dispersion of parturient caribou at calving as antipredator tactics. Canadian Journal of Zoology 65: 1597-1606.
- Beyer, H.L. 2012. Geospatial modelling environment. Version 0.7.2.0. http://spatialecology.com/gme
- Blundell, G.M., J.A.K. Maier and E.M. Debevec. 2001. Linear home ranges: effects of smoothing, sample size, and autocorrelation on kernel estimates. Ecological Monographs 71: 469-489.
- Börger, L., N. Franconi, F. Ferretti, F. Meschi, G. D. Michele, A. Gantz, and T. Coulson. 2006a. An integrated approach to identify spatiotemporal and individual-level determinants of animal home range size. The American Naturalist 168:471–485.
- Börger, L., N. Franconi, G. De Michele, A. Gantz, F. Meschi, A. Manica, S. Lovari and T. Coulson. 2006b. Effects of sampling regime on the mean and variance of home range size estimates. Journal of Animal Ecology 75: 1393-1405.
- Börger, L., B.D. Dalziel and J.M. Fryxell. 2008. Are there general mechanisms of animal home range behaviour? A review and prospectus for future research. Ecology Letters 11: 637-650.
- Bowyer, R. T., J. G. Kie, and V. V. Ballenberghe. 1996. Sexual segregation in blacktailed deer: effects of scale. The Journal of Wildlife Management 60:10.
- Boyce, M.S., J.S. Mao, E.H. Merrill, D. Fortin, M.G. Turner, J. Fryxell and P. Turchin. 2003. Scale and heterogeneity in habitat selection by elk in Yellowstone National Park 10:421-431.

- Brown, G. S., F. F. Mallory, and J. Rettie. 2003. Range size and seasonal movement for female woodland caribou in the boreal forest of northeastern Ontario. Rangifer 23:227–233.
- Brown, M.B. and A.B. Forsythe. 1974. Robust tests for the equality of variances. Journal of the American Statistical Association 69: 364-367.
- Burdett, C. L., R. A. Moen, G. J. Niemi, and D. Mech. 2007. Defining space use and movements of Canada lynx with global positioning system telemetry. Journal of Mammalogy 88:457–467.
- Burt, W. H. 1943. Territoriality and home range concepts as applied to mammals. Journal of Mammalogy 24:346-352.
- Chaubey, I., A.S. Cotter, T.A. Costello and T.S. Soerens. 2005. Effect of DEM data resolution on SWAT output uncertainty. Hydrological Processes 19:621-628.
- Cichowski, D.B. 1993. Seasonal movements, habitat use, and winter feeding ecology of woodland caribou in west-central British Columbia. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks, Victoria. British Columbia Ministry if Environment, Lands and Parks Land Management Report 79.
- Culling, D. E., B. A. Culling, T. Raabis, and B. Enterprises. 2005. Seasonal habitat use and movements of Graham caribou, 2001 to 2003. Prep. for Canadian Forests Products Ltd.(Fort St. John) and BC Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, Forts St. John, BC 88pp.
- Clark, W. A., and K. L. Avery. 1976. The effects of data aggregation in statistical analysis. Geographical Analysis 8:428–438.
- Conover, W.J., M.E. Johnson and M.M. Johnson. 1981. A comparative study of tests for homogeneity of variances, with applications to the outer continental shelf bidding data. Technometrics 23: 351-361.

- Courbin, N. D. Fortin, C. Dussault and R. Courtois. 2009. Landscape management for woodland caribou: the protection of forest blocks influences wolf-caribou cooccurrence. Landscape Ecology 24: 1375-1388.
- Culling, D.E. B.A. Culling and T. Raabis. 2005. Seasonal habitat use and movements of Graham caribou, 2001 to 2003. Final report prepared for Canadian Forest Products, and BC Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection. Fort St. John, BC, Canada. 88pp.
- Day, R.W. and G.P. Quinn. 1989. Comparison of treatments after an analysis of variance in ecology. Ecological Monographs 59:433-463.
- De solla, S.R., R. Bonduarinsky and R.J. Brooks. 1999. Eliminating autocorrelation reduces biological relevance of home range estimates. Journal of Animal Ecology 68: 221-234.
- DeCesare, N. J., M. Hebblewhite, F. Schmiegelow, D. Hervieux, G.J. McDermid, L. Neufeld, M. Bradley, J. Whittington, K.G. Smith, L.E. Morgantini, M. Wheatley and M. Musiani. 2012. Transcending scale dependence in identifying habitat with resource selection functions. Ecological applications 22: 1068-1083.
- Desclée, B., P. Bogaert and P. Defourny. 2006. Forest change detection by statistical object-based method. Remote Sensing of the Environment 102:1-11.
- Dettki, H. and G. Ericsson. 2008. Screening radiolocation datasets for movement strategies with time series segmentation. Journal of Wildlife Management 72: 535-542.
- Dickson, B.G. and P. Beier. 2002. Home-range and habitat selection by adult cougars in southern California. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66: 1235-1245.
- Downs, J. A., and M. W. Horner. 2008. effects of point pattern shape on home-range estimates. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:1813–1818.

- Dungan, J. L., J. N. Perry, M. R. T. Dale, P. Legendre, S. Citron-Pousty, M.-J. Fortin, A. Jakomulska, M. Miriti, and M. S. Rosenberg. 2002. A balanced view of scale in spatial statistical analysis. Ecography 25:626–640.
- Dunnett, C.W. 1980a. Pairwise multiple comparisons in the homogeneous variance, unequal sample size case. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75:789-795.
- Dunnett, C.W. 1980b. Pairwise multiple comparisons in the unequal variance case. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75: 796-800.
- Environment Canada. 2012. Management plan for the northern mountain population of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Management Plan Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. Vii + 79pp.
- ESRI. 2008 ArcMap 9.3, Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc.
- ESRI. 2010. ArcGIS 10.0. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute, Inc.
- Ferguson, S. H., and P. C. Elkie. 2004. Seasonal movement patterns of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*). Journal of Zoology 262:125–134.
- Fieberg, J. 2007. Kernel density estimators of home range: smoothing and the autocorrelation red herring. Ecology 88:1059–1066.
- Fieberg, J., and C. O. Kochanny. 2005. Quantifying home-range overlap: the importance of the utilization distribution. Journal of Wildlife Management 69:1346–1359.
- Florkiewicz, R., R. Maraj, T. Hegel, and M. Waterreus. 2007. The effects of human land use on the winter habitat of the recovering Carcross woodland caribou herd in suburban Yukon Territory, Canada. Rangifer 27:181–197.
- Forman, Richard T. T., and Godron, Michel. 1981. Patches and structural components for a landscape ecology. BioScience 31:733–740.

- Games, P.A. ad J.F. Howell. 1976. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures with unequal N's and/or variances: a monte carlo study. Journal of Education and Behavioral Statistics 1: 113-125.
- Games, P.A., H.J. Keselman and J.J. Clinch. 1979. Tests for homogeneity of variance in factorial designs. Psychological Bulletin 86: 978-984.
- Gehlke, C.E., and K. Biehl. 1934. Certain effects of grouping upon the size of the correlation coefficient in census tract material. Journal of the American Statistical Association 24: 169-170.
- Girard, I., J.P. Ouellet, R. Courtois, C. Dussault and L. Breton. 2002. Effects of sampling effort based on GPS telemetry on home-range size estimations. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66:1290-1300.
- Gitzen, R.E., and J.J. Millspaugh. 2003. Comparison of least-squares cross-validation bandwidth options for kernel home-range estimation. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:823-831.
- Gitzen, R.A., J.J. Millspaugh and B.J. Kernohan. 2006. Bandwidth selection for fixedkernel analysis of animal utilization distribution. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1334-1344.
- Gustine, D.D. and K.L. Parker. 2008. Variations in the seasonal selection of resources by woodland caribou in northern British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 86: 812-825.
- Gustine, D.D., K.L. Parker, R.J. Lay, M.P. Gillingham and D.C. Heard. 2006. Interpreting resource selection at different scales for woodland caribou in winter. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1601-1614.
- Harris, S., W.J. Cresswell, P.G. Forde, W.J. Trewhella, T. Woodward and S. Wray.
 1990. Home-range analysis using radio-tracking data a review of problems and techniques particularly as applied to the study of mammals. Mammal Review 20: 97-123.

- Hatler, D.F. 1986. Studies of radio-collared caribou in the Spatsizi wilderness park area, British Columbia, 1980-1984. Wildlife Branch Report R-12.
- Hay, G. J., D. J. Marceau, P. Dube, and A. Bouchard. 2001. A multiscale framework for landscape analysis: object-specific analysis and upscaling. Landscape Ecology 16:471–490.
- Hayter, A.J. 1984. A proof of the conjecture that the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons procedure is conservative. The Annals of Statistics 12: 61-75.
- Hébert, I., and R. B. Weladji. 2013. The use of coniferous forests and cutovers by Newfoundland woodland caribou. Forest Ecology and Management 291:318–325.
- Hoset, K. S., J.-F. L. Galliard, G. Gundersen, and H. Steen. 2007. Home range size and overlap in female root voles: effects of season and density. Behavioral Ecology 19:139–145.
- Hui, C., R. Veldtman, and M. A. McGeoch. 2010. Measures, perceptions and scaling patterns of aggregated species distributions. Ecography 33:95–102.
- IBM. 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. IBM, Armonk, New York.
- Jaccard, J., M.A. Becker and G. Wood. 1984. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures: a review. Psychological Bulletin 96: 589-596.
- Jackson, L. E., J. F. Levine and E. D. Hilborn. 2006. A comparison of analysis units for associating Lyme disease with forest-edge habitat. Community Ecology 7:189-197.
- James, A.R.C., S. Boutin, D.M. Hebert and A.B. Rippin. 2004. Spatial separation of caribou from moose and its relation to predation by wolves. Journal of Wildlife Management 68:799-809.

- Jaques, C.N., J.A. Jenks and R.W. Klaver. 2009. Seasonal movements and home-range use by female pronghorns in sagebrush-steppe communities of Western South Dakota. Journal of Mammology 90: 433-441.
- Jelinski D. E., J. Wu. 1996. The modifiable areal unit problem and implications for landscape ecology. Landscape Ecology 11:129-140.
- Jennrich, R. I., and F. B. Turner. 1969. Measurement of non-circular home range. Journal of Theoretical Biology 22:227–237.
- Johnson, C. J., K. L. Parker, D. C. Heard, and M. P. Gillingham. 2002. Movement parameters of ungulates and scale-specific responses to the environment. Journal of Animal Ecology 71:225–235.
- Johnson, C. J., D. R. Seip, and M. S. Boyce. 2004a. A quantitative approach to conservation planning: using resource selection functions to map the distribution of mountain caribou at multiple spatial scales. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:238–251.
- Johnson, C.J., K.L. Parker, D.C. Heard and D.R. Seip. 2004b. Movements, foraging habits, and habitat use strategies of northern woodland caribou during winter: implications for forest practices in British Columbia. BC Journal of Ecosystems and Management 5: 22-35.
- Johnson, D. H. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65-71.
- Jones, E. S., M. P. Gillingham, D. R. Seip, and D. C. Heard. 2007. Comparison of seasonal habitat selection between threatened woodland caribou ecotypes in central British Columbia. Rangifer 27:111–128.
- Karl, J. W., P. J. Heglund, E. O. Garton, J. M. Scott, N. M. Wright, and R. L. Hutto. 2000. Sensitivity of species habitat-relationship model performance to factors of scale. Ecological applications 10:1690–1705.

- Kenward, R. E., R. T. Clarke, K. H. Hodder, and S. S. Walls. 2001. Density and linkage estimators of home range: nearest-neighbor clustering defines multinuclear cores. Ecology 82:1905–1920.
- Kernohan, B.J., R.A. Gitzen, and J.J. Millspaugh. 2001. Analysis of animal space use and movements. In: Radio tracking and animal populations. Eds J.J. Millspaugh and J.M. Marzluff, pp126-166. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Kerns, B.K., B.J. Naylor, M. Buonopane, C.G. Parks and B. Rogers. 2009. Modeling Tamarisk (*Tamarix* spp.) habitat and climate change effects in the northwestern United States. Invasive Plant Science and Management 2:200-215.
- Keselman, H.J. and J.C. Rogan. 1978. A comparison of the modified-Tukey and Scheffe methods of multiple comparisons for pairwise contrasts. Journal of the American Statistical Association 73: 47-52.
- Kie, J.G., R.T Bowyer, M.C. Nicholson, B.B. Boroski and E.R. Loft. 2002. Landscape heterogeneity at differing scales: effects on spatial distribution of mule deer. Ecology 83: 530-544.
- Kie, J. G., J. Matthiopoulos, J. Fieberg, R. A. Powell, F. Cagnacci, M. S. Mitchell, J.-M. Gaillard, and P. R. Moorcroft. 2010. The home-range concept: are traditional estimators still relevant with modern telemetry technology? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365:2221–2231.
- Kochanny, C. O., G. D. Delgiudice, and J. Fieberg. 2009. Comparing global positioning system and very high frequency telemetry home ranges of white-tailed deer. Journal of Wildlife Management 73:779–787.
- Kramer, C.Y. 1956. Extensions of multiple range tests to group means with unequal numbers of replications. Biometrics 12: 307-310.
- Laver, P.N. and M.J. Kelly. 2008. A critical review of home range studies. Journal of Wildlife Management 72: 290-298.

- Lawler, J. J., R. J. O'Connor, C. T. Hunsaker, K. B. Jones, T. R. Loveland, and D. White. 2004. The effects of habitat resolution on models of avian diversity and distributions: a comparison of two land-cover classifications. Landscape Ecology 19:515–530.
- Leblond, M., J. Frair, D. Fortin, C. Dussault, J.-P. Ouellet, and R. Courtois. 2011. Assessing the influence of resource covariates at multiple spatial scales: an application to forest-dwelling caribou faced with intensive human activity. Landscape Ecology 26:1433–1446.
- Lechner, A. M., W. T. Langford, S. A. Bekessy, and S. D. Jones. 2012a. Are landscape ecologists addressing uncertainty in their remote sensing data? Landscape Ecology 27:1249–1261.
- Lechner, A. M., W. T. Langford, S. D. Jones, S. A. Bekessy, and A. Gordon. 2012b. Investigating species–environment relationships at multiple scales: Differentiating between intrinsic scale and the modifiable areal unit problem. Ecological Complexity 11:91–102.
- Leduc, A., Y. T. Prairie, and Y. Bergeron. 1994. Fractal dimension estimates of a fragmented landscape: sources of variability. Landscape Ecology 9:279–286.
- Lesmerises, F., C. Dussault and M.H. St Laurent. 2012. Wolf habitat selection is shaped by human activities in a highly managed boreal forest. Forest Ecology and Management 276: 125-131.
- Levene, H. 1960. Robust tests for equality of variances. In: Contributions to Probability and Statistics: Essays in Honor of Harold Hotelling. Ed I. Olkin, pp 278-292, Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, Calif.
- Lima, S. L., and P. A. Zollner. 1996. Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 11:131–135.

- Marzluff, J.M., J.J. Millspaugh, P. Hurvitz and M.S. Handcock. 2004. Relating resources to a probabilistic measure of space use: forest fragments and steller's jays. Ecology 85: 1411-1427.
- McArdle, B.H. and M.J. Anderson. 2004. Variance heterogeneity, transformations, and models of species abundance: a cautionary tale. Canadian Journal of fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61: 1294-1302.
- Mehta, C. R. and N. R. Patel. 2011. IBM SPSS Exact Tests. International Business Machines corporation, USA, 236p.
- Metsaranta, J. M. 2008. Assessing factors influencing the space use of a woodland caribou *Rangifer tarandus* caribou population using an individual-based model. Wildlife Biology 14:478–488.
- Metsaranta, J.M., and F.F. Mallory. 2007. Ecology and habitat selection of a woodland caribou population in West-central Manitoba, Canada. Northeastern Naturalist 14:571-588.
- Millspaugh, J.J., R.M. Nielson, L. McDonald, J.M. Marzluff, R.A. Gitzen, C.D. Rittenhouse, M.W. Hubbard and S.L. Sheriff. 2006. Analysis of resource selection using utilization distributions. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 384-395.
- Mohr, C. O. 1947. Table of equivalent populations in North American small mammals. The American Midland Naturalist 37:223-249.
- O'Brien, R.G. 1978. Robust techniques for testing heterogeneity of variance effects in factorial designs. Psychometrika 43: 327-342.
- Openshaw, S. 1984. The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem. CATMOG, 38. Norwich, England: Geobooks.
- Ottis, D.L. and G.C. White. 1999. Autocorrelation of location estimates and the analysis of radiotracking data. Journal of Wildlife Management. 63: 1039-1044.

- Persson, J., P. Wedholm, and P. Segerström. 2010. Space use and territoriality of wolverines (*Gulo gulo*) in northern Scandinavia. European Journal of Wildlife Research 56:49–57.
- Petrinovich, L.F. and C.D. Hardyck. 1969. Error rates for multiple comparison methods: some evidence concerning the frequency of erroneous conclusions. Psychological Bulletin 71: 43-54.
- Poole, K.G., D.C. Heard and G. Mowat. 2000. Habitat use by woodland caribou near Takla Lake in central British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78:1552-1561.
- Powell, R. A. 2000. Animal home ranges and territories and home range estimators. Pages 65-110 in L. Boitani and T.K. Fuller, editors. Research technologies in animal ecology – controversies and consequences. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Powell, R. A., and M. S. Mitchell. 2012. What is a home range? Journal of Mammalogy 93:948–958.
- Quinn, A. C. D., D. M. Williams, and W. F. Porter. 2013. Landscape structure influences space use by white-tailed deer. Journal of Mammalogy 94:398–407.
- Rafter, J.A., M.L. Abell and J.P. Braselton. 2002. Multiple comparison methods for means. SIAM Review 44: 259-278.
- Rahbek, C. 2005. The role of spatial scale and the perception of large-scale speciesrichness patterns: Scale and species-richness patterns. Ecology Letters 8:224–239.
- Ramseyer, G.C. and T.-K. Tcheng. 1973. The robustness of the studentized range statistic to violations of the normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions. American Educational Research Journal 10: 235-240.
- Rayl, N. D., T. K. Fuller, J. F. Organ, J. E. McDonald, S. P. Mahoney, C. Soulliere, S. E. Gullage, T. Hodder, F. Norman, T. Porter, G. Bastille-Rousseau, J. A. Schaefer,
and D. L. Murray. 2014. Mapping the distribution of a prey resource: neonate caribou in Newfoundland. Journal of Mammalogy 95:328–339.

- Rees, W.G. 2000. The accuracy of Digital Elevation Models interpolated to higher resolutions. International Journal of Remote Sensing 21:7-20.
- Richardson, J. T. 1994. The analysis of 2 x 1 and 2 x 2 contingency tables: an historical review. Statistical Methods in Medical Research 3:107–133.
- Rodgers, A.R., A.P. Carr, H.L. Beyer, L. Smith and J.G. Kie. 2007. HRT: Home Range Tools for ArcGIS. Ontario ministry of natural Resources, Center for northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Rodgers, A.R. and J.G. Kie. 2011. HRT: Home Range Tools for ArcGIS version 1.1. User's manual. Ontario ministry of natural Resources, Center for northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Ruxton, G.D. and G. Beauchamp. 2008. Time for some a priori thinking about post hoc testing. Behavioral Ecology 19: 690-693.
- Said., S., J.-M. Gaillard, P. Duncan, N. Guillon, N. Guillon, S. Servanty, M. Pellerin, K. Lefeuvre, S. Martin and G. Van Laere. 2005. Ecological correlates of homerange size in spring-summer for female roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) in a deciduous woodland. Journal of Zoology 267: 301-308.
- Samuel, M. D., D. J. Pierce and E. O. Garton. 1985. Identifying areas of concentrated use within the home range. Journal of animal ecology 54:711-719.
- Schaefer, J. A., and F. Messier. 1995. Habitat selection as a hierarchy: the spatial scales of winter forage by muskoxen. Ecography 18:333–344.
- Schoener, T.W. 1981. An empirically based estimated of home range. Theoretical Population Biology 20: 281-325.

- Seaman, D. E., and R. A. Powell. 1990. Identifying patterns and intensity of home range use. Bears: their biology and management 8:243–249.
- Seaman, D.E., and R.A. Powell. 1996. An evaluation of the accuracy of kernel density estimators for home range analysis. Ecology 77: 2075-2085.
- Seaman, D.E., J.J. Millspaugh, B.J. Kernohan, G.C. Brundige, K.J. Raedeke and R.A. Gitzen. 1999. Effect of sample size on kernel home range estimates. The Journal of Wildlife Management 63: 739-747.
- Seip, D.R. 1990. Ecology of woodland caribou in Wells Gray Provincial Park. British Columbia Ministry of the Environment, Wildlife Bulletin B-68.
- Seip, D. R., and D. B. Cichowski. 1994. Population ecology of caribou in British Columbia. Rangifer Special Issue 9:73–80.
- Shapiro, S.S. and M.B. Wilk. 1965. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). Biometrika 52: 591-611.
- Shuter, J. L., and A. R. Rodgers. 2012. Delineating demographic units of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in Ontario: cautions and insights. Rangifer 32:159–181.
- Silverman, B. W. 1986. Density estimation for statistics and data analysis. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Stevenson, S.K. and D.F. Hatler. 1985. Woodland caribou and their habitat in southern and central British Columbia. British Columbia Ministry of Forests, Land management report no.23, 555pp.
- Steyaert, S. M. J. G., O.-G. Støen, M. Elfström, J. Karlsson, R. V. Lammeren, J. Bokdam, A. Zedrosser, S. Brunberg, and J. E. Swenson. 2011. Resource selection by sympatric free-ranging dairy cattle and brown bears *Ursus arctos*. Wildlife Biology 17:389–403.

- Swihart, R.K. and S.A. Slade. 1985a. Influence of sampling interval on estimates of home-range size. The Journal of Wildlife Management 49: 1019-1025.
- Swihart, R.K. and N.A. Slade. 1985b. Testing for independence of observations in animal movements. Ecology 66: 1176-1184.
- Tamhane, A.C. 1979. A comparison of procedures for multiple comparisons of means with unequal variances. Journal of the American Statistical Association 74: 471-480.
- Terry, E. L., B. N. McLellan, and G. S. Watts. 2000. Winter habitat ecology of mountain caribou in relation to forest management. Journal of Applied Ecology 37:589– 602.
- Thiebot, J.-B., Y. Cherel, P. N. Trathan, and C.-A. Bost. 2012. Coexistence of oceanic predators on wintering areas explained by population-scale foraging segregation in space or time. Ecology 93:122–130.
- Thieken, A.H., A. Lücke, B. Diekkrüger and O. Richter. 1999. Scaling input data by GIS for hydrological modelling. Hydrological processes 13:611-630.
- Thompson, J.A., J.C. Bell and C.A. Butler. 2001. Digital elevation model resolution: effects on terrain attribute calculation and quantitative soil-landscape modeling. Geoderma 100: 67-89.
- Tukey, J.W. 1953. The problem of multiple comparisons. Unpublished report, Princeton University, Princeton, N.J.
- Turner, M. G., R. V. O'Neill, R. H. Gardner, and B. T. Milne. 1989. Effects of changing spatial scale on the analysis of landscape pattern. Landscape ecology 3:153–162.
- Van Beest, F.M., E. Vander Wal, A. V. Stronen and R.K. Brook. 2013. Factors driving variation in movement rate and seasonality of sympatric ungulates. Journal of Mammalogy 94: 691-701.

- Van Winkle, W. 1975. Comparison of several probabilistic home-range models. The Journal of Wildlife Management 39: 118-123.
- Vander Wal, e. and A. R. Rodgers. 2012. An individual-based quantitative approach for delineating core areas of animal space use. Ecological Modelling 224: 48-53.
- Webb, S.L., D.G. Hewitt and M.W. Hellckson. 2007. Scale of management for mature male white-tailed deer as influenced by home range and movements. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1507-1512.
- White, G. C. and R. A. Garrot. 1990. Analysis of wildlife radio-tracking data. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA.
- White, P. C. L., G. Saunders, and S. Harris. 1996. Spatio-temporal patterns of home range use by foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in urban environments. The Journal of Animal Ecology 65:121.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385.
- Wilson, R. R., M. B. Hooten, B. N. Strobel and J. A. Shivik. 2010. Accounting for individuals, uncertainty, and multiscale clustering in core area estimation. Journal of Wildlife Management 74: 1343-1352.
- Wilson, R. R., J. K. Young, and J. A. Shivik. 2011. Coyote capture vulnerability relative to space use and trap density. The Journal of Wildlife Management 75:721–725.
- Wilson, R. R., A. K. Prichard, L. S. Parrett, B. T. Person, G. M. Carroll, M. A. Smith, C. L. Rea, and D. A. Yokel. 2012. Summer resource selection and identification of important habitat prior to industrial development for the Teshekpuk caribou herd in Northern Alaska. PLoS ONE 7:e48697.
- Wittmer, H.U., B.N. McLellan, R. Serrouya and C.D. Apps. 2007. Changes in landscape composition influence the decline of a threatened woodland caribou population. Journal of Animal Ecology 76: 568-579.

- Wolock, D.M. and G.J. McCabe. 2000. Differences in topographic characteristics computed from 100- and 1000m resolution digital elevation model data. Hydrological Processes 14:987-1002.
- Wood, M.D. 1996. Seasonal habitat use and movements of woodland caribou in the omineca Mountains, north central British Columbia, 1991-1993. Rangifer 9: 365-378.
- Worton, B.J. 1989. Kernel Methods for estimating the utilization distribution in home range studies. Ecology 70: 164-168.
- Worton, B.J. 1995. Using monte-carlo simulation to evaluate kernel-based home range estimators. The Journal of Wildlife Management 59:794-800.
- Wu, J. 2013. Key concepts and research topics in landscape ecology revisited: 30 years after the Allerton Park workshop. Landscape Ecology 28:1–11.
- Wu, J., and Orie L. Loucks 1995. From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. The Quarterly Review of Biology 70:439–466.
- Wu, S., J. Li, and G. Huang. 2005. An evaluation of grid size uncertainty in empirical soil loss modeling with digital elevation models. Environmental Modeling & Assessment 10:33–42.

4 The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem and caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) home range delineation: effects of aggregating slope and elevation

4.1 Abstract

Home range analyses often attempt to assess use or selection by animal for certain habitat characteristics (e.g., vegetation cover or topography). Although somewhat common practice, the aggregation of this habitat data to larger spatial units of analysis can potentially alter the nature of the data was well as statistical results or inferences regarding wildlife-habitat associations. This is one component (i.e., scale effect) of what is known as the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem. MAUP refers specifically to the effect that changes to the scale at which spatial data are assessed can potentially lead to spurious results as well as ecological inferences. The two components of MAUP pertain to the size (scale effect) and shape (zone effect) at which areal units are analysed. The scale effect (as previously discussed) refers to the change in analysis results due to the aggregation of data to coarser spatial units which, can average out the fine-scale detail present in the data. The second component, the zone effect, refers specifically to (regardless of size) how areal units are delineated in space and the resulting variation in measured values of habitat variables assessed within, for example 1km² grids vs. 1km² hexagonal units. Thus, home range analyses that aggregate spatial habitat data are potentially subject to the MAUP.

In addition, home range analyses that specifically use methods such as Kernel Density Estimation Method (KDE) that are based on an animal's UD (a surface representing an estimation of the intensity of use of an area by an animal) may also be subject to MAUP for two reasons. First, in the KDE method the size and shape of an animal's home range will in part be determined by the specific choice of bandwidth which determines the level of smoothing applied to animal location data. Small bandwidths will capture the fine-scale detail in animal space use and produce smaller home ranges than larger bandwidths which will provide a more general (or coarse-scale) depiction of animal space use. The second reason why home range analyses using the KDE method may be subject to MAUP is by virtue of being able to select a particular volume contour of an animal's UD (i.e. an area representing a specific level or intensity of use). Both the size and shape of the areas used in home range analysis as determined by KDE bandwidth and UD contour will determine the habitat variables measured therewithin.

The objective of this study was to determine the effect of MAUP in home range analyses in terms of the aggregation of habitat variables. In addition, we assessed how the effect of aggregation on habitat values varied when assessed within different delineations of home range outer bounds (by varying KDE bandwidth) or areas of higher levels of use (by varying UD contour). To demonstrate the issue of MAUP in home range analyses we used a model population of 13 northern woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*). We created seasonal home ranges for each caribou using three KDE bandwidths and delineated areas of differing levels of use within each home range based on four levels of the UD. Within each seasonal contour we assessed values of elevation and slope (mean, standard deviation and CV), as both these variables are important in caribou habitat selection. We assessed the magnitude and direction of change in elevation and slope that occurred when aggregated to coarser resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m). We found no significant differences in elevation at coarser resolutions. Conversely, we found a significant decrease in both the mean and SD of slope in all home ranges. The magnitude of change in slope values was, in general greater in the outer contours of caribou home ranges as well as in the summer and calving seasons. Thus, while the aggregation of topographic data could potentially alter the outcome of woodland caribou home range analyses the particular effect may be more pronounced within certain seasons or when specific UD contours are analysed.

4.2 Introduction

A wide range of ecological studies assess wildlife-habitat associations with respect to, for example, species distributions (Guisan and Thuiller 2005, Araújo and Guisan 2006, Elith and Leathwick 2009), biodiversity (Hansen et al. 2001, Fahrig 2003, Goetz et al. 2007), habitat use (Osborne et al. 2001, Lindenmayer et al. 2003, Mackenzie 2006) or resource selection (Gilles et al. 2006, Millspaugh et al. 2006, McLoughlin et al. 2010). For this research, ecologists make extensive use of data relating to habitat composition (e.g., Dickson and Beir 2002, Hebblewhite and Merril 2008) and habitat configuration (e.g., Ewers and Didham 2006, Vallecillo et al. 2008). As a result of the long recognized importance of scale in ecology (Turner et al. 1989, Wiens 1989, Jelinski and Wu 1996), there are numerous studies investigating the effect that aggregating thematic land cover or vegetation data to coarser scales (e.g., grains or resolutions) has on wildlife-habitat analyses (e.g., Karl et al. 2000, Betts et al. 2006, Li et al. 2006, Guisan et al. 2007, Stickler and Southworth 2008, Carter et al. 2010, Gottschalk et al. 2011, Song et al. 2013).

The aggregation of spatial ecological data to coarser grains is common for a number of reasons. For example, this may be necessary to match the resolution of other

variables used (e.g., Kie et al., 2002, Hamada et al. 2007, Roger et al., 2007, Enwright et al. 2011) or due to limitations in analysis and/or storage capabilities (Gao 1999; e.g., Twiss et al. 2001, Erdey-Heydorn 2008, Kimmerer et al. 2009, Semeniuk 2012). Although it is somewhat common practice, the aggregation of spatial data can change the outcome of statistical analyses and ultimately impact ecological inferences (Van Rensburg et al. 2002, Lawler et al. 2004, Lechner et al. 2012). Analytical results may be affected by the aggregation of data due to the loss of fine-scale detail (Clark and Avery 1976, Turner et al. 1989), or changes in the observed distribution or spatial pattern of phenomena (Bowyer et al. 1996, Rahbek 2005).

This potential impact of aggregation on data and the results of subsequent analysis is one component of the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP, Gehlke and Biehl, 1934, Openshaw, 1984). MAUP refers to the consequences of modifying the spatial units of areal data (e.g., size or configuration of units) on statistical analyses and inferences thereof. There are two main components to MAUP. The first components is the scale effect whereby the aggregation of data into increasingly larger spatial units may average out fine-scale detail thus changing data values such as variance (Jelinski and Wu 1996). The second component of MAUP is the zoning effect, which refers to the multitude of ways that spatial units can be delineated in space when holding scale constant. For example, Fortin (1999) found that the orientation of rectangular sampling quadrats (10m x 20m vs. 20m x 10m) changed the magnitude of spatial autocorrelation in woody plant species abundance. Both aspects of MAUP (scale and zoning) have the potential to alter results of statistical analyses using ecological data and more importantly the ultimate conclusions (Jelinski and Wu, 1996; Dark and Bram, 2007). The importance of topography in habitat use and selection has been demonstrated for many species such as bighorn sheep (*Ovis canadensis*) (Turner et al. 2004, Bangs et al 2005), mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*) (Long et al. 2009), wolves (*Canis lupus*) (Wittington et al. 2005), grizzly bears (*Ursus arctos*) (Mace et al. 1999, Apps et al. 2004) and cougars (Dickson et al.2005) and is frequently included in models assessing these relationships (e.g., Rupp and Rupp 2010, Apps and McLellan 2006, Jones et al. 2007, Chetkiewicz and Boyce 2009). Despite the role of topographic variability in habitat use of many species, this abiotic feature has been largely overlooked (although not completely) in terms of the effect of data aggregation on the results of habitat analyses. Studies that have in fact assessed the change in analytical results as a consequence of aggregating topographic data have found both a decreased performance in models of habitat suitability (Li et al. 2006, Song et al. 2013), as well as species distribution (Guisan et al. 2007).

The effect that aggregating data to coarser resolutions has on the values of a particular variable can vary across different landscapes. This variation can be a result of differences between landscapes in the heterogeneity, spatial patterns and spatial autocorrelation of the variable in question (Turner et al. 1989, Karl et al. 2000, Fisher and Tate 2006, Lin et al. 2008). In particular, when topographic data are aggregated to coarser resolutions, the magnitude of change in values (e.g. mean) of, for example, slope, has been shown to vary depending on the geographical area. There is typically a greater decrease in slope values at coarser resolutions in areas characterized by steeper or more rugged terrain compared to less rugged areas (Wolock and Price 1994, Zhang and Montgomery 1994, Gao 1997). Therefore, the observed impact of resolution in analyses

of wildlife-habitat associations may vary depending on the area (i.e., geographic location or extent) in which the change is assessed. The specific geographic location will be dependent on the location of the animal(s) in question. However, the extent of area analysed may vary depending on the analytical methods or method parameters chosen by the researcher. For example, investigations into habitat selection sometimes comprise of measuring habitat characteristics within buffers centered around each animal location (e.g., Rettie and Messier 2000, Apps et al. 2001) and the extent (e.g., km²) of each buffer will depend on the chosen buffer radius.

Wildlife-habitat associations are commonly investigated within the context of an animal's home range (e.g., Long et al. 2008, Carter et al. 2010, van Beest et al. 2010). There are a number of methods by which an animal's home range can be delineated including the Jenrich-Turner estimator (Jenrich and Turner 1969), the harmonic mean method (Dixon and Chapman 1980) or the minimum convex polygon (Mohr 1947). The use of another method, Kernel Density Estimation (KDE, Worton 1989), is advantageous because it is non-parametric, has the ability to produce less biased estimates of home range size (Worton 1995) and is capable of identifying multiple centers of activity (Kernohan et al. 2001). Due to the recognized benefits of KDE as well as its inclusion in numerous GIS analytical packages (e.g., Geospatial Modelling Environment, Beyer 2012; Home Range Tools, Rodgers et al. 2007), it is one of the most commonly used methods in home range analyses (Laver and Kelly 2008).

Within KDE, the size and shape of a home range is dependent, in part, on the bandwidth selected. The KDE method places a kernel over each recorded animal location (e.g., GPS location) and calculates the density of locations within each kernel,

the radius of which is determined by the chosen bandwidth. The average density of all overlapping kernels is then determined at each point on the estimation surface. This produces a Utilization Distribution (UD); a continuous three-dimensional surface that estimates the intensity or probability of use by an animal (Van Winkle 1975, Seaman and Powell 1996, Millspaugh et al. 2006). The outer bounds of a home range is then delineated based on a fixed percentage or volume contour of the UD, typically 95% (Laver and Kelly 2008). Researchers often make use of a variety of UD contours to either assess different delineations of a home range (e.g. Börger et al. 2006b) or those areas within the home range associated with higher levels of use (e.g., 50% core area; Webb et al. 2007, Hébert and Weladji 2013).

The bandwidth used in a KDE will determine the level of smoothing applied to the data which, in consequence, specifies the size and shape of an animal's home range or contours assessed within the home range (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Gitzen and Millspaugh 2003, Fieberg 2007). Fine-scale bandwidths (i.e., small bandwidths) cause nearby animal locations to have a stronger influence on the resulting KDE surface and can underestimate home range size (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001). Conversely, coarse-scale bandwidths (i.e., large bandwidths) assign a greater influence to distant animal locations. The net result is a smoothing of "peaks" and "valleys" of the distribution, thus providing a more general representation of an animal's UD (Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al 2001). Thus MAUP may arise in home range analyses that use KDE because the choice of bandwidth and contour will both determine the specific delineation (i.e. zoning) of and size (i.e. geographical extent) of the areas analysed and, as a result, determine the values of measured habitat features within these areas (Boyce et al. 2003, Borger et al. 2006a). In addition, since the effect of aggregating topographic habitat variables such as, for example, slope, can vary depending on the extent or geographic location of analyses (e.g., Wolock and Price 1994, Zhang and Montgomery 1994, Gao 1997), the choice of bandwidth or UD contour in KDE could potentially alter the effect of aggregation on variable values. In other words, the change that occurs in the values of habitat variables at coarser resolutions may vary when assessed within home ranges created using different bandwidths or UD contours.

The overall objective of this study was to determine the potential effect of MAUP on home range analyses in terms of the resolution at which variables are assessed and how the observed change in values varies with different delineations of home range outer bounds (i.e., bandwidths) and areas of higher use (i.e., contours). To meet this objective we used as a model system a population of northern woodland caribou (Rangifer *tarandus*) and assessed the changes in topographic summary statistics measured within each caribou's home range at different resolutions. Northern caribou are located throughout north central and western BC and utilize altitudinal migrations to subalpine and alpine habitats during calving and summer to avoid predation by wolves (Bergerud et al. 1984, Bergerud and Page 1987, Johnson et al. 2004). They use low elevation pine forests in winter to forage on lichens by cratering, especially on south facing slopes (Bergerud et al. 1984, Bergerud and Page 1987). Thus seasonal home range selection of northern caribou is, in part, driven by slope and elevation (Poole et. al. 2000, Culling et al. 2005, Gustine et al. 2006, DeCesare et al. 2012). Furthermore, because the temporal scale at which habitat analyses are conducted can affect the observed habitat use patterns

of caribou (Börger et al. 2006a, Basille et al. 2012, van Beest et al. 2013), our analyses also includes a seasonal component.

For our research we used high frequency GPS telemetry data from 13 northern woodland caribou of the Level Kawdy herd, BC to create seasonal home ranges coupled with topographic data from a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) to address the following specific questions:

- How do the values of topographic variables measured within the contours of each seasonal home range change at coarser resolutions (in terms of magnitude and direction) and is there more change at certain levels of aggregation?
- 2. How do the observed changes in topographic values at coarser resolutions vary between the contours of each seasonal home range and between seasonal home ranges?
- 3. How do the observed changes in topographic values with increasing resolution vary when different bandwidths are used to create seasonal home ranges?

We hypothesized that the aggregation of topographic data within the home ranges of northern caribou would result in the homogenization of both elevation and slope values (i.e. a decrease in variance), as well as a decrease in the mean of slope. We also hypothesized that due to changes in the size, shape and geographical area in which they are analysed, the degree to which values of elevation and slope change at coarser resolutions would vary depending on the bandwidth used to create each home range, as well as the contour or season in which they were assessed.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Caribou data

We used GPS telemetry data obtained from 13 northern woodland caribou of the Level Kawdy herd, British Columbia (58° N, 131° W) (Figure 4.1) equipped with ATS G2110E radio-collars (Advanced Telemetry Systems, ATS, Isanti, MN). The collars for these 13 caribou were deployed in October 2011 (eight caribou) and March 2012 (five caribou). The transmission rate of collars was one per day with the exception of a period between March 3rd-9th (2012) where transmission rate was five-six per day for eight of the caribou as identified in Table 4.1.

Caribou telemetry data were categorized into the following seasons: Winter, calving, summer, rut and fall. There are a variety of methods employed to separate caribou location data into seasons. For example, some investigators use pre-determined, somewhat arbitrary dates for each season (e.g., Poole et al. 2000, James et al. 2004, Said et al. 2005, Wittmer et al. 2007). However, these dates may vary between herds, between years within a particular herd and even between individuals within a herd (Hatler 1986, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2006). Therefore, delineation of seasons based on the data (e.g., individual movement, habitat use) is important when investigating animal space use, as incorrect or inappropriate division of temporal scale may affect observed patterns or inferences (Börger et al. 2006a. Basille et al. 2012, van Beest et al. 2013).

The dates of each season for individual caribou were determined based on distinct shifts in values of net displacement, elevation and slope. Net displacement is a measure of the distance of a particular recorded caribou location from a point of origin and has been used, for example, by some authors to aid in identifying seasons for wolves (Lesmerises et al. 2012), moose (Dettki and Ericsson 2008) and caribou (Courbin et al. 2009). The point of origin was the first recorded GPS location for each caribou. We plotted values of net displacement against time (Julian day) and overlaid the values of elevation and slope extracted at each caribou location from a 25m resolution Digital Elevation Model (DEM). Using these plots of net displacement and dates identified by other authors (e.g., Poole et al 2000, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2007) as guidelines we identified seasons for each caribou based on distinct shifts in location as coupled with distinct shifts in elevation and slope. Distinct shifts in location were identified as a sharp directional increase or decrease in values of net displacement. These distinct shifts were both preceded and followed by relatively stable values of net displacement and accompanied by a change in the range of elevations and/or slopes occupied by a caribou.

Selected season dates varied for each caribou (Table 4.1). We were not able to discern a calving season for two of the caribou (D030457 and D030465). Therefore, only four seasons were subsequently analyzed for these two caribou. In addition, we identified two separate winter locations for caribou D030468. All other caribou migrated to a well-defined wintering area between Dec 4th and Jan 19th where they remained until the spring whereupon they travelled to calving areas. However, D030468 migrated to its winter area on Dec 20th, remained there until Jan 24th, then traveled approximately 87 km to a secondary wintering grounds where it remained until spring. Therefore these two sets of winter locations for D030468 were analysed separately in all further analyses.

4.3.2 Kernel Density Estimation

4.3.2.1 Home range delineation

Utilization distributions and home ranges for each of the thirteen Level Kawdy caribou were produced using fixed kernel density estimation (Worton 1989) in the

ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI 2008) extension Home Range Tools (HRT, Rodgers et al. 2007). KDE is a non-parametric probability density function used to estimate an animal's home range or UD based on known locations of that animal. A kernel (probability density function) is placed over each observation (e.g., radio-telemetry location) and a density estimate for that location is then determined based on the average of the calculated densities that overlap at that point. The estimated probability density function, $\hat{f}_h(x)$ of an unknown UD is calculated using:

$$\widehat{f_h}(x) = \frac{1}{nh^2} \sum_{i=1}^n K\left[\frac{x - X_i}{h}\right]$$

where *n* is the number of locations, *K* is the kernel function used (e.g., bivariate normal/Guassian, Epanechnikov), *h* is the smoothing parameter or bandwidth of the kernel, *x* is the *x*, *y* location at which the estimate is calculated and *X* represents the *x*, *y* coordinates of the *n* locations in the dataset (Silverman 1986, Worton 1989, Seaman and Powell 1996, Kernohan et al. 2001).

To investigate the possible effect of home range size and shape on the impact of aggregating topographic data, we created three home ranges per caribou for each season using different proportions (1.0, 0.8, and 0.6) of the reference bandwidth (h_{ref}). We selected these as representative of the range of proportions of h_{ref} used in the literature (e.g., Bertrand et al. 1996, Kie et al. 2002, Berger and Gese 2007, Jaques et al. 2009). The reference method selects a bandwidth based on sample size and the standard deviation of each observed x,y location (Worton 1989, Gitzen 2006):

$$h_{ref} = n^{-1/6} \sqrt{\frac{s_x^2 + s_y^2}{2}}$$

where s_x^2 and s_y^2 are estimates of the variances of the point locations in the x and y direction respectively (Worton 1995). As a result, h_{ref} is appropriate if data are unimodal (i.e., have one center of activity) and are normally distributed in bivariate space (Worton 1989, 1995). However, animal location data are typically not normally distributed (Blundell et al. 2001, Downs and Horner 2008, Kie et al. 2010) and often have multiple modes (centers of activity) (Seaman and Powell 1996, Seaman et al. 1999, Börger et al. 2008). In these cases, h_{ref} tends to produce a bandwidth value that is too large and oversmoothes the data (Kie et al. 2010), in which case using a proportion of the reference bandwidth (scaled- h_{ref}) will sometimes be recommended (Rodgers et al. 2011) as it can produce less biased estimates of home range size (Worton 1995).

The number of locations used to create each seasonal home range ranged from 16 to 168 (Table 4.1). This number was occasionally lower (see Table 4.1) than that recommended by Seaman et al. (1999) (minimum 30, > 50 preferred) and Girard et al. (2002) (30-100 for seasonal home ranges). This discrepancy was due to a collar transmission rate of one per day and the inherently short nature of certain seasons (e.g., calving). Although not all caribou seasonal home ranges met the recommended minimum number of locations indicated above, they did meet the minimum of one location per day as recommended by Girard et al. (2002). In addition, despite the presence of spatial autocorrelation in the seasonal subsets of location data for our caribou, as indicated by values of the Swihart and Slade index (Swihart and Slade 1985a) > 0.6, and Schoener index (Schoener 1981) >2.4 or <1.6 (Swihart and Slade 1985b, Rogers and Kie 2011), all recorded locations were used as recommended by De Solla et al. (1999), Blundell et al. (2001) and Fieberg (2007). The Rut home range produced for D030470

using h_{ref} was approximately 3.3km² and was deemed too small to assess the impact of changing resolution and thus was not included in any further analyses

4.3.2.2 Contour delineation

To investigate the effect of contour selection on changes in values of slope and elevation with increasing resolution, four contours were delineated within each home range: The 25, 50, 75 and 95% volume contours of the UD. The 50 and 95% contours were selected based on their common use in the home range literature (as discussed previously), and the 25 and 75% contours were selected as (roughly) logical mid-points between the other two contours. All subsequent values and change in values of slope and elevation were calculated within the context of each of the four contours of a home range.

4.3.3 Topographic data

To assess the effect of resolution on measured values of slope and elevation within each seasonal contour we used a 25m Digital Elevation Model (DEM) and aggregated it to three additional resolutions (75, 125, and 175m) using bilinear interpolation. This method assigns the new, coarser-resolution cell, a value based on the weighted average of the nearest four cells (Wu et al. 2005). This resampling method was selected over other methods, such as nearest neighbour and cubic convolution, as it is commonly used (e.g., Chaubey et al. 2005, Descleé et. al. 2006, Bader and Ruijten 2008, Kerns et al. 2009) and because the specific method used has less impact than the act of resampling itself (Rees 2000, Wu et al. 2005, 2008). Slope (%) values were calculated at each resolution (i.e., they were not calculated at the original 25m DEM and then resampled to coarser resolutions) in the spatial analyst extension of ArcGIS 9.3 (ESRI 2008). We then calculated the summary statistics, namely the mean (\bar{x}), standard deviation (SD), and coefficient of variation (CV) of slope and elevation, within each of the four contours of all home ranges at each DEM resolution.

4.3.4 Data analysis

4.3.4.1 Magnitude and direction of change

All statistical analyses were performed in SPSS (IBM 2013). We used pairwise multiple comparisons to determine whether the \bar{x} of elevation or slope within each seasonal contour was significantly different (p<0.05) at each successive increase in DEM resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m). Pairwise comparisons were conducted using either the Games-Howell (Games and Howell 1976) or Tukey-Kramer (Tukey 1953, Kramer 1956). The Games-Howell method is recommended in unbalanced designs (i.e., unequal sample sizes between groups) when variances are unequal (Keselman and Rogan 1978, Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002, Ruxton and Beauchamp 2008). However, in unbalanced designs when variances are equal, the Games-Howell method can inflate the Family-Wise Error Rate (Rafter et al. 2002) and be less powerful than the Tukey-Kramer method (Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002), which is the recommended alternative in these cases (Dunnett 1980a, Hayter 1984, Rafter et al. 2002).

Values of elevation and slope within each contour were not normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test p<0.05). However, transformations were not applied to the data for two reasons. Firstly, both pairwise comparison methods (Games-Howell and Tukey-Kramer) use the studentized range distribution and are robust to non-normal data (Petrinovich and Hardyck 1969, Ramseyer and Tcheng 1973, Jaccard et al. 1984). Secondly, if the mean-variance relationship is not maintained after a transformation is applied, this can inflate type I error rate (McArdle and Anderson 2004). Variance

homogeneity was assessed using the Brown-Forsythe (1974) modification of Levene's test (Lev_{med}), which uses the median instead of the mean of the data and is more robust when data are non-normal (Conover et al. 1981, Day and Quinn 1989). When results of Lev_{med} indicated variances were homogeneous, the Tukey-Kramer pairwise comparison method was used, otherwise the Games-Howell procedure was used.

Of all of the results of the above pairwise comparisons, it was those that indicated a significant difference (p<0.05) in \bar{x} elevation or slope between resolutions that were then used to calculate the mean change in \bar{x} ($\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$), SD ($\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$), and CV ($\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$) for each combination of season, bandwidth and contour. In other words, we determined for each seasonal contour, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of elevation and slope at the three increases in resolution at each of the three bandwidths. The \bar{x} change in values of elevation and slope for each scenario were then used (as detailed in the following section) to assess how the change in elevation and slope values differed between seasons, contours, KDE bandwidths and at each increase in resolution.

To assess whether values of elevation and slope were consistently higher or lower within a particular contour/season at each increase in resolution (i.e., direction of change) we used the Exact Binomial Test of Proportions. This test is recommended for use specifically in the analysis of 2 x 1 contingency tables with small (<100) sample sizes (Richardson 1994). Also, because sample sizes were small (in our case ≤ 14) we used the exact form of this test, whereby *p* values are not estimated asymptotically but are instead calculated based on the exact distribution of the test statistic (Mehta and Patel 2011). All further analyses (see below) were performed on the absolute and/or directional values of $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$. However, directional \bar{x}_{Δ} values for a particular contour/season were only assessed in further analyses if the binomial test of proportions indicated a significantly higher proportion of change in one direction (p<0.05).

4.3.4.2 Pairwise comparisons of descriptive metrics

The $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ (hereafter referred to as the descriptive metrics when discussing all three) of each combination of contour, season and bandwidth at each increase in resolution were used to further explore the effects of:

- 4. *Contour choice*: We compared the descriptive metrics of elevation and slope between the contours within each season.
- 5. *KDE bandwidth*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation within each contour/season between each of the three bandwidths used to create home ranges.
- 6. *Specific change in resolution*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation within a contour/season/bandwidth between each successive increase in resolution.
- 7. *Season*: We compared the descriptive metrics of slope and elevation within each contour/bandwidth/change in resolution between each of the five seasons (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).

All comparisons of $\bar{x}_{\Delta\bar{x}}$, $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ were performed using either the Tukey-Kramer, Games-Howell or T3 procedures for pairwise multiple comparisons. Normality of the descriptive metrics was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality (Shapiro and Wilk 1965). Homogeneity of variances was tested using either the Levene's (Lev_{mean}; Levene 1960) or the Brown-Forsythe (1974) modification of Levene's test (Lev_{med}). The Lev_{med} method is appropriate for samples with non-normal distributions,

although it has a reduced power (higher Type II error rates) if distributions are in fact normal (O'Brien 1978, Games et al. 1979). This exception is especially notable with smaller sample sizes. In the instances where the distribution of both samples were in fact normal (Shapiro-Wilk, p < 0.05), the Lev_{mean} method of testing variance homogeneity was used. If the results of the Lev_{mean} or Lev_{med} tests indicated variances were homogeneous, the Tukey-Kramer pairwise comparison method was used, otherwise the Games-Howell method was used. In cases where variance homogeneity could not be accurately assessed due to small sample sizes or differences in the distribution of each sample (i.e., one normally distributed and the other not), Dunnett's (1980b) modification (T3) of Tamhane's (1979) pairwise comparison procedure was used. Similar to the GH method, the T3 method can be used when variances are not homogeneous, but is typically considered to be less powerful than the GH method (Rafter et al. 2002). Although it is less powerful than the GH method, the T3 method has not been found to have the same inflated Type I error rate in cases where variances are in fact homogeneous (Jaccard et al. 1984, Rafter et al. 2002).

4.4 Results

At each increase in resolution, the changes in topographic values within a contour/season were assessed at each of the three bandwidths used in KDE. Results (i.e., the change in values) obtained at each bandwidth were compared and no significant differences were found (p>0.05). For example, as resolution increased from 25 to 75m, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ of elevation in the 50% contour of summer was not significantly different when home ranges were created using h_{ref} , $0.8h_{ref}$ or $0.6h_{ref}$. However, the results of other comparisons (e.g., comparisons of the descriptive metrics between contours of a season)

were not consistent at each of the three bandwidths used. Therefore, to illustrate our findings in this section, we are reporting the results for the largest bandwidth at which significant results were found. More detailed numerical results of pairwise comparisons are presented in Tables D.1-D.4 (Appendix D). These tables include, for example, the 95% confidence intervals of pairwise comparisons, as well as the bandwidths at which significant results were found.

4.4.1 Range and direction of change in topographic variables

As resolution increased, there was little change in values of elevation and no significant differences were found (p>0.05), whereas conversely, slope changed significantly (p < 0.05). Within each contour/season, both the \bar{x} and SD of slope were lower at coarser resolutions, whereas CV of slope both increased and decreased (Table 3.2). The descriptive metrics of slope varied by contour and season, as well as by the specific change in resolution (as detailed below) of up to a maximum of 6.1%, 4.7% and 0.28 for the \bar{x} , SD and CV respectively (Table 4.2). There was also a significant difference in the proportion (p) of caribou's home ranges that showed a decrease/increase in CV. For some seasonal contours there was a higher proportion of home ranges that experienced a decrease in CV at coarser resolutions (p < 0.05, figure 4.2). This occurred, for example, for all contours of the rut (p = 0.85-1.0) and summer (p = 0.85-1.0), the 25, 50 and 75% contours of the calving (p = 0.90-1.0) and winter (p = 0.85-1.0) ranges, and the outer two contours of the fall (p = 0.85-1.0). The trend in decreasing values of CV within a particular contour/season was not always consistent at each bandwidth (h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} , 0.6 h_{ref}) or specific change in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m) (Figure 3.2).

4.4.2 Difference between changes in resolution

To determine whether there was a greater amount of change in values of slope at a particular resolution we compared the descriptive metrics of slope within the contours of each season between each successive change in resolution (i.e., 25-75m vs. 75-125m and 75-125m vs. 125-175m). The $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of slope did not differ significantly between successive changes in resolution for any contour/season (p>0.05). However, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ were both significantly different between each successive change in resolution within the fall, winter and rut (\bar{x} only) ranges (Figures 3.3 and 3.4) (p<0.05).

4.4.3 Difference between contours

The effect of increasing resolution on the \bar{x} , SD and CV of slope was significantly different between contours of the fall and rut home ranges (p<0.05) when resolution increased from 75-125m and 125m-175m (figure 3.5). In the fall ranges, $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ were higher in the 95 and/or 75% contours relative to one or both of the two inner contours (depending on the bandwidth and specific change in resolution). In the 25% contour of the rut home ranges, $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ was lower relative to the 95% contour and $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ was lower relative to both the 75 and 95% contours. The $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ of slope was higher in the 25% contour relative to the 75% contour in the fall home ranges at h_{ref} only.

4.4.4 Difference between seasons

As resolution increased, the descriptive metrics of slope were greater within certain seasons relative to others (p<0.05) (Figure 3.6). However, this varied depending on the specific contour, change in resolution and bandwidth. The $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ of slope was higher in the contours of the calving and summer home ranges relative to other seasons. Differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ between seasons typically occurred at the initial increase in resolution (from 25 to 75m). In other words, the magnitude of change in slope was, in general, not significantly different between seasons past the initial change in resolution. The exception to this was the $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ in the 95% contour of the calving season, which was higher relative to winter, at the second increase in resolution (75-125m).

Differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ between seasons were found at each increase in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m), and, similar to changes in \bar{x} slope, were frequently higher in contours of the calving and summer home ranges (77% of all differences between seasons) (p<0.05). The $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$ was lower in the 95% contour of the winter ranges relative to all other seasons, at one or more increase in resolution.

Significant differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta,CV}$ between seasons occurred at the initial (25-75m) and last (125-175m) increases in resolution and were more varied (in terms of which seasons had higher $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$) compared to $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ and $\bar{x}_{\Delta SD}$. For example, in the 25% contour of the winter ranges, $\bar{x}_{\Delta,CV}$ was higher relative to summer at the initial increase in resolution, (0.8 h_{ref} and 0.6 h_{ref}) but lower than fall at the last increase in resolution (h_{ref}). In addition, the $\bar{x}_{\Delta,CV}$ in the winter ranges was higher compared to the 75% contour of the calving ranges (0.8 h_{ref}) but lower than the fall and rut ranges in the 25% (h_{ref}) and 95% (h_{ref}) contours respectively.

Differences in the descriptive metrics between seasons varied depending on bandwidth. For example, significant differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta \bar{x}}$ between seasons were frequently found at all bandwidths in the 95% contour, at the smallest bandwidth (0.6 h_{ref}) within the 25% contour, and had no consistent pattern within the 75% contour, whereas differences in $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ between seasons were found only at h_{ref} within the 95% contour and 0.8 h_{ref} within the 75% contour.

4.5 Discussion

Studies of wildlife habitat use or habitat selection often use home range analyses (e.g. Dickson and Beier 2002, Ciarniello et al. 2007, Wittmer et al. 2007). The aggregation of habitat data used in these analyses (e.g., to coarser resolutions) can potentially alter the outcome of statistical analyses and thus ecological (Boyce 2006, Meyer and Thuiller 2006). A major issue of scale in many studies where there is aggregation of spatial data has been described as the Modifiable areal Unit Problem (Gehlke and Biehl 1934, Openshaw 1984). In the last 15 years or so, the role of MAUP has been investigated in studies of wildlife habitat interactions especially in terms of using thematic land cover data to determine the effect of resolution on model performance (e.g., Karl et al. 2000, Betts et al. 2006, Li et al. 2006, Guisan et al. 2007, Stickler and Southworth 2008, Carter et al. 2010, Gottschalk et al. 2011, Song et al. 2013). However, the potential for the resolution of topographic data in studies of habitat use or selection has received little attention despite its relative importance for certain species. For example, Bowyer et al. (1998) found that neonate black-tailed deer (Odocoileus hemionus columbianus) avoided areas with a high degree of terrain ruggedness (a combined measure of SD of slope and aspect). Similarly, Dickson et al. (2005) found that cougar (Puma concolor) movement paths were generally along areas with gentler slopes relative to what was available in the landscape.

We examined the issue of aggregating slope and elevation habitat data in the construction of woodland caribou home ranges (Poole et al. 2000, Culling et al. 2005, Gustine et al. 2006, Jones et al. 2007). Our specific objectives were to determine how aggregating topographic data to coarser resolutions changed the summary statistics of elevation and slope within the home ranges of 13 northern woodland caribou and how

these observed changes varied with the use of different bandwidths and UD contours. Home ranges were created using the commonly employed Kernel Density Estimation (Laver and Kelly 2008). The degree to which aggregation changes the values or spatial pattern of a variable is, in part, dependent on the characteristics of the landscape in which changes are assessed (Fisher and Tate 2006, Lin et al. 2008). In KDE, the choice of bandwidth and volume contour determines the size and shape of the home range and thus determines the habitat characteristics found within each analysis unit (i.e. home range). What follows is the discussion of our major findings in terms of the magnitude and direction of change in slope and elevation values, and how the observed changes differed between each increase in resolution and the four contours within and between each season.

4.5.1 Change in slope and elevation

Understanding the degree to which aggregating data to coarser resolutions affects the observed values and spatial patterns of said data is critical to understanding the potential impact on subsequent analyses. For example, land cover/thematic data are often aggregated and, consequently, rare or small habitat classes are often "lost" (Turner et al. 1989, Gottschalk et al. 2011). Researchers may therefore fail to detect associations between a particular species and the use of those rare habitat types (Gottschalk et al. 2011). Within our study, the mean and SD of slope both decreased at coarser resolutions for all contours/seasons. This indicates homogenization of slope within the home ranges of northern woodland caribou and thus suggesting caribou are occupying areas with lower slope values. This observed homogenization of slope summary statistics within the contours of caribou home ranges has the potential to alter the results of habitat analyses by decreasing the relative importance of, and/or apparent selection for, steeper slopes or more variable terrain (e.g., Boyce et al. 2003).

We did not find significant changes in elevation within the contours of northern caribou seasonal home ranges with increasing resolution. By comparison, Usery et al. (2004) resampled a DEM to seven resolutions ranging from 30m to 1920m and tested the correlation between the coarser resolution data and the original 30m data. They found a continual decrease in the correlation between the elevation values at 30m and coarser resolutions (2004). Other studies that have included elevation as a variable of interest in models of, for example, habitat suitability or species distribution, found changes in model performance (Li et al. 2006, Song et al. 2013) and the relative importance of elevation at coarser resolutions (Li et al. 2006).

4.5.2 Differences in observed change with increasing resolution

Changes in variable values when data are aggregated to coarser resolution may not follow a consistent linear pattern with each level of aggregation. Depending on the specific variable and the landscape, the observed difference in values and hence spatial pattern may be more pronounced when data are aggregated within a certain range of resolutions (Wu et al. 2008, Lin et al. 2008, Wiens 1989). This has been observed in a number of studies investigating the effect of aggregation of, for example, topographic variables (e.g., Wu et al. 2005, 2008, Deng et al. 2007), metrics of landscape structure (e.g., Wu et al. 2002, Shen et al. 2004, Wu 2004), and measures of spatial autocorrelation (e.g., Qi and Wu 1996). These studies found that most of the change in variable values occurred within a limited range of the resolutions examined (e.g., typically at the first few aggregation levels). Our findings are in agreement with those of, for example, Wu et al. (2005) and Deng et al. (2007), in that there was less change in slope values with each successive increase in resolution. However, statistically significant differences in the amount of change between each increase in resolution were only found for the mean and SD of slope in contours of the fall, rut and winter ranges.

The change that occurs, or the variability observed, in values at a particular scale is dependent on how the scale of observation (e.g., resolution) matches the spatial pattern of the phenomena being measured (Wiens 1989, Atkinson and Curran 1997). The resolutions at which a large or conversely little degree of change occurs can vary depending on the variable of interest, as well as landscape in which it is measured (e.g., Marceau et al. 1994, Gao 1997, Marceau and Hay 1999, Lin et al. 2008). The fall, rut and especially winter home ranges of northern caribou are characterized by lower elevations and slopes relative to summer and calving (Culling et al. 2005), as was the case, in terms of the \bar{x} and SD of slope, in the home ranges of the Level Kawdy caribou (Table A.3, Appendix A). The initial increase in resolution (25-75m) in these seasons (fall, winter and rut) may have averaged out most of the variability in slope and as a result subsequent increases in resolution resulted in significantly less change in slope values. The detection of selection for these areas within the greater landscape (e.g., 2nd order selection *sensu* Johnson 1980) is partially dependent on differences in the variability between areas considered to be used (the home range) and available (the greater landscape) to the animal (Boyce 2003, Ciarniello et al. 2007). The homogenization of slope values within these ranges (thus a reduction in slope variability) could potentially increase apparent selection (2nd order) for lower slopes during these seasons. In addition, because a significantly higher amount of variability was lost at the

initial increase in resolution (25 - 75m), this indicates that the effect of aggregating data on selection analyses may be most pronounced when DEM resolution is aggregated, for example, from 25 to 75m. Thus a further aggregation of data (i.e., to resolutions coarser than 75 or 125m) may see little change in the degree of selection by caribou for lower slopes in the fall, winter and rut seasons.

4.5.3 Differences in observed change between contours and seasons

The effect of changing resolution is known to vary between landscapes as a result of inherent heterogeneity (Theobald 1989, Karl et al.2000, Fisher and Tate 2006, Lin et al. 2008, Guo et al. 2010). The aggregation of DEM resolution on values of slope in particular has been shown to vary depending on the variability in topography. For example, a number of studies have found that when aggregating DEMs to coarser resolutions there is typically a greater amount of change in slope values in areas characterized by steeper or more variable slopes (e.g., Deng et al. 2007, Wu et al. 2008). In the home ranges of the Level Kawdy caribou, the change in mean and SD of slope was typically higher in contours of calving and summer seasons (74% of all differences between seasons) and lower in the winter and rut home ranges (68% of all differences between seasons). The greater amount of change in slope in certain seasons may be the result of differences in the variability of slope within each of these regions.

In the winter, northern mountain caribou select regions characterized by contiguous tracts of mature forest located in low elevation areas with only moderate-togentle slopes (Wood 1996, Jones et al. 2007, Culling et al. 2005). Conversely, in the calving and summer seasons, northern caribou make use of areas with higher elevations and steeper slopes (Wood 1996, Bergerud et al. 1984, Gustine et al. 2006, Culling et al. 2005). The mean and SD of slope in the winter home ranges caribou in this study were significantly lower compared to slope values in the contours of the calving and summer (Table A.3, Appendix A). Thus, differences in the topographic variability between seasonal home ranges potentially led to the differences observed in the change in slope values with increasing resolution.

The variation between seasons (in terms of changes in slope at coarser resolutions) could result in seasonal differences in the effect of aggregation on habitat selection analyses. As discussed previously, identifying selection for certain habitat features is dependent on the relative variability of those areas considered used and available to an animal (Boyce 2003, Ciarniello et al. 2007). Therefore, the effect of aggregating DEM resolution on the outcome of habitat selection analyses of woodland caribou may be greater (i.e., result in more change in the degree of apparent selection) within those seasons where the change in slope values was higher (e.g., calving and summer). Furthermore, compounding this effect could be the higher importance of, or selection for, certain slopes in specific seasons. For example, in the calving season, higher elevations and steeper slopes are used as a predator avoidance tactic (Bergerud and Paige 1987, Gustine et al. 2006) or, in winter, when snow pack and forage availability are inextricably linked to the use of different elevations and slopes (Wood 1996, Jones et al. 2007). Other studies assessing the impact of resolution in resource selection analyses have found a greater impact in terms of changes in model performance for individuals that exhibit a higher degree of selectivity or have more specific habitat requirements (Carter et al. 2010, Gottschalk et al. 2011). For example, Gottschalk et al. (2011) found that while increasing habitat variable resolution led to a decrease in bird

species-habitat model performance, and even more so for birds classified as specialist species.

4.5.4 Effect of bandwidth

The effect of aggregating the resolution of data can vary depending on the extent (i.e., area) at which analyses are performed. For example, Cai and Wang (2006) found that the change in the spatial autocorrelation of a topographic index (a measure of flow accumulation) with increasing DEM resolution varied depending on the spatial extent examined. Furthermore, Bar-Massada et al. (2012) found a complex interaction between avian species richness and landscape pattern metrics when they altered both the grain and extent of analysis. As a result of using different bandwidths in KDE, we expected that the change in home range size (and, hence, also contour size) would change the observed impact of aggregating resolution in the contours of each season. However, this was not the case as the observed changes in slope values within the contours of each season were not significantly different between each of the three bandwidths. Despite this, other comparisons of the change in slope values with increasing resolution, for example, between seasons or between contours, did vary depending on the specific bandwidth at which they were examined. Therefore, while the bandwidth used (e.g., h_{ref}) did not significantly change the effect of resolution within each combination of contour and season, it did have enough of an impact to alter the relative difference in observed change between different areas (seasons or contours). For example, relative to other seasons, the decrease in mean and SD of slope was significantly higher in the contours of the calving season but generally only at 0.8 and/or $0.6h_{ref}$. Therefore, when smaller bandwidths are examined, the calving ranges may see more of an impact when habitat selection analyses

are done using coarser resolutions, whereas when larger bandwidths are used, the effect of aggregating topographic data on selection analyses may be more consistent for each season.

4.6 Conclusions

We sought to determine how aggregating the resolution of a DEM changed the values of slope and elevation measured within the seasonal home ranges of northern woodland caribou. The values of slope changed significantly when the original 25m DEM was aggregated to coarser resolutions. Conversely, no differences were found in the values of elevation at coarser resolutions, although this may have been the result of the methods used to detect change (e.g., pairwise comparisons of mean elevation). Further analyses should be conducted not only to identify how resolution affects the values of slope and elevation in other ways (i.e., not solely the mean, SD and CV), but also to identify if and how the change in values, variance and spatial distribution patterns of slope and elevation within caribou home ranges ultimately affect analyses of habitat use. A decrease in variability of habitat values can change the outcome of resource selection analyses (Boyce et al. 2003, Gottschalk et al. 2011), thus the homogenization of slope values in the home ranges of northern caribou has the potential to reduce the apparent selection of an animal for that variable. Further investigations should also be able to assess whether the level of homogenization of slope values observed in the northern caribou home ranges in this study is enough to significantly affect analyses of habitat use.

The differences found between seasons, as well as within seasons between different contours, are likely due to variations in topography between areas (in terms of variance, slope gradients, heterogeneity etc...). This seasonal variation in topography within home ranges of caribou can vary between different herds and even within a herd between individuals or years (Hatler 1986, Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2006). Assessing the effect of resolution on topography in the home ranges of northern caribou would therefore benefit from the inclusion of data from other herds, as well as analysis over multiple years.



Figure 4.1 Ranges of northern woodland caribou herds (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in western Canada. (reproduced from: Environment Canada, 2012)
	Season														
	Winter			Calving			Summe	er		Rut			Fall		
Caribou	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n	Start	End	n
D030452	Dec 27	May 4	119	May 23	Jun 15	23	Jul 5	Sep 11	69	Sep 12	Oct 24	41	Oct 25	Dec12	49
D030453	Dec 13	Apr 30	168	May 24	Jul 11	46	Jul 12	Sep 9	59	Sep 11	Oct 10	29	Oct 21	Dec25	66
D030457	Dec 23	Apr 10	142	n/a	n/a	n/a	May 22	Sep 6	104	Sep 14	Oct 20	37	Oct 21	Dec 12	53
D030460	Dec 27	Apr 16	90	May 24	July 1	39	Jul 2	Aug 22	52	Sep 12	Oct 22	41	Oct 23	Dec3	42
D030461	Jan 11	Apr 18	131	May 27	Jun 24	26	Jun 26	Sep 5	72	Sep 6	Oct 20	44	Oct 22	Dec7	47
D030462	Jan 17	Apr 24	130	May 22	Jul 6	46	Jul 17	Aug 26	39	Aug 27	Oct 19	53	Oct 21	Dec 5	44
D030464	Dec 20	Apr 28	164	May 27	Jul 11	46	Jul 22	Sep 11	52	Sep 12	Oct 22	38	Oct 23	Dec20	59
D030465	Jan 12	Apr 27	133	n/a	n/a	n/a	May 30	Sep 11	103	Sep 15	Oct 11	27	Oct 12	Dec7	57
D030466	Dec 28	May 10	130	May 30	Jun 25	27	Jun 26	Sep 13	77	Sep 14	Oct 16	33	Oct 17	Dec 10	53
D030468	Dec 21	Jan 24	36	May 13	Jun 16	35	Jun 18	Aug 25	69	Sep 7	Oct 17	39	Oct 18	Dec 13	55
	Feb 3	Apr 21	75												
D030470	Jan 19	Apr 28	101	May 24	Jun 8	16	Jun 10	Aug 11	61	Aug 12	Oct 25	70	Oct 26	Nov 27	33
D030471	Dec 23	Apr 16	148	May 22	Jul 9	35	Jul 13	Aug 29	31	Sep 7	Oct 22	32	Nov 10	Dec 6	26
D030490	Dec 4	May 5	148	May 21	Jun 17	28	Jul 3	Sep 10	67	Sep 15	Oct 20	36	Oct 21	Nov 24	35

 Table 4.1 Selected season dates for each caribou and sample sizes used to create seasonal home ranges.

Table 4.2 Range of descriptive metrics and maximum observed change in values of slope with increasing resolution (25-75m, 75-125mand 125-175m). Absolute as well as directional changes in CV of slope are provided, as CV is the only variable which bothincreased and decreased at coarser resolutions.

		Increase in Resolution																
		25	- 75r	n			75 – 125m						125 – 175m					
Slope Variable	Direction of Change	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$ (±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$	(±SD)	max	$\overline{x}_{\Delta low}$	(±SD)	-	$\overline{x}_{\Delta high}$ (±SD)	max	
Mean	Decrease	1.1 (0.4)	-	2.4	(0.4)	5.1	0.5	(0.3)	-	1.5	(1.8)	6.1	0.2	(0.03)	-	1.4 (1.0)	2.2	
SD	Decrease	1.1 (0.5)	-	2.1	(0.6)	4.7	0.6	(0.4)	-	1.8	(1.2)	4.0	0.2	(0.1)	-	1.2 (0.9)	4.2	
cv	Absolute Decrease Increase	0.02 (0.02) 0.02 (0.01) 0.01 (0.01)	- - -	0.09 0.10 0.07	(0.08) (0.08) (0.02)	0.22 0.22 0.14	0.02 0.02 0.01	(0.01) (0.01) (<0.01)	- -	0.06 0.06 0.04	(0.10) (0.10) (0.04)	0.28 0.28 0.08	0.01 0.01 <0.01	(0.01) (0.01) (<0.01)	- -	0.08 (0.03) 0.08 (0.03) 0.04 (0.07)	0.15 0.11 0.15	



Figure 4.2 Proportion of increases vs. decreases in CV of slope with each change in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m) in the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Letters (a-f) indicate significant difference in proportions (exact binomial test of proportions, p<0.05) at one or more of the bandwidths examined $(h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref}, and/or 0.6h_{ref})$.

Proportions significantly different at:

- a = all bandwidths.
- $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{h}_{ref}$ and 0.6 \mathbf{h}_{ref}
- $c=0.8\ h_{ref}$ and 0.6 h_{ref}
- $\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{ref}}$
- $e = 0.8 h_{ref}$
- $f = 0.6 h_{ref}$



Figure 4.3 Statistically significant pairwise differences (p < 0.05) in $\overline{x}_{\Delta \overline{x}}$ of slope with increasing resolution (25-75m vs. 75-125m, and 75-125m vs. 125-175m) within each contour (25, 50, 75 and 95) and seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).



Figure 4.4 Statistically significant pairwise differences (p < 0.05) $\overline{x}_{\Delta SD}$ of slope with increasing resolution (25-75m vs. 75-125m, and 75-125m vs. 125-175m) within each contour (25, 50, 75 and 95) and seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall).



Figure 4.5 Significant pairwise differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) of each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each increase in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m). Lightest grey represents the contours in which descriptive metrics of slope were lowest. Note, $\bar{x}_{\Delta CV}$ are the absolute values of differences.



Figure 4.6 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope within each of the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) between each of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Lightest grey represents the contours in which descriptive metrics of slope were lowest. Note, $\overline{x}_{\Delta CV}$ are the absolute values of differences.

- Apps, C. D., B. N. McLellan, T. A. Kinley, and J. P. Flaa. 2001. Scale-dependent habitat selection by mountain caribou, Columbia Mountains, British Columbia. The Journal of wildlife management 65:65–77.
- Apps, C. D., B. N. McLellan, J. G. Woods, and M. F. Proctor. 2004. Estimating grizzly bear distribution and abundance relative to habitat and human influence. Journal of Wildlife Management 68:138–152.
- Apps, C. D., and B. N. McLellan. 2006. Factors influencing the dispersion and fragmentation of endangered mountain caribou populations. Biological Conservation 130:84–97.
- Araújo, M. B., and A. Guisan. 2006. Five (or so) challenges for species distribution modelling. Journal of Biogeography 33:1677–1688.
- Atkinson, P.M. and P.J. Curran. 1997. Choosing an appropriate spatial resolution for remote sensing investigations. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing 63:1345-1351.
- Bader, M.Y. and J.J.A. Ruijten. 2008. A topography-based model of forest cover at the alpine tree line in the tropical Andes. Journal of Biogeography 35:711-723.
- Bangs, P. D., P. R. Krausman, K. E. Kunkel, and Z. D. Parsons. 2005. Habitat use by female desert bighorn sheep in the Fra Cristobal Mountains, New Mexico, USA. European Journal of Wildlife Research 51:77–83.
- Bar-Massada, A., E. M. Wood, A. M. Pidgeon, and V. C. Radeloff. 2012. Complex effects of scale on the relationships of landscape pattern versus avian species richness and community structure in a woodland savanna mosaic. Ecography 35:393–411.

- Basille, M., D. Fortin, C. Dussault, J.-P. Ouellet and R. Courtois. 2012. Ecologically based definitions of seasons clarifies predator-prey interactions. Ecography 36: 220-229.
- Berger, K.M. and E.M. Gese. 2007. Does interference competition with wolves limit the distribution and abundance of coyotes. Journal of Animal Ecology 76: 1075-1085.
- Bertrand, M.R., A.J. DeNicola, S.R. Beissinger and R.K. Swihart. 1996. Effects of parturition on home ranges and social affiliations of female white-tailed deer. The Journal of Wildlife Management 60: 899-909.
- Bergurud, A.T., H.E. Butler and R.D. Miller. 1984. Antipredator tactics of calving caribou: dispersion in mountains. Canadian Journal of Zoolgy 62:1566-1575.
- Bergerud, A.T. and R.E. Page. 1987. Displacement and dispersion of parturient caribou at calving as antipredator tactics. Canadian Journal of Zoology 65: 1597-1606.
- Betts, M. G., A. W. Diamond, G. J. Forbes, M.-A. Villard, and J. S. Gunn. 2006. The importance of spatial autocorrelation, extent and resolution in predicting forest bird occurrence. Ecological Modelling 191:197–224.
- Beyer, H.L. 2012. Geospatial modelling environment. Version 0.7.2.0. http://spatialecology.com/gme
- Blundell, G.M., J.A.K. Maier and E.M. Debevec. 2001. Linear home ranges: effects of smoothing, sample size, and autocorrelation on kernel estimates. Ecological Monographs 71: 469-489.
- Börger, L., N. Franconi, F. Ferretti and F. Meschi. 2006a. An integrated approach to identify spatiotemporal and individual-level determinants of animal home range size. The American Naturalist 168: 471-485.

- Börger, L., N. Franconi, G. De Michele, A. Gantz, F. Meschi, A. Manica, S. Lovari, and T. Coulson. 2006b. Effects of sampling regime on the mean and variance of home range size estimates. Journal of Animal Ecology 75:1393–1405.
- Börger, L., B.D. Dalziel and J.M. Fryxell. 2008. Are there general mechanisms of animal home range behaviour? A review and prospectus for future research. Ecology Letters 11: 637-650.
- Bowyer, R. T., J. G. Kie, and V. V. Ballenberghe. 1996. Sexual segregation in blacktailed deer: Effects of scale. The Journal of Wildlife Management 60:10.
- Bowyer, R. T., J. G. Kie and V. van Ballenberghe. 1998. Habitat selection by neonatal black-tailed deer: climate, forage or risk of predation? Journal of Mammology 79:415-425.
- Boyce, M. S. 2006. Scale for resource selection functions. Diversity and Distributions 12:269–276.
- Boyce, M.S., J.S. Mao, E.H. Merrill, D. Fortin, M.G. Turner, J. Fryxell and P. Turchin. 2003. Scale and heterogeneity in habitat selection by elk in Yellowstone National Park 10:421-431.
- Brown, M.B. and A.B. Forsythe. 1974. Robust tests for the equality of variances. Journal of the American Statistical Association 69: 364-367.
- Cai, X., and D. Wang. 2006. Spatial autocorrelation of topographic index in catchments. Journal of Hydrology 328:581–591.
- Carter, N. H., D. G. Brown, D. R. Etter, and L. G. Visser. 2010. American black bear habitat selection in northern Lower Peninsula, Michigan, USA, using discretechoice modeling. Ursus 21:57–71.
- Chaubey, I., A.S. Cotter, T.A. Costello and T.S. Soerens. 2005. Effect of DEM data resolution on SWAT output uncertainty. Hydrological Processes 19:621-628.

- Chetkiewicz, C.-L. B., and M. S. Boyce. 2009. Use of resource selection functions to identify conservation corridors. Journal of Applied Ecology 46:1036–1047.
- Ciarniello, L. M., M. S. Boyce, D. R. Seip, and D. C. Heard. 2007. Grizzly bear habitat selection is scale dependent. Ecological Applications 17:1424–1440.
- Clark, W. A., and K. L. Avery. 1976. The effects of data aggregation in statistical analysis. Geographical Analysis 8:428–438.
- Conover, W.J., M.E. Johnson and M.M. Johnson. 1981. A comparative study of tests for homogeneity of variances, with applications to the outer continental shelf bidding data. Technometrics 23: 351-361.
- Courbin, N. D. Fortin, C. Dussault and R. Courtois. 2009. Landscape management for woodland caribou: the protection of forest blocks influences wolf-caribou cooccurrence. Landscape Ecology 24: 1375-1388.
- Culling, D.E. B.A. Culling and T. Raabis. 2005. Seasonal habitat use and movements of Graham caribou, 2001 to 2003. Final report prepared for Canadian Forest Products, and BC Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection. Fort St. John, BC, Canada. 88pp.
- Dark S. J., D. Bram. 2007. The modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP) in physical geography. Progress in Physical Geography 31:471-479.
- Day, R.W. and G.P. Quinn. 1989. Comparison of treatments after an analysis of variance in ecology. Ecological Monographs 59:433-463.
- DeCesare, N. J., M. Hebblewhite, F. Schmiegelow, D. Hervieux, G. J. McDermid, L. Neufeld, M. Bradley, J. Whittington, K. G. Smith, and L. E. Morgantini. 2012. Transcending scale dependence in identifying habitat with resource selection functions. Ecological Applications 22:1068–1083.

- De Solla, S.R., R. Bonduarinsky and R.J. Brooks. 1999. Eliminating autocorrelation reduces biological relevance of home range estimates. Journal of Animal Ecology 68: 221-234.
- Deng, Y., J.P. Wilson and B.O. Bauer. 2007. DEM resolution dependencies of terrain attributes across a landscape. International Journal of Geographical Information Science 21:187-213.
- Desclée, B., P. Bogaert and P. Defourny. 2006. Forest change detection by statistical object-based method. Remote Sensing of the Environment 102:1-11.
- Dettki, H. and G. Ericsson. 2008. Screening radiolocation datasets for movement strategies with time series segmentation. Journal of Wildlife Management 72: 535-542.
- Dickson, B. G., and P. Beier. 2002. Home-range and habitat selection by adult cougars in southern California. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66:1235.
- Dickson, B. G., J. S. Jenness, and P. Beier. 2005. Influence of vegetation, topography and roads on cougar movement in southern California. Journal of Wildlife Management 69:264–276.
- Dixon, K. R., and J. A. Chapman. 1980. Harmonic mean measure of animal activity areas. Ecology 61:1040–1044.
- Downs, J. A., and M. W. Horner. 2008. Effects of point pattern shape on home-range estimates. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:1813–1818.
- Dunnett, C.W. 1980a. Pairwise multiple comparisons in the homogeneous variance, unequal sample size case. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75:789-795.
- Dunnett, C.W. 1980b. Pairwise multiple comparisons in the unequal variance case. Journal of the American Statistical Association 75: 796-800.

- Elith, J., and J. R. Leathwick. 2009. Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 40:677–697.
- Environment Canada. 2012. Management plan for the northern mountain population of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Management Plan Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. Vii + 79pp.
- Enwright, N., M. G. Forbes, R. D. Doyle, B. Hunter, and W. Forbes. 2011. Using Geographic Information Systems (GIS) to inventory coastal prairie wetlands along the upper Gulf Coast, Texas. Wetlands 31:687–697.
- Erdey-Heydorn, M. D. 2008. An ArcGIS seabed characterization toolbox developed for investigating benthic habitats. Marine Geodesy 31:318–358.
- ESRI. 2008. ArcMap 9.3, Redlands, CA: ESRI (Environmental Systems Resource Institute)
- Ewers, R. M., and R. K. Didham. 2006. Confounding factors in the detection of species responses to habitat fragmentation. Biological Reviews 81:117.
- Fahrig, L. 2003. Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Annual review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34:487-515.
- Fieberg, J. 2007. Kernel density estimators of home range: smoothing and the autocorrelation red herring. Ecology 88:1059-1066.
- Fisher, P. F., and N. J. Tate. 2006. Causes and consequences of error in digital elevation models. Progress in Physical Geography 30:467–489.
- Fortin, M-J. 1999. Effects of sampling unit resolution on the estimation of spatial autocorrelation. Ecoscience 6:636-641.

- Games, P.A. ad J.F. Howell. 1976. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures with unequal N's and/or variances: a monte carlo study. Journal of Education and Behavioral Statistics 1: 113-125.
- Games, P.A., H.J. Keselman and J.J. Clinch. 1979. Tests for homogeneity of variance in factorial designs. Psychological Bulletin 86: 978-984.
- Gao, J. 1997. Resolution and accuracy of terrain representation by grid DEMs at a microscale. International Journal of Geographical Information Science 11:199–212.
- Gao, J. 1999. A comparative study on spatial and spectral resolutions of satellite data in mapping mangrove forests. International Journal of Remote Sensing 20:2823– 2833.
- Gehlke, C.E., and K.Biehl. 1934. Certain effects of grouping upon the size of the correlation coefficient in census tract material. Journal of the American Statistical Association 24: 169-170.
- Gillies, C. S., M. Hebblewhite, S. E. Nielsen, M. A. Krawchuk, C. L. Aldridge, J. L. Frair, D. J. Saher, C. E. Stevens, and C. L. Jerde. 2006. Application of random effects to the study of resource selection by animals: Random effects in resource selection. Journal of Animal Ecology 75:887–898.
- Girard, I., J.P. Ouellet, R. Courtois, C. Dussault and L. Breton. 2002. Effects of sampling effort based on GPS telemetry on home-range size estimations. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66:1290-1300.
- Gitzen, R.E., and J.J. Millspaugh. 2003. Comparison of least-squares cross-validation bandwidth options for kernel home-range estimation. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:823-831.
- Gitzen, R.A., J.J. Millspaugh and B.J. Kernohan. 2006. Bandwidth selection for fixedkernel analysis of animal utilization distribution. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1334-1344.

- Goetz, S., D. Steinberg, R. Dubayah, and B. Blair. 2007. Laser remote sensing of canopy habitat heterogeneity as a predictor of bird species richness in an eastern temperate forest, USA. Remote Sensing of Environment 108:254–263.
- Gottschalk, T. K., B. Aue, S. Hotes, and K. Ekschmitt. 2011. Influence of grain size on species–habitat models. Ecological Modelling 222:3403–3412.
- Guisan, A., C. H. Graham, J. Elith, F. Huettmann, and the NCEAS Species Distribution Modelling Group. 2007. Sensitivity of predictive species distribution models to change in grain size. Diversity and Distributions 13:332–340.
- Guisan, A., and W. Thuiller. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters 8:993–1009.
- Guo, Q., W. Li, H. Yu, and O. Alvarez. 2010. Effects of topographic variability and lidar sampling density on several DEM interpolation methods. Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing 76:701–712.
- Gustine, D. D., K. L. Parker, R. J. Lay, M. P. Gillingham, and D. C. Heard. 2006. Calf survival of woodland caribou in a multi-predator ecosystem. Wildlife Monographs 165:1–32.
- Hamada, Y., D. A. Stow, L. L. Coulter, J. C. Jafolla, and L. W. Hendricks. 2007.
 Detecting Tamarisk species (*Tamarix spp.*) in riparian habitats of Southern
 California using high spatial resolution hyperspectral imagery. Remote Sensing of
 Environment 109:237–248.
- Hansen, A. J., R. P. Neilson, V. H. Dale, C. H. Flather, L. R. Iverson, D. J. Currie, S. Shafer, R. Cook, and P. J. Bartlein. 2001. Global change in forests: Responses of species, communities, and biomes interactions between climate change and land use are projected to cause large shifts in biodiversity. BioScience 51:765–779.
- Hatler, D.F. 1986. Studies of radio-collared caribou in the spatsizi wilderness park area, British Columbia, 1980-1984. Wildlife Branch Report R-12.

- Hayter, A.J. 1984. A proof of the conjecture that the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons procedure is conservative. The Annals of Statistics 12: 61-75.
- Hebblewhite, M., and E. Merrill. 2008. Modelling wildlife-human relationships for social species with mixed-effects resource selection models: Mixed-effect resource selection models. Journal of Applied Ecology 45:834–844.
- Hébert, I., and R. B. Weladji. 2013. The use of coniferous forests and cutovers by Newfoundland woodland caribou. Forest Ecology and Management 291:318–325.
- IBM. 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. IBM, Armonk, New York.
- Jaccard, J., M.A. Becker and G. Wood. 1984. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures: a review. Psychological Bulletin 96: 589-596.
- James, A.R.C., S. Boutin, D.M. Hebert and A.B. Rippin. 2004. Spatial separation of caribou from moose and its relation to predation by wolves. Journal of Wildlife Management 68:799-809.
- Jaques, C.N., J.A. Jenks and R.W. Klaver. 2009. Seasonal movements and home-range use by female pronghorns in sagebrush-steppe communities of Western South Dakota. Journal of Mammology 90: 433-441.
- Jelinski D. E., J. Wu. 1996. The modifiable areal unit problem and implications for landscape ecology. Landscape Ecology 11:129-140.
- Jennrich, R. I., and F. B. Turner. 1969. Measurement of non-circular home range. Journal of Theoretical Biology 22:227–237.
- Johnson, C.J., K.L. Parker, D.C. Heard and D.R. Seip. 2004. Movements, foraging habits, and habitat use strategies of northern woodland caribou during winter: implications for forest practices in British Columbia. BC Journal of Ecosystems and Management 5: 22-35.

- Johnson, D. H. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65.
- Jones, E.S., M.P. Gillingham, D.R. Seip and D.C. Heard. 2007. Comparison of seasonal habitat selection between threatened woodland caribou ecotypes in central British Columbia. Rangifer 17:111-128.
- Karl, J. W., P. J. Heglund, E. O. Garton, J. M. Scott, N. M. Wright, and R. L. Hutto. 2000. Sensitivity of species habitat-relationship model performance to factors of scale. Ecological applications 10:1690–1705.
- Kernohan, B.J., R.A. Gitzen and J.J. Millspaugh. 2001. Analysis of animal space use and movements. In Radio tracking animal populations, Eds J.J. Millspaugh and J.M. Marxluff, pp125-166. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Kerns, B.K., B.J. Naylor, M. Buonopane, C.G. Parks and B. Rogers. 2009. Modeling Tamarisk (*Tamarix* spp.) habitat and climate change effects in the northwestern United States. Invasive Plant Science and Management 2:200-215.
- Keselman, H.J. and J.C. Rogan. 1978. A comparison of the modified-Tukey and Scheffe methods of multiple comparisons for pairwise contrasts. Journal of the American Statistical Association 73: 47-52.
- Kie, J.G., R.T Bowyer, M.C. Nicholson, B.B. Boroski and E.R. Loft. 2002. Landscape heterogeneity at differing scales: effects on spatial distribution of mule deer. Ecology 83: 530-544.
- Kie, J.G., J. Matthiopoulos, J.Fieberg, R.A. Powell, F. Cagnacci, M.S. Mitchell, J.M. Gaillard and P.R. Moorcroft. 2010. The home-range concept: are traditional estimators still relevant with modern telemetry technology? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 365:2221-2231.
- Kimmerer, W. J., E. S. Gross, and M. L. MacWilliams. 2009. Is the response of estuarine nekton to freshwater flow in the San Francisco estuary explained by variation in habitat volume? Estuaries and Coasts 32:375–389.

- Kramer, C.Y. 1956. Extensions of multiple range tests to group means with unequal numbers of replications. Biometrics 12: 307-310.
- Laver, P.N. and M.J. Kelly. 2008. A critical review of home range studies. Journal of Wildlife Management 72: 290-298.
- Lawler, J. J., R. J. O'Connor, C. T. Hunsaker, K. B. Jones, T. R. Loveland, and D. White. 2004. The effects of habitat resolution on models of avian diversity and distributions: a comparison of two land-cover classifications. Landscape Ecology 19:515–530.
- Lechner, A. M., W. T. Langford, S. A. Bekessy, and S. D. Jones. 2012. Are landscape ecologists addressing uncertainty in their remote sensing data? Landscape Ecology 27:1249–1261.
- Lesmerises, F., C. Dussault and M.H. St Laurent. 2012. Wolf habitat selection is shaped by human activities in a highly managed boreal forest. Forest Ecology and Management 276: 125-131.
- Levene, H. 1960. Robust tests for equality of variances. In: Contributions to Probability and Statistics: Essays in Honor of Harold Hotelling, Ed. I. Olkin, Palo Alto, Calif: Stanford University Press, 278-292.
- Li, X., D. Li, Z. Ma, and D. C. Schneider. 2006. Nest site use by crested ibis: dependence of a multifactor model on spatial scale. Landscape Ecology 21:1207–1216.
- Lin, Y.-P., P.-J. Wu, and N.-M. Hong. 2008. The effects of changing the resolution of land-use modeling on simulations of land-use patterns and hydrology for a watershed land-use planning assessment in Wu-Tu, Taiwan. Landscape and Urban Planning 87:54–66.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., S. McIntyre, and J. Fischer. 2003. Birds in eucalypt and pine forests: landscape alteration and its implications for research models of faunal habitat use. Biological Conservation 110:45–53.

- Long, R. A., J. L. Rachlow, and J. G. Kie. 2008. Effects of season and scale on response of elk and mule deer to habitat manipulation. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:1133–1142.
- Long, R. A., J. G. Kie, R. Terry Bowyer, and M. A. Hurley. 2009. Resource selection and movements by female mule deer *Odocoileus hemionus* : Effects of reproductive stage. Wildlife Biology 15:288–298.
- Mace, R. D., J. S. Waller, T. L. Manley, K. Ake, and W. T. Wittinger. 1999. Landscape evaluation of grizzly bear habitat in western Montana. Conservation Biology 13:367–377.
- Mackenzie, D. I. 2006. Modeling the probability of resource use: The effect of, and dealing with, detecting a species imperfectly. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:367–374.
- Marceau, D. J., P. J. Howarth, and D. J. Gratton. 1994. Remote sensing and the measurement of geographical entities in a forested environment. 1. The scale and spatial aggregation problem. Remote Sensing of environment 49:93–104.
- Marceau, D. J., and G. J. Hay. 1999. Remote sensing contributions to the scale issue. Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing 25:357–366.
- McArdle, B.H. and M.J. Anderson. 2004. Variance heterogeneity, transformations, and models of species abundance: a cautionary tale. Canadian Journal of fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61: 1294-1302.
- McLoughlin, P. D., D. W. Morris, D. Fortin, E. Vander Wal, and A. L. Contasti. 2010. Considering ecological dynamics in resource selection functions. Journal of Animal Ecology 79:4–12.
- Mehta, C. R. and N. R. Patel. 2011. IBM SPSS Exact Tests. International Business Machines corporation, USA, 236p.

- Meyer, C. B., and W. Thuiller. 2006. Accuracy of resource selection functions across spatial scales. Diversity and Distributions 12:288–297.
- Millspaugh, J. J., R. M. Nielson, L. McDonald, J. M. Marzluff, R. A. Gitzen, C. D. Rittenhouse, M. W. Hubbard, and S. L. Sheriff. 2006. Analysis of resource selection using utilization distributions. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:384– 395.
- Mohr, C. O. 1947. Table of equivalent populations of North American small mammals. American Midland Naturalist 37:223-249.
- O'Brien, R.G. 1978. Robust techniques for testing heterogeneity of variance effects in factorial designs. Psychometrika 43: 327-342.
- Openshaw, S. 1984. The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem. CATMOG, 38. Norwich, England: Geobooks.
- Osborne, P. E., J. C. Alonso, and R. G. Bryant. 2001. Modelling landscape-scale habitat use using GIS and remote sensing: a case study with great bustards. Journal of Applied Ecology 38:458–471.
- Petrinovich, L.F. and C.D. Hardyck. 1969. Error rates for multiple comparison methods: some evidence concerning the frequency of erroneous conclusions. Psychological Bulletin 71: 43-54.
- Poole, K.G., D.C. Heard and G. Mowat. 2000. Habitat use by woodland caribou near Takla Lake in central British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 78:1552-1561.
- Qi, Y., and J. Wu. 1996. Effects of changing spatial resolution on the results of landscape pattern analysis using spatial autocorrelation indices. Landscape ecology 11:39– 49.
- Rafter, J.A., M.L. Abell and J.P. Braselton. 2002. Multiple comparison methods for means. SIAM Review 44: 259-278.

- Rahbek, C. 2005. The role of spatial scale and the perception of large-scale speciesrichness patterns: Scale and species-richness patterns. Ecology Letters 8:224–239.
- Ramseyer, G.C. and T.-K. Tcheng. 1973. The robustness of the studentized range statistic to violations of the normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions. American Educational Research Journal 10: 235-240.
- Rees, W.G. 2000. The accuracy of Digital Elevation Models interpolated to higher resolutions. International Journal of Remote Sensing 21:7-20.
- Rettie, W. J., and F. Messier. 2000. Hierarchical habitat selection by woodland caribou: its relationship to limiting factors. Ecography 23:466–478.
- Richardson, J. T. 1994. The analysis of 2 x 1 and 2 x 2 contingency tables: an historical review. Statistical Methods in Medical Research 3:107–133.
- Rodgers, A.R., A.P. Carr, H.L. Beyer, L. Smith and J.G. Kie. 2007. HRT: Home Range Tools for ArcGIS. Ontario ministry of natural Resources, Center for northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Rodgers, A.R. and J.G. Kie. 2011. HRT: Home Range Tools for ArcGIS version 1.1. User's manual. Ontario ministry of natural Resources, Center for northern Forest Ecosystem Research, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Roger, E., S. W. Laffan, and D. Ramp. 2007. Habitat selection by the common wombat (*Vombatus ursinus*) in disturbed environments: Implications for the conservation of a "common" species. Biological Conservation 137:437–449.
- Rupp, S.P. and P. Rupp. 2010. Development of an individual-based model to evaluate elk (*Cervus elaphus nelsoni*) movement and distribution patterns following the Cerro Grande Fore in north central New Mexico, USA. Ecological Modelling 221: 1605-1619.
- Ruxton, G.D. and G. Beauchamp. 2008. Time for some a priori thinking about post hoc testing. Behavioral Ecology 19: 690-693.

- Said., S., J.-M. Gaillard, P. Duncan, N. Guillon, N. Guillon, S. Servanty, M. Pellerin, K. Lefeuvre, S. Martin and G. Van Laere. 2005. Ecological correlates of homerange size in spring-summer for female roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) in a deciduous woodland. Journal of Zoology 267: 301-308.
- Schoener, T.W. 1981. An empirically based estimated of home range. Theoretical Population Biology 20: 281-325.
- Seaman, D.E., J.J. Millspaugh, B.J. Kernohan, G.C. Brundige, K.J. Raedeke and R.A. Gitzen. 1999. Effect of sample size on kernel home range estimates. The Journal of Wildlife Management 63: 739-747.
- Seaman, D.E., and R.A. Powell. 1996. An evaluation of the accuracy of kernel density estimators for home range analysis. Ecology 77: 2075-2085.
- Semeniuk, C. A. D., M. Musiani, M. Hebblewhite, S. Grindal, and D. J. Marceau. 2012. Incorporating behavioral–ecological strategies in pattern-oriented modeling of caribou habitat use in a highly industrialized landscape. Ecological Modelling 243:18–32.
- Shapiro, S.S. and M.B. Wilk. 1965. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). Biometrika 52: 591-611.
- Shen, W., G. Darrel Jenerette, J. Wu, and R. H Gardner. 2004. Evaluating empirical scaling relations of pattern metrics with simulated landscapes. Ecography 27:459– 469.
- Silverman, B. W. 1986. Density estimation for statistics and data analysis. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Song, W., E. Kim, D. Lee, M. Lee, and S.-W. Jeon. 2013. The sensitivity of species distribution modeling to scale differences. Ecological Modelling 248:113–118.

- Stickler, C. M., and J. Southworth. 2008. Application of multi-scale spatial and spectral analysis for predicting primate occurrence and habitat associations in Kibale National Park, Uganda. Remote Sensing of Environment 112:2170–2186.
- Swihart, R.K. and S.A. Slade. 1985a. Influence of sampling interval on estimates of home-range size. The Journal of Wildlife Management 49: 1019-1025.
- Swihart, R.K. and N.A. Slade. 1985b. Testing for independence of observations in animal movements. Ecology 66: 1176-1184.
- Tamhane, A.C. 1979. A comparison of procedures for multiple comparisons of means with unequal variances. Journal of the American Statistical Association 74: 471-480.
- Tehobald, D.M. 1989. Accuracy and bias issues in surface representation. In Goodchild, M.F. and Gopal, S., Eds, The accuracy of spatial databases, London: Taylor and Francis, 99-106.
- Tukey, J.W. 1953. The problem of multiple comparisons. Unpublished report, Princeton University, Princeton, N.J.
- Turner, M. G., R. V. O'Neill, R. H. Gardner, and B. T. Milne. 1989. Effects of changing spatial scale on the analysis of landscape pattern. Landscape ecology 3:153–162.
- Turner, J. C., C. L. Douglas, C. R. Hallum, P. R. Krausman, and R. R. Ramey. 2004. Determination of critical habitat for the endangered Nelson's bighorn sheep in southern California. Wildlife Society Bulletin 32:427–448.
- Twiss, S. D., C. J. Thomas, and P. P. Pomeroy. 2001. Topographic spatial characterisation of grey seal *Halichoerus grypus* breeding habitat at a sub-seal size spatial grain. Ecography 24:257–266.
- Usery, E. L., M. P. Finn, D. J. Scheidt, S. Ruhl, T. Beard, and M. Bearden. 2004. Geospatial data resampling and resolution effects on watershed modeling: A case

study using the agricultural non-point source pollution model. Journal of Geographical Systems 6:289–306.

- Vallecillo, S., L. Brotons, and S. Herrando. 2008. Assessing the response of open-habitat bird species to landscape changes in Mediterranean mosaics. Biodiversity and Conservation 17:103–119.
- Van Beest, F. M., L. E. Loe, A. Mysterud, and J. M. Milner. 2010. Comparative space use and habitat selection of moose around feeding stations. Journal of Wildlife Management 74:219–227.
- Van Beest, F.M., E. Vander Wal, A. V. Stronen and R.K. Brook. 2013. Factors driving variation in movement rate and seasonality of sympatric ungulates. Journal of Mammalogy 94: 691-701.
- Van Rensburg, B. J., S. L. Chown, and K. J. Gaston. 2002. Species richness, environmental correlates, and spatial scale: A test using South African birds. The American Naturalist 159:566–577.
- Van Winkle, W. 1975. Comparison of several probabilistic home-range models. The Journal of Wildlife Management 39:118.
- Webb, S. L., D. G. Hewitt, and M. W. Hellickson. 2007. Scale of management for mature male white-tailed deer as influenced by home range and movements. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1507–1512.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385.
- Wittmer, H.U., B.N. McLellan, R. Serrouya and C.D. Apps. 2007. Changes in landscape composition influence the decline of a threatened woodland caribou population. Journal of Animal Ecology 76: 568-579.
- Wolock, D. M., and C. V. Price. 1994. Effects of digital elevation model map scale and data resolution on a topography-based watershed model. Water Resources Research 30:3041–3052.

- Wood, M.D. 1996. Seasonal habitat use and movements of woodland caribou in the Omineca Mountains, north central British Columbia, 1991-1993. Rangifer 9: 365-378.
- Worton, B.J. 1989. Kernel methods for estimating the utilization distribution in home range studies. Ecology 70: 164-168.
- Worton, B.J. 1995. Using Monte Carlo simulation to evaluate kernel-based home range estimators. Journal of Wildlife Management 59: 794-800.
- Wu, J. 2004. Effects of changing scale on landscape pattern analysis: scaling relations. Landscape Ecology 19:125–138.
- Wu, J., W. Shen, W. Sun, and P. T. Tueller. 2002. Empirical patterns of the effects of changing scale on landscape metrics. Landscape Ecology 17:761–782.
- Wu, S., J. Li and G. Huang. 2005. An evaluation of grid size uncertainty in empirical soil loss modeling with digital elevation models. Environmental Modeling and Assessment 10:33-42.
- Wu, S., J. Li and G.H. Huang. 2008. A study on DEM-derived primary topographic attributes for hydrologic applications: sensitivity to elevation data resolution. Applied Geography 28: 210-223.
- Zhang, W., and Montgomery, D. R. 1994. Digital elevation model grid size, landscape representation, and hydrologic simulations. Water Resources Research 30:1019– 1028.

5 Conclusion

5.1 Discussion and Conclusion

The importance of the scale at which analyses are performed has long been recognized in ecological studies (e.g., Urban et al. 1987, Turner et al. 1989, Wiens 1989, Cooper et al. 1998). Jelinski and Wu (1996) introduced ecologists to a specific issue of scale known as the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP; Gehlke and Biehl 1934, Openshaw 1984). MAUP refers to the issue when using spatial data, whereby changes to the size and shape of the areal units used can alter the outcome of statistical analyses and potentially ecological inferences. Since the introduction by Jelinski and Wu (1996), the potential impact of MAUP on the outcome of results has not only been recognized in a myriad of ecological studies (e.g., He and Gaston 2000, Koper and Schmiegelow 2006, Duchamp and Swihart 2008), but has also been the specific focus in a number of ecological investigations (e.g., He et al. 2007, Lechner et al. 2012). One specific area of ecological analyses in which the issue of MAUP has been largely overlooked is that of home range analyses.

Researchers often use the bounds of an animal's home range to assess the use or selection for certain habitat variables or resources (e.g., Gibeau 1998, Dickson and Beier 2002, McLoughlin et al. 2005). One technique in particular, the Kernel Density Estimation (KDE; Worton 1989), is frequently employed to delineate animal home ranges. The KDE method is based on an animal's utilization distribution (UD): An estimation surface representing the probability or intensity of use (Van Winkle 1975, Worton 1989). In KDE, the size and shape of an area analysed as an animal's home range or areas within the home range of higher levels of use are dependent on both the choice of 1) the bandwidth which determines the level of smoothing applied to location data, and 2) the contour based on different volumes of the UD. Thus, home range analyses that use the KDE method are subject to MAUP as a result of the effect that choice of bandwidth or UD contour will have on the size and shape of areas included in analyses and the potential changes to the habitat data that is assessed (Börger et al. 2006, Gitzen et al. 2006). In addition, the grain at which habitat variables area assessed (e.g., resolution) can also change data values and potentially alter the outcome of home range analyses.

In this study we assessed how each parameter of scale that renders home range analyses subject to the MAUP changed the values of associated habitat variables. Specifically, we looked at how 1) KDE bandwidth (chapter 2), 2) UD contour (chapter 3) and 3) resolution (chapter 4) each individually changed the values of habitat variables measured within home ranges. In each chapter we also examined how the effects of changes to one scale parameter (e.g., bandwidth) varied when we varied the scale of the two other parameters (e.g., contour and resolution). We examined the issue of MAUP in home range analyses using as a model population 13 northern woodland caribou of the Level Kawdy herd, BC. Seasonal habitat selection of woodland caribou is, in part, driven by selection for specific topographic features, such as, for example, high elevations and steep slopes in the calving season (Bergerud and Page 1987, Wood 1996). Thus, we used summary statistics (mean (\bar{x}), Standard Deviation (SD) and Coefficient of Variation (CV)) of slope and elevation to assess the potential impact of MAUP in home range analyses of northern woodland caribou.

We found that all three scale parameters assessed led to significant changes in the values of elevation and slope within the home ranges of northern woodland caribou. One exception to this is that no significant change occurred in measured values of elevation

when the data was aggregated to coarser resolutions. We also found interactive effects of all three scale parameters, although the interaction of each of these parameters was less direct than initially anticipated. For example, we expected that as a result of the homogenization of topographic variables at coarser resolutions (Wolock and Price 1994, Thieken et al. 1999, Thompson et al. 2001), there would be less difference in values of elevation and slope when compared between contours (chapter 3) or at each decrease in KDE bandwidth (chapter 2). However, comparisons between contours as well as between bandwidths did not change significantly when assessed at each DEM resolution. Conversely, the specific UD contour of home ranges had a significant effect on the change that occurred in topographic values as a result of decreasing bandwidth or increasing resolution. The individual effect of contour choice on topographic values (as demonstrated in chapter 3), as well as the interactive effect with other changes in scale, highlights the importance and possible implications of contour choice within home range analyses. Although the 95% and 50% contours area frequently used in home range analyses (Laver and Kelly 2008), researchers should consider conducting analyses multiple UD contours (e.g., Börger et al. 2006) in order to assess how contour choice might affect their results.

Our results demonstrated that choice of contour, bandwidth and resolution in home range analyses significantly change topographic variables measured within caribou home ranges. One confounding issue in studies of scale in ecology is distinguishing between the effect of scale on analyses that result from MAUP and those that result from the intrinsic scales at which animal's perceive and interact with their environments (Lechner et al. 2012). In addition, it may also be difficult to extend our results to other herds or ecotypes of woodland caribou due to the variation in seasonal habitat selection found between caribou of different regions (e.g. Culling et al. 2005, Jones et al. 2007), as well as the difficulty in generalizing the effects of scale on species-habitat analyses due the variations in heterogeneity or spatial patterns of different landscapes in which these analyses area conducted (Boyce 2006). Therefore, while our results indicate that, for example, there was a greater decrease in topographic variability in certain seasons at coarser resolutions, this pattern may not hold true in other investigations. Thus, researchers investigating habitat selection of woodland caribou should consider using multiple scales of analysis.

5.2 Research Contributions

This research contributes to the ever growing body of ecological literature that assesses the impact of scale on wildlife habitat analyses (e.g., Stephens 2004, Rahbek 2005, Schaefer and Mayor 2007, Bar-Massada et al. 2012). Our approach was somewhat unique in that we examined not only the individual effects of altering one aspect of scale in home range analyses (e.g., bandwidth), but also the interactive effects of changes in other scales (e.g. contour and resolution). Our results highlighted the potential interplay between different aspects of scale not only in home range analyses of caribou but potentially in home range analyses of other species for which topography is important such as black bears (*Ursus americanus*) (Carter et al. 2010), cougars (*Puma concolor*) (Dickson and Beier 2002), or mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*) (Long et al. 2009).

Often multi-scale studies examine the effects of changing only one scale of analysis such as grain (e.g., Van Rensburg et al. 2002, Li et al. 2006) or extent (e.g., Antonio et al. 2003, Thrush et al. 2005). Those studies that do examine more than one type of scale (e.g., both grain and extent) often do so by holding one scale constant while varying the other (e.g., Song et al. 2013). While individual scale effects are important to understand, as demonstrated here, different parameters of scale may in fact interact. For example, Bar-Massada et al (2012) found an interaction between the grain and extent at which landscape pattern predicted avian species richness. Specifically, they found that at a 10m grain size, the predictive power of patch and edge density decreased within increasing extent, whereas, conversely, at a 30m grain size, these same variables increased in predictive power with increasing extent (2012). Ecological studies are rarely limited to making choices with regards to an ultitude of scales such the grain of variables, the radius of analysis buffers or the geographical extent of the study area. Our research has highlighted the fact that different scale choices may interact and thus alter the effect on analysis results that changes in one scale will have.

Our results also identify the importance and potential impact of varying the scale of analysis specifically in home range studies of northern woodland caribou. There are a multitude of studies investigating woodland caribou habitat use and selection (e.g., Johnson et al. 2004, Culling et al. 2005, Gustine et al. 2006, Jones et al. 2007). While our study assessed the effect of changes in scale on topographic variables, other biotic (e.g., lichen biomass, Johnson et al. 2004; predators, Gustine et al. 2006; vegetation cover, Jones et al. 2007) and abiotic (e.g., climatic conditions, Culling et al. 2005) habitat features important to caribou might also be impacted by the use of different KDE bandwidths, contours or resolutions. Northern woodland caribou are considered a species of special concern as assessed by the Committee on Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) in 2002 and listed under the *Species at Risk Act* in 2005 (Environment Canada 2012). As such, understanding the habitat use or selection preferences of woodland caribou can help in the effective management and conservation of this species (e.g., Jones et al. 2010, Ryder et al. 2010), which, as our study has demonstrated, may be dependent on the scale(s) of analyses.

5.3 Research opportunities

This research has demonstrated that choice of KDE bandwidth, UD contour and DEM resolution significantly change the values of elevation and slope within northern woodland caribou home ranges. To further our understanding of the potential impact of MAUP in home range analyses of woodland caribou, this research should be extended in two directions. The first direction would be to assess specifically how other factors such as home range size, distribution patterns and topographic variability associated with each seasonal home range influence the observed change in topographic values when the scale of bandwidth, contour or resolution are varied. For example, while areas characterized by greater variability in slope may see a greater decrease in slope values at coarser resolutions (Zhang and Montgomery 1994, Gao 1997), the amount of variability present within each area may be dependent on home range size (Wiens 1989, Dungan et al. 2002). An understanding of the specific characteristics of caribou home ranges that may render them more, or less, susceptible to changes in scale and hence MAUP could benefit researchers.

The second direction this research should take is to assess the actual effect on caribou habitat selection analyses. Based on the findings of other studies (e.g., Apps and Kinley 2000, Boyce et al. 2003) we can hypothesize as to how the observed decrease or conversely increase in topographic variability within a home range could potentially alter the outcome of Johnson's (1980) 2nd or 3rd selection analyses. However, the actual impact could be significant or, conversely, negligent. Other studies examining the effect of, for example, resolution on wildlife-habitat associations have found mixed results. For example, some found that the performance of species-habitat models was higher at finer grains (e.g. Gottschalk et al. 2011) or, conversely, at coarser grains (e.g., Stickler and Southworth 2008), while others found little to no difference in model performance between resolutions (e.g., Betts et al. 2006). Therefore, while we found significant changes in topographic values, it is not clear what impact this will ultimately have on selection analyses. Thus, further investigations should be conducted in order to assess the actual effect of KDE bandwidth, UD contour and DEM resolution on the outcome of woodland caribou habitat analyses.

5.4 Implications

The results of this study found that changes in the scale of bandwidth, contour and resolution led to changes in the mean and variability of elevation and slope in northern caribou home ranges. This could potentially alter the outcome of topographic habitat analyses and as a consequence, our understanding of northern woodland caribou habitat use. Our results also have implications with respect to the comparability of home range analyses. By changing the results of topographic habitat analyses, the use of different bandwidths, UD contours or DEM resolutions in different studies might limit our ability to compare results of these studies. These differences could also affect our understanding of how herds, populations or even ecotypes vary in terms of the importance of, or their selection for certain topographic features.

The potential variation in habitat analysis results could also have implications with respect the management of caribou populations. For example, studies conducted on different herds using different scales could potentially come to the same conclusions with respect to the importance or use of certain topographic features. Thus more generalized management decisions might be applied to different herds when in fact management decisions more specific to each herd may be required.

The variation in values of elevation and slope at different scales of home range analyses might also alter our understanding of the relative importance of topography versus other habitat features in different seasons. For example, decreased variability of topographic values as a result of different scales could potentially increase the apparent selection for these topographic features at the level of the home range (2nd order selection, *sensu* Johnson 1980). This could mask the actual selection for (or importance of) other habitat features (e.g. forage). Thus again potentially affecting management decisions by changing the focus to topographic features when in fact other habitat features may be more important with respect to caribou habitat selection.

- Antonio, J., D. Serrano and I. Zuberogoitia. 2003. Predictive models of habitat preferences for the Eurasian eagle owl *Bubo bubo*: a multiscale approach. Ecography 26:21-28.
- Apps, C. D., and T. A. Kinley. 2000. Multiscale habitat modeling for mountain caribou in the Columbia Highlands and Northern Columbia Mountains ecoregions, British Columbia. BC Min. Environ., Lands and Parks, Williams Lake, BC, 37pp.
- Bar-Massada, A., E. M. Wood, A. M. Pidgeon, and V. C. Radeloff. 2012. Complex effects of scale on the relationships of landscape pattern versus avian species richness and community structure in a woodland savanna mosaic. Ecography 35:393–411.
- Bergerud, A. T., and R. E. Page. 1987. Displacement and dispersion of parturient caribou at calving as antipredator tactics. Canadian Journal of Zoology 65:1597–1606.
- Betts, M. G., A. W. Diamond, G. J. Forbes, M.-A. Villard, and J. S. Gunn. 2006. The importance of spatial autocorrelation, extent and resolution in predicting forest bird occurrence. Ecological Modelling 191:197–224.
- Börger, L., N. Franconi, F. Ferretti, F. Meschi, G. D. Michele, A. Gantz, and T. Coulson. 2006. An Integrated approach to identify spatiotemporal and individual-level determinants of animal home range size. The American Naturalist 168:471–485.
- Boyce, M. S., M. G. Turner, J. Fryxell, and P. Turchin. 2003. Scale and heterogeneity in habitat selection by elk in Yellowstone National Park. Ecoscience 10:421–431.
- Boyce, M. S. 2006. Scale for resource selection functions. Diversity and Distributions 12:269–276.
- Carter, N. H., D. G. Brown, D. R. Etter, and L. G. Visser. 2010. American black bear habitat selection in northern Lower Peninsula, Michigan, USA, using discretechoice modeling. Ursus 21:57–71.

- Cooper, S. D., S. Diehl, K. I. M. Kratz, and O. Sarnelle. 1998. Implications of scale for patterns and processes in stream ecology. Australian Journal of Ecology 23:27– 40.
- Culling, D. E., B. A. Culling, and T. Raabis. 2005. Seasonal habitat use and movements of Graham caribou, 2001 to 2003. Prep. for Canadian Forests Products Ltd.(Fort St. John) and BC Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, Forts St. John, BC 88pp.
- Dickson, B. G., and P. Beier. 2002. Home-range and habitat selection by adult cougars in Southern California. The Journal of Wildlife Management 66:1235.
- Duchamp, J.E. and R. K. Swihart. 2008. Shifts in bat community structure related to evolved traits and features of human-altered landscapes. Landscape Ecology 23:849-860.
- Dungan, J. L., J. N. Perry, M. R. T. Dale, P. Legendre, S. Citron-Pousty, M.-J. Fortin, A. Jakomulska, M. Miriti, and M. S. Rosenberg. 2002. A balanced view of scale in spatial statistical analysis. Ecography 25:626–640.
- Environment Canada. 2012. Management plan for the northern mountain population of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in Canada. Species at Risk Act
 Management Plan Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. 79pp.
- Gao, J. 1997. Resolution and accuracy of terrain representation by grid DEMs at a microscale. International Journal of Geographical Information Science 11:199–212.
- Gehlke, C.E., and K. Biehl. 1934. Certain effects of grouping upon the size of the correlation coefficient in census tract material. Journal of the American Statistical Association 24: 169-170.
- Gibeau, M. L. 1998. Use of urban habitats by coyotes in the vicinity of Banff Alberta. Urban Ecosystems 2:129–139.

- Gitzen, R. A., J. J. Millspaugh, and B. J. Kernohan. 2006. Bandwidth selection for fixedkernel analysis of animal utilization distributions. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:1334–1344.
- Gottschalk, T. K., B. Aue, S. Hotes, and K. Ekschmitt. 2011. Influence of grain size on species–habitat models. Ecological Modelling 222:3403–3412.
- Gustine, D. D., K. L. Parker, R. J. Lay, M. P. Gillingham, and D. C. Heard. 2006. Calf survival of woodland caribou in a multi-predator ecosystem. Wildlife Monographs 165:1–32.
- He, F. and K. J. Gaston. 2000. Occupancy-abundance relationships and sampling scales. Ecography 23:503-511.
- He, Z., W. Zhao and X. Chang. 2007. The modifiable areal unit problem of spatial heterogeneity of plant community in the transitional zone between oasis and desert using semivariance analysis. Landscape Ecology 22:95-104.
- Johnson, C. J., K. L. Parker, D. C. Heard, and D. S. Seip. 2004. Movements, foraging habits, and habitat use strategies of northern woodland caribou during winter: Implications for forest practices in British Columbia. Journal of Ecosystems and Management 5:22–35
- Johnson, D. H. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65–71.
- Jones, E. S., M. P. Gillingham, D. R. Seip, and D. C. Heard. 2007. Comparison of seasonal habitat selection between threatened woodland caribou ecotypes in central British Columbia. Rangifer 27:111–128.
- Jelinski, D. E., and J. Wu. 1996. The modifiable areal unit problem and implications for landscape ecology. Landscape Ecology 11:129–140.
- Koper, N. and F. K. A. Schmiegelow. 2006. A multi-scaled analysis of avian response to habitat amount and fragmentation in the Canadian dry mixed-grass prairie. Landscape Ecology 21:1045-1059.
- Laver, P. N., and M. J. Kelly. 2008. A critical review of home range studies. Journal of Wildlife Management 72:290–298.
- Lechner, A. M., W. T. Langford, S. D. Jones, S. A. Bekessy, and A. Gordon. 2012. Investigating species–environment relationships at multiple scales: Differentiating between intrinsic scale and the modifiable areal unit problem. Ecological Complexity 11:91–102.
- Li, X., D. Li, Z. Ma, and D. C. Schneider. 2006. Nest site use by crested ibis: dependence of a multifactor model on spatial scale. Landscape Ecology 21:1207–1216.
- Long, R. A., J. G. Kie, R. Terry Bowyer, and M. A. Hurley. 2009. Resource selection and movements by female mule deer *Odocoileus hemionus* : effects of reproductive stage. Wildlife Biology 15:288–298.
- McLoughlin, P. D., J. S. Dunford, and S. Boutin. 2005. Relating predation mortality to broad-scale habitat selection. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:701–707.
- Openshaw, S. 1984. The Modifiable Areal Unit Problem. CATMOG, 38. Norwich, England: Geobooks.
- Rahbek, C. 2005. The role of spatial scale and the perception of large-scale speciesrichness patterns: Scale and species-richness patterns. Ecology Letters 8:224–239.
- Ryder, J. L., P. McNeil, J. Hamm, W. A. Nixon, D. Russell, and S. R. Francis. 2010. An integrated assessment of Porcupine caribou seasonal distribution, movements, and habitat preferences for regional land use planning in northern Yukon Territory, Canada. Rangifer 27:259–270.
- Schaefer, J. A., and S. J. Mayor. 2007. Geostatistics reveal the scale of habitat selection. Ecological Modelling 209:401–406.

- Stephens, S. 2004. Effects of habitat fragmentation on avian nesting success: a review of the evidence at multiple spatial scales. Biological Conservation 115:101–110.
- Stickler, C. M., and J. Southworth. 2008. Application of multi-scale spatial and spectral analysis for predicting primate occurrence and habitat associations in Kibale National Park, Uganda. Remote Sensing of Environment 112:2170–2186.
- Song, W., E. Kim, D. Lee, M. Lee, and S.-W. Jeon. 2013. The sensitivity of species distribution modeling to scale differences. Ecological Modelling 248:113–118.
- Thieken, A. H., A. Lücke, B. Diekkrüger, and O. Richter. 1999. Scaling input data by GIS for hydrological modelling. Hydrological Processes 13:611–630.
- Thompson, J. A., J. C. Bell, and C. A. Butler. 2001. Digital elevation model resolution: effects on terrain attribute calculation and quantitative soil-landscape modeling. Geoderma f100:67–89.
- Thrush, S. F., J. E. Hewitt, P. M. J. Herman and T. Ysebaert. 2005. Multi-scale analysis of species-environment relationships. Marine Ecology Progress Series 302:13-26.
- Turner, M. G., V. H. Dale, and R. H. Gardner. 1989. Predicting across scales: theory development and testing. Landscape Ecology 3:245–252.
- Urban, D. L., R. V. O'Neill, and H. H. Shugart, 1987. Landscape Ecology. BioScience 37:119–127.
- Van Rensburg, B. J., S. L. Chown, and K. J. Gaston. 2002. Species richness, environmental correlates, and spatial scale: A test using South African Birds. The American Naturalist 159:566–577.
- Van Winkle, W. 1975. Comparison of several probabilistic home-range models. The Journal of Wildlife Management 39: 118-123.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385.

- Wolock, D. M., and C. V. Price. 1994. Effects of digital elevation model map scale and data resolution on a topography-based watershed model. Water Resources Research 30:3041–3052.
- Wood, M. D. 1996. Seasonal habitat use and movements of woodland caribou in the Omineca Mountains, north central British Columbia, 1991-1993. Rangifer 16:365–378.
- Worton, B.J. 1989. Kernel Methods for estimating the utilization distribution in home range studies. Ecology 70: 164-168.
- Zhang, W., and Montgomery, D. R. 1994. Digital elevation model grid size, landscape representation, and hydrologic simulations. Water Resources Research 30:1019– 1028.

Appendix A: Seasonal comparisons

High Low 95% Contour mean SD Intervention Bandwidth season migh high n high season mean SD n low diff mean mean SE lower lower mean lower lower lower lower lower lower lower lower lower lower <tdl< th=""><th>nce al ipper 109.0 84.0 60.6</th></tdl<>	nce al ipper 109.0 84.0 60.6
Contour Bandwidth mean SD n high high n high season mean SD n low low n low mean SD n low season n low low n low mean SE lower	109.0 84.0 60.6
	109.0 84.0 60.6
25 <i>h</i> _{ref} Fall 82.6 ± 50.4 (13) Calving 14.3 ± 12.2 (11) 68.3 (14.5) 27.6	84.0 60.6
$0.8h_{ref}$ 63.3 ± 38.0 (13) 10.8 ± 9.8 (11) 52.6 (11.2) 21.2	60.6
0.6h ref45.3 \pm 26.8(13)7.5 \pm 7.6(11)37.8(8.1)14.9	
50 h_{ref} 120.5 ± 77.8 (13) 22.3 ± 18.1 (11) 98.2 (22.1) 35.9	160.5
0.8h _{ref} 96.8 ± 61.6 (13) 17.5 ± 15.4 (11) 79.3 (17.9) 28.9	129.7
0.6h ref 73.9 ± 46.8 (13) 13.1 ± 13.0 (11) 60.8 (13.8) 21.9	99.7
75 h_{ref} 198.3 ± 130.8 (13) 40.0 ± 33.2 (11) 158.3 (35.3) 59.0	257.6
0.8 h_{ref} 162.0 ± 104.2 (13) 32.4 ± 27.9 (11) 129.6 (28.9) 48.1	211.0
0.6h _{ref} 125.3 \pm 80.2(13)24.5 \pm 22.4(11)100.8(22.6)37.1	164.5
95 <i>h</i> _{ref} 394.2 ± 254.3 (13) 85.4 ± 73.5 (11) 308.8 (67.4) 119.3	498.3
0.8h _{ref} 320.8 ± 205.4 (13) 70.6 ± 61.1 (11) 250.2 (55.1) 95.2	405.2
0.6h _{ref} 246.2 ± 157.0 (13) 53.0 ± 45.9 (11) 193.2 (43.1) 72.0	314.4
25 <i>h</i> _{ref} Fall 82.6 ± 50.4 (13) Summer 23.9 ± 19.4 (13) 58.7 (14.5) 18.0	99.4
0.8 h _{ref} 63.3 ± 38.0 (13) 19.1 ± 15.8 (13) 44.3 (11.2) 12.8	75.7
0.6h ref45.3 \pm 26.8(13)14.6 \pm 12.4(13)30.7(8.1)7.9	53.6
50 h_{ref} 120.5 ± 77.8 (13) 37.9 ± 28.9 (13) 82.6 (22.1) 20.3	144.9
0.8 h_{ref} 96.8 ± 61.6 (13) 31.9 ± 25.1 (13) 64.9 (17.9) 14.5	115.3
0.6 h_{ref} 73.9 ± 46.8 (13) 25.5 ± 20.7 (13) 48.3 (13.8) 9.5	87.2

A. 1 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in contour size (km²) between seasons.

75	h _{ref}		198.3	± 130.8	(13)		67.1	± 46.7	(13)	131.2	(35.3)	31.9	230.5
	0.8h _{ref}		162.0	± 104.2	(13)		57.1	± 40.2	(13)	104.9	(28.9)	23.5	186.3
	0.6h _{ref}		125.3	± 80.2	(13)		46.7	± 33.7	(13)	78.6	(22.6)	14.9	142.3
95	h _{ref}		394.2	± 254.3	(13)		140.3	± 95.6	(13)	253.9	(67.4)	64.5	443.4
	0.8h _{ref}		246.2	± 157.0	(13)		95.6	± 66.0	(13)	150.6	(43.1)	29.4	271.7
	0.6h _{ref}		320.8	± 205.4	(13)		118.6	± 81.2	(13)	202.3	(55.1)	47.3	357.2
50	0.8h _{ref}	Winter	43.9	± 29.7	(14)	Calving	13.1	± 13.0	(11)	30.9	(9)	58.4	3.4
	0.6h _{ref}		58.2	± 42.8	(14)		17.5	± 15.4	(11)	40.6	(12.6)	79.6	1.7
75	h _{ref}		130.5	± 89.6	(14)		40.0	± 33.2	(11)	90.5	(26.5)	172.2	8.9
	0.8h _{ref}		108.0	± 71.6	(14)		32.4	± 27.9	(11)	75.5	(21.3)	141.0	10.0
	0.6h _{ref}		84.3	± 52.4	(14)		24.5	± 22.4	(11)	59.8	(15.8)	108.1	11.4
95	h _{ref}		265.9	± 177.3	(14)		85.4	± 73.5	(11)	180.5	(53.2)	343.5	17.4
	0.8h _{ref}		219.5	± 142.3	(14)		70.6	± 61.1	(11)	148.9	(42.9)	280.2	17.6
	0.6h _{ref}		174.5	± 111.0	(14)		53.0	± 45.9	(11)	121.5	(43.1)	242.7	.3

										Pair	wise con	nparison	
		High				Low						95 Confi inte	5% dence rval
Season	Bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}	± SD	n	Contour	\overline{x}	± SD	n	Mean Difference	(SE)	lower	upper
Winter	h _{ref}	75	130.5	± 89.6	(14)	25	44.4	± 37.2	(14)	86.0	(26.9)	9.1	163
		95	265.9	± 177.3	(14)	25	44.4	± 37.2	(14)	221.5	(41.2)	111.9	331.1
						50	73.2	± 57.0	(14)	192.7	(41.2)	83.2	302.3
						75	130.5	± 89.6	(14)	135.4	(41.2)	25.8	245
	0.8h _{ref}	75	108.0	± 71.6	(14)	25	34.1	± 27.8	(14)	73.9	(21.3)	12.7	135
		95	219.5	± 142.3	(14)	25	34.1	± 27.8	(14)	185.4	(32.8)	98.1	272.7
						50	58.2	± 42.8	(14)	161.3	(32.8)	74	248.6
						75	108.0	± 71.6	(14)	111.5	(32.8)	24.2	198.9
	0.6h _{ref}	75	84.3	± 52.4	(14)	25	24.5	± 19.4	(14)	59.7	(15.5)	15.2	104.3
		95	174.5	± 111.0	(14)	25	24.5	± 19.4	(14)	150.0	(25.1)	83.3	216.7
						50	43.9	± 29.7	(14)	130.6	(25.1)	63.9	197.2
						75	84.3	± 52.4	(14)	90.2	(25.1)	23.6	156.9
Calving	h _{ref}	95	85.4	± 73.5	(11)	25	14.3	± 12.2	(11)	71.2	(16.4)	27.5	114.8
	-					50	22.3	± 18.1	(11)	63.2	(16.4)	19.5	106.8
						75	40.0	± 33.2	(11)	45.5	(16.4)	1.9	89.1

A. 2 Significant differences (p<0.05) in contour size (km²) within each season.

	0.8h _{ref}	95	70.6 ± 61.1	(11)	25	10.8	± 9.8	(11)	59.8	(13.6)	23.5	96.1
					50	17.5 :	± 15.4	(11)	53.1	(13.6)	16.7	89.4
					75	32.4	± 27.9	(11)	38.2	(13.6)	1.9	74.5
	0.6h _{ref}	95	53.0 ± 45.9	(11)	25	7.5 :	± 7.6	(11)	45.5	(10.4)	17.7	73.2
					50	13.1	± 13.0	(11)	39.9	(10.4)	12.2	67.7
					75	24.5 :	± 22.4	(11)	28.5	(10.4)	0.7	56.3
Summer	h _{ref}	75	67.1 ± 46.7	(13)	25	23.9	± 19.4	(13)	43.2	(14)	3.1	83.3
		95	140.3 ± 95.6	(13)	25	23.9	± 19.4	(13)	116.5	(22)	58	174.9
					50	37.9 :	± 28.9	(13)	102.4	(22)	44	160.8
					75	67.1 :	± 46.7	(13)	73.2	(22)	14.8	131.7
	0.8h _{ref}	75	57.1 ± 40.2	(13)	25	19.1 :	± 15.8	(13)	38.0	(12)	3.6	72.3
		95	118.6 ± 81.2	(13)	25	19.1 :	± 15.8	(13)	99.5	(18.7)	49.7	149.2
					50	31.9 :	± 25.1	(13)	86.6	(18.7)	36.9	136.4
					75	57.1 :	± 40.2	(13)	61.5	(18.7)	11.8	111.2
	0.6h _{ref}	75	46.7 ± 33.7	(13)	25	14.6	± 12.4	(13)	32.1	(10)	3.4	60.8
		95	95.6 ± 66.0	(13)	25	14.6	± 12.4	(13)	81.1	(15.3)	40.4	121.7
					50	25.5	± 20.7	(13)	70.1	(15.3)	29.4	110.8
					75	46.7 :	± 33.7	(13)	49.0	(15.3)	8.3	89.6

$50 77.1 \pm 74.0 (12) 139.6 (46.7) 15.3 264$ $0.8h_{ref} 95 180.3 \pm 161.0 (12) 25 39.5 \pm 38.7 (12) 140.8 (39.3) 36.1 245.4 256 266.8 \pm 62.8 (12) 115.5 (39.3) 10.8 220.2 266.7$	Rut	h _{ref}	95	216.7	± 191.9	(12)	25	49.8	± 48.7	(12)	166.9	(46.7)	42.6	291.3
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $							50	77.1	± 74.0	(12)	139.6	(46.7)	15.3	264
$50 64.8 \ \pm 62.8 (12) 115.5 (39.3) 10.8 220.2$ $0.6h_{ref} 95 145.7 \ \pm 130.0 (12) 25 29.7 \pm 29.1 (12) 116.0 (31.7) 31.6 200.3 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 179.7 $		0.8h _{ref}	95	180.3	± 161.0	(12)	25	39.5	± 38.7	(12)	140.8	(39.3)	36.1	245.4
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$							50	64.8	± 62.8	(12)	115.5	(39.3)	10.8	220.2
50 51.4 ± 50.4 (12) 94.3 (31.7) 9.9 178.7 Fall h_{ref} 75 198.3 ± 130.8 (13) 25 82.6 ± 50.4 (13) 115.7 (38.9) 4 227.4 95 394.2 ± 254.3 (13) 25 82.6 ± 50.4 (13) 311.7 (59) 154.8 468.6 95 394.2 ± 254.3 (13) 25 82.6 ± 50.4 (13) 311.7 (59) 154.8 468.6 95 394.2 ± 254.3 (13) 25 82.6 ± 50.4 (13) 217.7 (59) 154.8 468.6 96 120.5 ± 77.8 (13) 273.7 (59) 116.8 430.6 75 128.8 420.6 130.6 257.5 (47.3) 131.5 383.5 50 96.8 ± 61.6 (13) 224.0 (47.3) 98.8 350 75 162.0 ± 104.2 (13) 158.8 (47.3) 32.8 284.8 80.6 (30.7) 10.1 187.2 147.8 85.6 </th <th></th> <th>0.6h_{ref}</th> <th>95</th> <th>145.7</th> <th>± 130.0</th> <th>(12)</th> <th>25</th> <th>29.7</th> <th>± 29.1</th> <th>(12)</th> <th>116.0</th> <th>(31.7)</th> <th>31.6</th> <th>200.3</th>		0.6h _{ref}	95	145.7	± 130.0	(12)	25	29.7	± 29.1	(12)	116.0	(31.7)	31.6	200.3
Fail h_{ref} 75198.3 ± 130.8(13)2582.6 ± 50.4(13)115.7(38.9)4227.495394.2 ± 254.3(13)2582.6 ± 50.4(13)311.7(59)154.8468.650120.5 ± 77.8(13)273.7(59)116.8430.60.8h_{ref}95320.8 ± 205.4(13)2563.3 ± 38.0(13)257.5(47.3)131.5383.55096.8 ± 61.6(13)257.5(47.3)983503500.6h_{ref}75125.3 ± 80.2(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)88.0(23.5)12.2147.895246.2 ± 157.0(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)80.0(23.5)12.2147.895246.2 ± 157.0(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)200.9(36.2)104.7297.195246.2 ± 157.0(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)172.3(36.2)104.7297.195246.2 ± 157.0(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)120.9(36.2)104.7297.195246.2 ± 157.0(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)120.9(36.2)104.7297.195246.2 ± 157.0(13)2545.3 ± 26.8(13)120.9(36.2)104.7297.195246.2 ± 157.0(13)2525.3 ± 80.2(13)120.9(36.2)104.7297.195246.2 ± 157.0							50	51.4	± 50.4	(12)	94.3	(31.7)	9.9	178.7
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Fall	h _{ref}	75	198.3	± 130.8	(13)	25	82.6	± 50.4	(13)	115.7	(38.9)	4	227.4
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			95	394.2	± 254.3	(13)	25	82.6	± 50.4	(13)	311.7	(59)	154.8	468.6
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$							50	120.5	± 77.8	(13)	273.7	(59)	116.8	430.6
0.8href 95 320.8 \pm 205.4 (13) 25 63.3 \pm 38.0 (13) 257.5 (47.3) 131.5 383.5 50 96.8 \pm 61.6 (13) 224.0 (47.3) 98 350 75 162.0 \pm 104.2 (13) 258.8 (17.3) 131.5 383.5 0.6href 75 125.3 \pm 80.2 (13) 25 45.3 \pm 26.8 (13) 80.0 (23.5) 12.2 147.8 95 246.2 \pm 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 \pm 26.8 (13) 98.6 (30.7) 10.1 187.2 95 246.2 \pm 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 \pm 26.8 (13) 200.9 (36.2) 104.7 297.1 95 246.2 \pm 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 \pm 26.8 (13) 200.9 (36.2) 104.7 297.1 96 215.3 \pm 80.2 (13) 120.9 (36.2) 76.1 268.6 97 125.3 \pm 80.2 (13)<							75	198.3	± 130.8	(13)	196.0	(59)	39.1	352.9
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.8h _{ref}	95	320.8	± 205.4	(13)	25	63.3	± 38.0	(13)	257.5	(47.3)	131.5	383.5
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$							50	96.8	± 61.6	(13)	224.0	(47.3)	98	350
0.6h_{ref} 75 125.3 ± 80.2 (13) 25 45.3 ± 26.8 (13) 80.0 (23.5) 12.2 147.8 95 246.2 ± 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 ± 26.8 (13) 98.6 (30.7) 10.1 187.2 95 246.2 ± 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 ± 26.8 (13) 200.9 (36.2) 104.7 297.1 50 73.9 ± 46.8 (13) 172.3 (36.2) 76.1 268.6 75 125.3 ± 80.2 (13) 120.9 (36.2) 24.7 217.1							75	162.0	± 104.2	(13)	158.8	(47.3)	32.8	284.8
25 45.3 ± 26.8 (13) 98.6 (30.7) 10.1 187.2 95 246.2 ± 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 ± 26.8 (13) 200.9 (36.2) 104.7 297.1 50 73.9 ± 46.8 (13) 172.3 (36.2) 76.1 268.6 75 125.3 ± 80.2 (13) 120.9 (36.2) 24.7 217.1		0.6h _{ref}	75	125.3	± 80.2	(13)	25	45.3	± 26.8	(13)	80.0	(23.5)	12.2	147.8
95 246.2 ± 157.0 (13) 25 45.3 ± 26.8 (13) 200.9 (36.2) 104.7 297.1 50 73.9 ± 46.8 (13) 172.3 (36.2) 76.1 268.6 75 125.3 ± 80.2 (13) 120.9 (36.2) 24.7 217.1							25	45.3	± 26.8	(13)	98.6	(30.7)	10.1	187.2
50 73.9 ± 46.8 (13) 172.3 (36.2) 76.1 268.6 75 125.3 ± 80.2 (13) 120.9 (36.2) 24.7 217.1			95	246.2	± 157.0	(13)	25	45.3	± 26.8	(13)	200.9	(36.2)	104.7	297.1
75 125.3 ± 80.2 (13) 120.9 (36.2) 24.7 217.1							50	73.9	± 46.8	(13)	172.3	(36.2)	76.1	268.6
							75	125.3	± 80.2	(13)	120.9	(36.2)	24.7	217.1

ccxiii

										Pairw	ise con	nparisor	1	
	High					Low						95 Confi inte	5% dence rval	
Slope Variable	Season	Contour	\overline{x}	± SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	lower	upper	Bandwidths
Mean	Calving	25	17.8	± 12.8	(11)	Winter	7.8	± 2.2	(14)	10.0	(3.5)	.1	19.9	all
		50	18.2	± 11.6	(11)	Winter	8.5	± 2.7	(14)	9.7	(3.3)	.3	19.1	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
		75	20.0	± 10.4	(11)	Rut	10.6	± 4.8	(12)	9.4	(3.3)	.1	18.7	All
						Winter	9.2	± 3.3	(14)	10.8	(3.2)	1.8	19.8	All
						Fall	10.3	± 2.0	(13)	10.0	(3.2)	.9	19.0	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
		95	20.5	± 9.8	(11)	Fall	12.2	± 1.7	(13)	8.3	(2.9)	.2	16.3	All
						Rut	12.0	± 4.8	(12)	8.5	(2.9)	.3	16.8	All
						Winter	10.4	± 3.3	(14)	10.1	(2.8)	2.2	18.0	All
Mean	Summer	25	20.6	+ 13 4	(13)	Fall	9.0	+ 3 1	(13)	-11.6	(3.4)	2.0	21.2	۵۱
Wicall	Summer	25	20.0	± 13.4	(13)	1011	5.0	± 3.1	(13)	11.0	(3.4)	2.0	21.2	
						Rut	9.9	± 6.1	(12)	-10.6	(3.5)	.8	20.4	All
						Winter	7.8	± 2.2	(14)	12.7	(3.3)	3.3	22.2	All
		50	19.2	± 13.3	(13)	Fall	10.0	± 2.3	(13)	-9.2	(3.2)	.0	18.3	All
						Winter	9.0	± 3.5	(14)	10.1	(3.2)	1.2	19.1	All
		75	21.0	± 13.2	(13)	Fall	11.9	± 2.9	(13)	-9.2	(3.1)	.4	17.9	All
						Rut	10.6	± 4.8	(12)	-10.4	(3.2)	1.4	19.3	All

A. 3 Significant differences (*p*<0.0.5) in values of slope (%) between seasons.

						Winter	9.2	± 3.3	(14)	11.8	(3.1)	3.2	20.4	All
		95	20.0	± 11.0	(13)	Fall	12.2	± 1.7	(13)	-7.8	(2.7)	.0	15.5	All
						Rut	12.0	± 4.8	(12)	-8.0	(2.8)	.1	15.9	All
						Winter	10.4	± 3.3	(14)	9.6	(2.7)	2.0	17.2	All
SD	Calving	75	15.1	± 6.6	(11)	Winter	7.7	± 2.6	(14)	7.3	(2.1)	1.6	13.1	All
		95	15.7	± 6.5	(11)	Winter	9.5	± 2.8	(14)	6.2	(1.9)	1.0	11.4	All
50	50ll	75	11 E	+ 2 2	(12)	Wintor	77	+ 26	(14)	2.0	(1 1)	F	71	h . 0.8h .
30	rdii	75	11.5	I 3.2	(15)	winter	7.7	± 2.0	(14)	5.0	(1.1)	.5	7.1	Href, U.O Href
		95	12.9	± 2.4	(13)	Winter	9.5	± 2.8	(14)	3.4	(1)	.4	6.3	h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref}
SD	Summer	25	14.0	± 7.0	(13)	Fall	7.8	± 2.4	(13)	-6.2	(2.1)	.3	12.1	All
						Winter	6.7	± 2.3	(14)	7.3	(2.1)	1.5	13.1	all
		50	14.7	± 6.8	(13)	Winter	7.7	± 3.1	(14)	7.0	(2)	1.3	12.7	all
		50	14.6	± 6.2	(13)	Fall	8.1	± 1.9	(13)	-6.5	(1.9)	1.1	11.9	0.8h _{ref} , 0.6h _{ref}
		75	16.7	± 6.5	(13)	Winter	7.7	± 2.6	(14)	9.0	(2)	3.5	14.5	all
		75	16.2	± 7.0	(13)	Fall	9.9	± 2.4	(13)	-6.3	(2)	.7	12.0	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
		95	16.1	± 5.4	(13)	Winter	9.5	± 2.8	(14)	6.6	(1.8)	1.6	11.6	all
cv	Fall	25	0.88	± 0.14	(13)	Calving	0.69	± 0.14	(11)	19	(0.06)	.03	.36	all

		75	0.97	± 0.10	(13)	Calving	0.79	± 0.13	(11)	18	(0.06)	.01	.36	all
						Winter	0.85	± 0.08	(14)	.12	(0.04)	.01	.23	h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref}
		95	1.05	± 0.09	(13)	Calving	0.79	± 0.13	(11)	26	(0.06)	.08	.43	all
						Winter	0.92	± 0.11	(14)	.12	(0.04)	.01	.24	h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref}
cv	Rut	50	1.01	± 0.24	(12)	Calving	0.78	± 0.15	(11)	23	(0.08)	.01	.44	h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref}
		75	1.02	± 0.21	(12)	Calving	0.79	± 0.13	(11)	24	(0.06)	.06	.41	all
						Winter	0.85	± 0.08	(14)	.17	(0.06)	.00	.34	all
		75	1.05	± 0.23	(12)	Summer	0.86	± 0.20	(13)	.19	(0.07)	.01	.38	0.6h _{ref}
		95	1.04	± 0.17	(12)	Calving	0.79	± 0.13	(11)	25	(0.06)	.07	.42	all
cv	Winter	25	0.82	± 0.14	(14)	Calving	0.67	± 0.11	(11)	15	(0.05)	.00	.30	0.6h _{ref}

Appendix B: Supplementary Results for chapter 2

B. 1 Number of significant differences in \overline{x} of elevation within each of the four UD contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) between successive ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) and overall ($h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) changes in KDE bandwidth at each of the four DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m).

		Contour (%):	25				50				75				95			
Season	Change in bandwidth	Resolution (m):	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175
Winter	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		12	9	5	5	13	12	10	6	12	11	9	9	13	13	12	10
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		12	9	6	5	11	9	7	5	12	10	7	6	14	13	12	10
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		13	11	10	7	11	10	9	8	14	13	12	10	14	14	14	13
Calving	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		11	9	2	2	11	5	5	4	11	9	5	5	11	10	10	10
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		10	5	3	2	10	7	3	1	11	9	7	4	11	11	9	8
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		11	9	9	5	10	9	8	5	11	11	9	8	11	11	11	11
Summer	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		12	8	5	4	12	9	7	6	13	12	11	8	13	11	11	10
	$0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$		12	8	7	5	12	9	7	6	13	13	7	8	13	11	10	10
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		12	11	8	8	12	10	8	9	13	12	12	11	13	13	12	11
Rut	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		10	10	6	3	10	9	7	4	11	9	8	8	11	10	9	9
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		10	8	6	5	10	8	5	5	10	8	8	8	11	11	10	10
	$h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}$		11	10	8	8	11	11	9	7	11	11	9	9	11	11	11	11
Fall	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		13	11	10	7	12	11	11	10	13	13	12	11	12	12	10	9

0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	13	10	8	7	11	11	9	7	12	11	10	10	12	10	9	8
$h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}$	12	11	10	10	12	12	11	10	13	12	12	10	12	10	10	10

B. 2 Number of significant differences in \overline{x} slope within each of the four UD contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) between successive ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$ and $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) and overall ($h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$) changes in KDE bandwidth at each of the four DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m).

		Contour (%):	25				50				75				95			
Season	Change in bandwidth	Resolution (m):	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175
Winter	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		10	4	4	4	12	8	6	3	13	8	7	7	12	12	9	8
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		13	5	4	4	13	9	5	4	12	9	8	5	13	13	8	6
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		12	11	7	6	13	11	8	7	13	12	10	10	14	13	12	12
Calving	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		9	5	2	0	8	7	6	4	9	5	5	3	10	9	8	3
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		10	7	3	2	8	3	3	2	7	5	4	4	10	6	4	4
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		9	8	7	5	9	7	7	5	10	8	7	6	10	10	8	5
Summer	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		9	6	3	3	12	7	5	5	13	9	9	8	10	10	6	6
	$0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$		10	7	6	4	13	8	5	3	10	7	3	3	11	8	6	3
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		11	7	6	6	13	10	8	7	12	12	10	9	11	9	9	6
Rut	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		10	6	3	2	10	9	9	6	9	7	6	6	10	9	9	9
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}		10	5	3	3	9	8	6	4	12	9	8	7	11	10	8	7
	$h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}$		12	8	7	4	12	9	9	9	12	10	9	8	11	11	10	10
Fall	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}		13	12	10	9	13	12	12	9	13	12	12	9	13	12	11	10

0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	10	9	7	4	11	10	10	8	11	12	9	8	12	11	9	8
$h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}$	13	12	10	10	13	12	12	11	13	13	12	12	13	12	12	12

												Pairw	ise Com	parison	
		High					Low							95 Confi inte	% dence rval
Change in bandwidth	Contour	Season	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper
h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}	25	Fall	-20.8	±	11.8	(13)	Winter	-10.3	±	9.8	(14)	10.5	(3.4)	0.9	20.1
							Calving	-3.8	±	2.6	(11)	17	(3.5)	7.3	26.8
							Summer	-5.2	±	3.7	(13)	15.7	(3.5)	5.9	25.4
	50	Fall	-25.7	±	16.0	(13)	Calving	-5.2	±	3.3	(11)	20.5	(4.6)	7.5	33.6
							Summer	-6.5	±	3.7	(13)	19.2	(4.6)	6.1	32.2
	75	Fall	-39.3	±	26.8	(13)	Calving	-8.2	±	6.2	(11)	31.2	(7.1)	11.2	51.1
							Summer	-10.9	±	6.4	(13)	28.4	(7.1)	8.5	48.4
							Rut	-18.7	±	16.0	(12)	20.6	(7.1)	0.7	40.6
	95	Fall	-79.5	+	46.8	(13)	Calving	-16.1	+	12.6	(11)	63.5	(12.8)	27.3	99.6
			1010	-		(10)	Summer	-23.6	+	14.2	(13)	56	(12.8)	19.8	92.1
							Rut	-39.4	±	31.0	(12)	40.1	(12.8)	4	76.3
0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	25	Fall	-19.5	±	10.7	(13)	Winter	-9.6	±	8.5	(14)	10	(3.1)	1.2	18.7

B. 3 Significant differences (p < 0.05) between seasons (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) in the decrease in contour size (km²) with each decrease in KDE bandwidth ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$ and $h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$).

												Pairv	vise Com	parison	
		High					Low							9! Confi inte	5% dence erval
Change in bandwidth	Contour	Season	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper
							Calving	-3.5	±	2.4	(11)	16	(3.2)	7.1	25
							Summer	-4.9	±	3.5	(13)	14.7	(3.2)	5.7	23.6
	50	Fall	-24.8	±	14.2	(13)	Calving	-4.9	±	2.9	(11)	20	(4.4)	7.7	32.3
							Summer	-6.9	±	4.2	(13)	17.9	(4.4)	5.6	30.2
	75	Fall	-39.7	±	22.9	(13)	Calving	-8.6	±	6.0	(11)	31.1	(6.8)	12.1	50.2
							Summer	-11.2	±	6.4	(13)	28.5	(6.8)	9.5	47.5
	95	Fall	-80.8	±	47.0	(13)	Winter	-45.0	±	36.0	(14)	35.8	(12.6)	0.3	71.3
							Calving	-19.1	±	15.7	(11)	61.8	(12.8)	25.6	98
							Summer	-24.8	±	14.8	(13)	56	(12.8)	19.8	92.2
							Rut	-37.5	±	30.8	(12)	43.3	(12.8)	7.1	79.6
$h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}$	25	Fall	-40.4	±	22.4	(13)	Winter	-19.9	±	18.2	(14)	20.5	(6.5)	2.2	38.7
							Calving	-7.3	±	4.9	(11)	33.1	(6.6)	14.5	51.7
							Summer	-10.1	±	7.2	(13)	30.3	(6.6)	11.7	48.9
							Rut	-21.7	±	19.8	(12)	18.6	(6.6)	0	37.3
	50	Fall	-50.5	±	30.0	(13)	Calving	-10.0	±	6.2	(11)	40.5	(8.9)	15.3	65.7

												Pairv	vise Com	parison	
		High					Low							99 Confi inte	5% dence erval
Change in bandwidth	Contour	Season	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper
							Summer	-13.4	±	8.0	(13)	37.1	(8.9)	11.9	62.3
	75	Fall	-79.0	±	49.4	(13)	Calving	-16.8	±	12.0	(11)	62.3	(13.7)	23.7	100.8
							Summer	-22.1	±	12.8	(13)	56.9	(13.7)	18.4	95.5
							Rut	-39.5	±	34.4	(12)	39.5	(13.7)	1	78.1
	95	Fall	-160.4	±	93.3	(13)	Calving	-35.2	±	27.9	(11)	125.2	(25.5)	53.3	197.1
							Summer	-48.4	±	28.9	(13)	112	(25.5)	40	183.9
							Rut	-76.9	±	61.1	(12)	83.5	(25.5)	11.5	155.4

												Pair	wise com	parison	
		High					Low							9! Confi inte	5% dence erval
Season	Change in bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Contour	\overline{x}		SD	(n)	Mean difference	(SE)	lower	upper
Winter	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}	95	-46.4	±	37.3	(14)	25	-10.3	±	9.8	(14)	36.1	(10.7)	4.9	67.3
							50	-15.0	±	14.6	(14)	31.4	(9.1)	7.3	55.5
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-45.0	±	36.0	(14)	25	-9.6	±	8.5	(14)	35.4	(10.3)	5.4	65.4
							50	-14.2	±	13.4	(14)	30.8	(8.7)	7.7	53.9
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-91.4	±	73.1	(14)	25	-19.9	±	18.2	(14)	71.5	(20.9)	10.5	132.5
							50	-29.2	±	27.8	(14)	62.2	(17.6)	15.3	109.1
Calving	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}	95	-16.1	±	12.6	(11)	25	-3.8	±	2.6	(11)	12.3	(3.7)	1.3	23.3
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-19.1	±	15.7	(11)	25	-3.5	±	2.4	(11)	15.6	(4.6)	1.9	29.2
	,,					. ,	50	-4.9	±	2.9	(11)	14.2	(4.6)	.5	27.9
	here = 0.6h	95	-35.2	+	27.9	(11)	25	-7.3	+	4.9	(11)	27.9	(8.2)	3.5	52.2
	inej Gron iej	20	55.2	-	5	()	50	-10.0	±	6.2	(11)	25.1	(8.3)	.7	49.6

B. 4 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the decrease in contour size (km²) within each season (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) between contours at each decrease in KDE bandwidth ($h_{ref} - 0.8h_{ref}$, $0.8h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$ and $h_{ref} - 0.6h_{ref}$).

Summer	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}	95	-23.6	±	14.2	(13)	25	-5.2	±	3.7	(13)	18.4	(4.2)	5.9	30.9
							50	-6.5	±	3.7	(13)	17.1	(4.2)	4.6	29.6
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-24.8	±	14.8	(13)	25	-4.9	±	3.5	(13)	19.9	(4.4)	6.9	32.9
							50	-6.9	±	4.2	(13)	17.9	(4.4)	4.8	31.0
							75	-11.2	±	6.4	(13)	13.6	(4.7)	.2	27.0
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-48.4	±	28.9	(13)	25	-10.1	±	7.2	(13)	38.3	(8.6)	12.9	63.8
							50	-13.4	±	8.0	(13)	35.0	(8.7)	9.5	60.5
							75	-22.1	±	12.8	(13)	26.3	(9.1)	.0	52.6
Rut	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}	95	-39.4	±	31.0	(12)	25	-11.1	±	10.1	(12)	28.3	(9.4)	.8	55.9
	h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-76.9	±	61.1	(12)	25	-21.7	±	19.8	(12)	55.2	(18.6)	.9	109.5
Fall	h _{ref} – 0.8h _{ref}	95	-79.5	±	46.8	(13)	25	-20.8	±	11.8	(13)	58.7	(13.9)	17.6	99.8
							50	-25.7	±	16.0	(13)	53.9	(14.3)	12.2	95.5
							75	-39.3	±	26.8	(13)	40.2	(11.7)	8.9	71.6
	0.8h _{ref} – 0.6h _{ref}	95	-80.8	±	47.0	(13)	25	-19.5	±	10.7	(13)	61.3	(13.9)	20.0	102.6
							50	-24.8	±	14.2	(13)	56.0	(14.2)	14.4	97.6
							75	-39.7	±	22.9	(13)	41.1	(11.3)	11.0	71.2

$h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}$	95	-160.4	±	93.3	(13)	25	-40.4	±	22.4	(13)	120.0	(27.7)	38.0	202.0
						50	-50.5	±	30.0	(13)	109.9	(28.3)	27.0	192.7
						75	-79.0	±	49.4	(13)	81.3	(22.9)	20.3	142.4

B. 5 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) between contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) within each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref} and h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}). We indicate the resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which differences between contours were significant.

													P	airwise co	omparison		
			High					Low							95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Elevation Variable	Season	Change in bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
Mean	Rut	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	20.6	±	13.9	(11)	25	8.3	±	8.4	(10)	12.3	(4.5)	0.3	24.4	25
	Fall	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	26.6	±	13.3	(8)	25	10.3	±	4.1	(7)	16.2	(5.5)	1.1	31.4	175
SD	Winter	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	95	16.6	±	12.8	(13)	25	6.6	±	5.7	(9)	10.0	(3.7)	<0.1	20	75
			95	17.8	±	12.7	(12)	50	5.7	±	4.4	(10)	12.1	(3.9)	0.3	24.0	125
			95	-16.9	±	13.4	(13)	50	-6.2	±	5.2	(10)	10.7	(3.8)	0.5	20.9	25, 125
		0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	15.6	±	10.9	(14)	25	5.1	±	5.2	(12)	-10.6	(3.3)	1.4	19.7	25, 75, 175
								75	5.7	±	4.9	(12)	-9.9	(3.2)	0.8	19	25, 75
		h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	31.6	±	23.5	(14)	25	8.3	±	9.6	(13)	-23.2	(6)	7.3	39.2	all
								50	12.8	±	13.6	(12)	-18.7	(6.3)	2	35.5	25, 75
	Calving	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	50	9.5	±	2.5	(5)	25	3	±	0.4	(2)	-6.5	(1.1)	1.8	11.2	125
		0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	75	14.5	±	5.1	(4)	95	7	±	3.1	(8)	7.5	(2.4)	1	13.9	175

													I	Pairwise co	mparison		
			High					Low							95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Elevation Variable	Season	Change in bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
		h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	75	19.5	±	10	(11)	95	8.9	±	5.1	(11)	10.5	(3.4)	0.8	20.3	25, 75, 175
	Summer	h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	50	22.3	±	15.9	(12)	25	9	±	7.2	(12)	-13.2	(4.7)	0.8	25.7	25, 125
			50	27.0	±	16.2	(8)	75	12.7	±	12.3	(12)	14.2	(5.1)	0.5	28	125
	Rut	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	95	12.0	±	7.4	(10)	25	3.6	±	2.9	(10)	8.5	(2.8)	0.9	16.0	75, 175
			95	-10.3	±	4.6	(7)	25	-3.9	±	2.7	(9)	6.4	(2)	0.3	12.5	25, 75, 175
	Fall	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	-27.6	±	19.5	(8)	25	-8.2	±	7.2	(7)	19.4	(6.5)	1.6	37.1	125
cv	Winter	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	95	0.015	±	0.011	(13)	25	0.006	±	0.005	(9)	0.009	(0.003)	<0.001	-0.018	75
								50	0.006	±	0.005	(10)	0.01	(0.003)	<0.001	0.019	75, 125, 175
			95	-0.15	±	0.012	(13)	50	-0.006	±	0.005	(10)	0.01	(0.041)	<0.001	0.019	25, 175
		0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	0.014	±	0.01	(14)	25	0.005	±	0.006	(12)	0.009	(0.003)	<0.001	0.017	25
								75	0.005	±	0.005	(12)	0.009	(0.003)	<0.001	0.017	25
		h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	0.029	±	0.022	(14)	25	0.009	±	0.01	(13)	0.02	0.006	0.005	0.034	25, 75
								50	0.012	±	0.012	(11)	0.016	(0.006)	<0.001	0.032	25, 75
	Rut	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	95	0.007	±	0.004	(11)	25	0.002	±	0.002	(10)	0.005	(0.001)	<0.001	0.01	all
			95	-0.008	±	0.003	(7)	25	-0.025	±	0.002	(9)	0.006	(0.001)	<0.001	0.01	all

											I	Pairwise co	mparison		
			High				Low						95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Elevation Variable	Season	Change in bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
	Fall	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	95	0.014	± 0.01	(10)	25	0.003	± 0.005	(10)	0.011	(0.003)	0.001	0.021	125
			95	-0.019	± 0.007	(7)	25	-0.004	± 0.005	(8)	0.015	(0.005)	0.001	0.028	125
				0.010		(12)		0.005		(4.2)	0.000	(0,000)	0.004	0.016	25
		U.8n _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	75	0.013	± 0.008	(12)	25	0.005	± 0.004	(13)	0.008	(0.003)	< 0.001	0.016	25

B. 6 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) within each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref} and h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}). We indicate the resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which differences between contours were significant.

													Pa	irwise cor	nparison		
			High					Low							95% Co inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	Season	Change in bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}		SD	(n)	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}		SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolution (m)
Mean	Fall	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	75	1.1	±	0.6	(11)	25	0.5	±	0.2	(10)	0.6	(0.2)	0.1	1.2	ALL
			95	0.9	±	0.4	(8)	25	0.4	±	0.1	(4)	0.5	(0.2)	0	1.0	175
SD	Calving	h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	50	2	±	1.1	(9)	25	0.6	±	0.8	(9)	1.4	(0.5)	0.1	2.6	25
		0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	50	2.2	±	0.5	(3)	25	0.4	±	0.4	(7)	1.7	(0.3)	0.2	3.3	75, 125
	Fall	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	75	1.4	±	0.9	(11)	25	0.5	±	0.3	(10)	0.9	(0.3)	0.1	1.8	25
			95	1.1	±	0.6	(9)	25	0.4	±	0.3	(7)	0.7	(0.2)	0	1.4	125
		h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	95	2	±	1	(13)	25	0.9	±	0.5	(13)	1.0	(0.3)	0.1	1.9	25, 75
	Summer	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	50	1.2	±	0.7	(12)	25	0.5	±	0.3	(9)	0.7	(0.2)	0	1.3	25, 75
			50	1.6	±	0.7	(7)	75	0.7	±	0.7	(9)	0.9	(0.3)	0.1	1.6	75
								95	0.6	±	0.4	(10)	1	(0.3)	0.3	1.8	75
		h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	50	2.2	±	1.4	(8)	75	0.8	±	1	(10)	1.4	(0.5)	0.1	2.8	125, 175
cv																	
	Summer	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	25	0.10	±	0.01	(3)	75	0.06	±	0.03	(9)	0.04	(0.01)	<0.01	0.08	125, 175

													Ра	irwise con	nparison		
			High					Low							95% Co inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	Season	Change in bandwidth	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}		SD	(n)	Contour	\overline{x}_{Δ}		SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolution (m)
	Winter	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	25	0.07	±	0.03	(5)	75	0.02	±	0.02	(9)	0.05	(0.02)	0.01	0.09	75
				0.07	±	0.03	(5)	75	0.01	±	0.01	(4)	0.06	(0.02)	<0.01	0.12	75
		0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	25	0.07	±	0.03	(5)	95	0.03	±	0.03	(13)	0.04	(0.02)	<0.01	0.08	75

B. 7 Significant differences (p < 0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) within contours of the same value between the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref} and h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}). We indicate the resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which differences between contours were significant.

													Pai	irwise Co	mparison		
	High							Low							95% Coi Inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	season	Contour	Change in bandwidth	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
Mean	Calving	25	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	21.5	±	8.1	(5)	Winter	6.3	±	4.2	(9)	15.2	(5)	0.8	29.7	75
	Summer	50	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	21	±	10.7	(9)	Winter	8.2	±	6.2	(12)	12.8	(3.8)	1.9	23.6	75, 125
								Rut	8.7	±	5.9	(9)	12.3	(4.1)	0.7	23.9	75
	Fall	50	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	18.7	±	8.9	(11)	Winter	8.2	±	6.2	(12)	10.5	(3.6)	0.2	20.8	75
SD	Winter	95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	16.9	±	13.4	(13)	Calving	4	±	4.4	(11)	12.8	(3.5)	3	22.7	all
			0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	15.6	±	10.9	(14)	Calving	6	±	3.5	(11)	9.7	(3.1)	0.2	19.1	25, 75, 125
			h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	31.6	±	23.5	(14)	Calving	8.9	±	5.1	(11)	22.6	(6.5)	2.6	42.7	all
	Fall	50	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	14.6	±	10.8	(12)	Winter	5.5	±	4.9	(13)	9.1	(3)	0.7	17.4	25
			0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	17.2	±	4.2	(9)	Calving	3.4	±	3.5	(3)	13.8	(2.4)	2.2	25.5	125
			h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	30.7	±	13.5	(10)	Calving	8.9	±	7.4	(5)	21.8	(7.4)	0.6	43.1	175
		75	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	17.3	±	12	(12)	Winter	5.7	±	4.9	(12)	11.6	(3.7)	0	23.2	25

									Pa	irwise Co	mparison						
	High							Low							95% Cor Inte	nfidence rval	
Slope Variable	season	Contour	Change in bandwidth	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	± SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
		95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	15.1	±	8.8	(12)	Calving	4	±	4.4	(11)	11	(2.9)	2.3	19.8	all
				15.1	±	8.8	(12)	Summer	6.4	±	3.9	(13)	8.7	(2.8)	0.2	17.3	all
			h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	38.8	±	26.7	(10)	Calving	9.1	±	5.3	(11)	29.7	(8.6)	1.3	58.1	75, 125, 175
CV	Winter	95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	0.015	±	0.012	(13)	Calving	0.003	±	0.004	(11)	0.012	(0.003)	0.004	0.021	all
				-0.015	±	0.012	(13)	Calving	-0.003	±	0.004	(10)	0.012	(0.003)	0.003	0.021	All
				-0.017	±	0.011	(10)	Rut	-0.007	±	0.005	(7)	0.01	(0.003)	0	0.02	175
				0.015	±	0.011	(13)	Summer	0.004	±	0.005	(11)	0.011	(0.003)	0.002	0.02	75, 125, 175
				-0.015	±	0.011	(13)	Summer	-0.004	±	0.005	(9)	0.010	(0.003)	0.003	0.020	75, 125, 175
			0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	0.015	±	0.011	(13)	Calving	0.003	±	0.005	(11)	0.013	(0.003)	0.002	0.023	75, 125
			h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	0.029	±	0.021	(14)	Calving	0.007	±	0.006	(11)	0.022	(0.007)	0.004	0.04	all
				-0.029	±	0.021	(14)	Calving	-0.008	±	0.007	(8)	0.021	(0.006)	0.002	0.040	75, 125, 175
	Fall	50	h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	0.022	±	0.01	(12)	Rut	0.007	±	0.009	(11)	0.014	(0.005)	0.001	0.028	75
		75	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	0.013	±	0.009	(11)	Summer	0.004	±	0.005	(13)	0.009	(0.003)	0.001	0.017	75
		75	h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	0.022	±	0.017	(13)	Summer	0.009	±	0.01	(13)	0.013	(0.004)	0.001	0.026	25
		95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	0.012	±	0.009	(12)	Calving	0.003	±	0.004	(11)	0.01	(0.003)	0.001	0.018	25, 125

													Ра				
	High							Low							95% Confidence Interval		
Slope Variable	season	Contour	Change in bandwidth	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
				-0.015	±	0.008	(9)	Calving	-0.003	±	0.004	(10)	0.012	(0.003)	0.002	0.22	25, 125, 175
				-0.019	±	0.007	(7)	Rut	-0.007	±	0.005	(7)	0.011	(0.004)	0.001	0.022	125, 175
				-0.019	±	0.007	(7)	Summer	-0.004	±	0.005	(9)	0.014	(0.003)	0.004	0.024	125, 175

												Pa	airwise Co	mparison		
	High						Low							95% Co inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	season	Contour	Change in bandwidth	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
Mean	Calving	50	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	2.8	± 0.3	(2)	Fall	0.8	±	0.6	(8)	2	(0.3)	0.4	3.6	175
		75	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	2.0	± 0.8	(5)	Fall	0.8	±	0.7	(12)	1.3	(0.4)	0.1	2.4	125
				2.0	± 0.8	(5)	Winter	0.6	±	0.5	(7)	1.4	(0.4)	0.1	2.7	125
		95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	1.1	± 0.4	(9)	Winter	0.4	±	0.3	(12)	0.7	(0.2)	0.1	1.3	75
				-1.1	± 0.4	(4)	Winter	-0.4	±	0.3	(11)	0.6	(0.2)	<0.1	1.3	75
	Fall	75	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	1.1	± 0.6	(11)	Winter	0.3	±	0.2	(12)	0.8	(0.2)	0.2	1.4	25, 75
		75		-1.1	± 0.6	(11)	Winter	-0.4	±	0.6	(10)	0.8	(0.2)	0.1	1.4	25, 75
		95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	0.9	± 0.5	(12)	Winter	0.4	±	0.3	(12)	0.5	(0.2)	<0.1	1	75
	Rut	25	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	1.1	± 0.3	(2)	Fall	0.5	±	0.3	(9)	0.7	(0.1)	0.3	1.2	175
		95	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	1.0	± 0.5	(9)	Winter	0.4	±	0.3	(12)	0.6	(0.2)	<0.1	1.2	75
	Summer	50	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	1.2	± 0.8	(12)	Winter	0.4	±	0.3	(12)	0.9	(0.3)	<0.1	1.7	25

B. 8 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) within contours of the same value between the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each of the three changes in bandwidth (h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref} and h_{ref} - 0.6 h_{ref}). We indicate the resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which differences between contours were significant.

										1	Pairwise Cor	nparison					
	High							Low							95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	season	Contour	Change in bandwidth	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Significant resolutions (m)
SD	Calving	50	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	2.2	±	0.5	(3)	Winter	0.5	±	0.8	(9)	1.7	(0.4)	0.1	3.2	75
	Fall	25	h _{ref} -0.8h _{ref}	0.6	±	0.4	(9)	Summer	0.5	±	0.6	(3)	0.1	(0)	0.1	0.1	175
		50	h_{ref} -0.8 h_{ref}	1.2	±	0.7	(12)	Winter	0.3	±	0.5	(12)	0.9	(0.3)	0.1	1.6	25, 75
		75	0.8h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	1.3	±	0.9	(9)	Calving	0.2	±	0.1	(4)	1.1	(0.3)	<0.1	2.2	125
				1.4	±	0.9	(11)	Winter	0.2	±	0.2	(12)	1.2	(0.3)	0.3	2.1	25, 75
				-1.7	±	0.8	(9)		-0.2	±	0.2	(7)	1.4	(0.3)	0.5	2.4	all
			h _{ref} -0.6h _{ref}	1.8	±	1.3	(13)	Winter	0.6	±	0.5	(13)	1.2	(0.4)	<0.1	2.4	25, 75
				-2.4	±	0.8	(9)		-0.8	±	0.6	(8)	1.6	(0.5)	0.2	3.0	75, 125, 175
CV	Summer	25	href-0.8href	0.099	±	0.009	(3)	Fall	0.043	±	0.0	4 (10)	-0.056	(0.014)	-0.009	-0.103	125
								Rut	0.02	±	0.0	19 (3)	-0.079	(0.012)	-0.004	-0.154	125

Appendix C: Supplementary Results for chapter 3

										-					
		Bandwidth:		h	ref			0.8	h _{ref}	_		0.6	5h _{ref}		
Season	Contour Pair	Resolution (m):	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	
Winter	25 - 50		14	13	11	11	14	13	13	11	14	12	10	9	
	25 - 75		14	13	13	12	14	14	13	13	14	14	14	13	
	25 - 95		14	14	14	14	13	13	13	13	14	14	13	13	
	50 - 75		14	14	14	14	14	13	13	13	14	13	12	11	
	50 - 95		14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	13	
	75 - 95		14	14	14	14	14	14	14	13	13	13	13	13	
Calving	25 - 50		11	10	9	8	11	9	8	6	11	10	9	7	
_	25 - 75		11	10	10	9	11	11	11	9	11	11	11	10	
	25 - 95		11	11	11	11	11	11	11	10	11	11	11	11	
	50 - 75		11	8	7	6	10	10	10	8	11	10	9	7	
	50 - 95		11	10	8	8	11	9	9	9	11	10	10	10	
	75 - 95		11	10	10	8	11	9	9	8	11	8	8	8	
Summer	25 - 50		12	10	10	10	12	11	10	9	11	7	7	6	
	25 - 75		13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	11	11	
	25 - 95		13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	12	12	12	
	50 - 75		13	13	12	12	13	13	13	11	13	12	11	11	
	50 - 95		12	12	12	12	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	12	
	75 - 95		12	12	12	12	13	12	12	12	13	13	13	13	
Rut	25 - 50		12	11	11	9	12	10	9	9	11	10	10	10	

C. 1 Number of significant differences in in \overline{x} of elevation between each contour pair of a season (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each KDE bandwidth (h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} and 0.6h_{ref}) and DEM resolution (25, 75, 125 and 175m).

	25 - 75	12	11	11	11	12	12	10	10	11	11	10	9	
	25 - 95	12	11	11	11	12	11	11	11	12	10	9	9	
	50 - 75	11	9	9	9	10	9	9	8	12	10	10	9	
	50 - 95	11	11	11	11	12	11	10	10	12	11	10	10	
	75 - 95	12	11	10	10	11	10	10	9	12	11	11	10	
Fall	25 - 50	13	13	12	12	13	13	13	12	13	11	10	9	
	25 - 75	13	13	13	13	13	12	12	12	13	12	12	12	
	25 - 95	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	
	50 - 75	13	13	13	13	13	12	12	11	13	13	11	10	
	50 - 95	13	13	13	13	13	13	12	12	13	13	13	12	
	75 - 95	13	12	12	12	13	12	11	8	13	12	12	11	
		Bandwidth:		h,	ref		-	0.8	h _{ref}			0.6	h _{ref}	
---------	-----------------	-----------------	----	----	-----	-----	----	-----	------------------	-----	----	-----	------------------	-----
Season	Contour Pair	Resolution (m):	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175	25	75	125	175
Winter	25 - 50		13	12	9	9	13	11	9	9	12	11	11	10
	25 - 75		14	12	11	11	14	12	13	12	14	13	11	11
	25 - 95		14	12	12	11	14	11	11	11	14	11	12	12
	50 - 75		13	11	10	8	13	10	9	6	13	11	7	6
	50 - 95		12	12	13	13	14	12	13	12	14	14	13	14
	75 - 95		13	13	12	11	13	11	11	11	11	11	10	10
Calving	25 - 50		10	8	7	6	9	8	8	7	11	10	9	8
	25 - 75		11	9	8	7	11	10	8	7	9	8	7	7
	25 - 95		11	11	11	11	10	10	10	9	10	10	9	8
	50 - 75		9	8	9	8	10	10	9	7	9	10	9	8
	50 - 95		11	9	9	8	10	10	10	9	10	9	9	6
	75 - 95		10	7	7	6	9	7	6	5	8	8	8	7
Summer	25 - 50		11	10	8	8	11	10	9	8	12	12	11	8
	25 - 75		13	13	11	11	13	12	10	9	11	10	10	10
	25 - 95		13	12	11	9	13	12	12	10	12	12	11	11
	50 - 75		12	11	11	10	13	11	10	9	11	11	10	9
	50 - 95		13	12	11	11	13	12	11	11	13	11	11	11
	75 - 95		13	12	9	9	13	13	12	11	12	12	11	11
Rut	25 - 50		11	11	11	10	12	12	10	10	10	10	9	8

C. 2 Number of significant differences in in \overline{x} slope between each contour pair of a season (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each KDE bandwidth (h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} and 0.6h_{ref}) and DEM resolution (25, 75, 125 and 175m).

	25 - 75	12	11	10	10	12	11	10	10	10	10	10	9
	25 - 95	12	10	10	9	11	9	8	8	11	11	9	9
	50 - 75	12	12	11	11	11	11	10	10	12	11	10	9
	50 - 95	12	11	10	10	12	12	11	11	12	11	11	10
	75 - 95	11	11	10	10	11	10	9	8	10	9	9	8
Fall	25 - 50	13	12	11	11	12	12	12	11	12	9	8	7
	25 - 75	13	13	13	12	13	12	12	12	12	12	12	11
	25 - 95	13	12	10	10	13	13	12	12	13	13	13	13
	50 - 75	12	11	11	11	13	13	11	11	13	10	10	10
	50 - 95	13	12	12	12	13	13	13	12	13	13	13	13
	75 - 95	12	12	13	13	13	13	12	9	12	12	11	11

C. 3 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) between contour pairs within each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). We indicate the KDE bandwidths (h_{ref}-0.8h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} – 0.6h_{ref} and h_{ref} – 0.6h_{ref}) as well as DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which significant differences were found.

								Ра	irwise cor	nparison		Signif	icant resolutio	ons (m)
		High			Low					95% Co inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth:		
Elevation Variable	Season	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
<u>Mean</u>	Fall	25-75	66.0 ± 35.5	(12)	25-50	27.7 ± 22.8	(13)	38.3	(12.04)	0.1	76.5		75, 125	
		25-95	94.4 ± 55.6	(13)	25-50	27.6 ± 22.8	(13)	66.7	(16.67)	13.0	120.4		all	25, 75, 125
		25-95	94.4 ± 55.6	(13)	50-75	38.2 ± 30.0	(13)	56.2	(17.53)	0.6	111.7		25	25, 75
		50-95	82.5 ± 53.5	(12)	25-50	27.7 ± 22.8	(13)	54.8	(16.7)	0.4	109.2		125	25
	Rut	25-95	90.1 ± 60.0	(11)	25-50	28.3 ± 24.0	(11)	61.8	(18.21)	8.2	115.5	75, 125, 175		
		25-95	60.7 ± 26.7	(9)	75-95	26.6 ± 18.5	(11)	34.1	(11.05)	1.5	66.8		all	125, 175
	Summer	25-95	139.2 ± 69.4	(13)	25-50	60.2 ± 47.8	(12)	79.0	(22.43)	13.2	144.7	25	25, 75, 125	25
		25-95	139.2 ± 69.4	(13)	50-75	57.5 ± 48.2	(13)	81.7	(21.98)	17.3	146.1	all	25, 75, 125	75
		25-95	139.2 ± 69.4	(13)	75-95	59.4 ± 33.0	(12)	79.7	(22.43)	14.0	145.5	all	all	75, 125, 175
<u>SD</u>	Calving	25-95	58.9 ± 39.3	(11)	75-95	14.4 ± 10.1	(11)	44.5	(12.24)	3.0	86.0	all		
	Fall	25-75	61.3 ± 18.6	(13)	25-50	29.7 ± 21.6	(13)	31.6	(7.9)	7.2	56.1			25, 75, 125
			61.3 ± 18.6	(13)	50-75	31.6 ± 16.8	(13)	29.7	(9.94)	0.6	58.8			25, 75
		25-95	101.6 ± 55.2	(13)	25-50	46.4 ± 23.1	(13)	55.3	(16.59)	1.8	108.7	all	all	all
			101.6 ± 55.2	(13)	50-75	34.6 ± 22.1	(13)	67.1	(16.48)	13.9	120.3	all	all	all

									Ра	irwise con	nparison		Signifi	cant resoluti	ons (m)
		High			Low						95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth:		
Elevation Variable	Season	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm S$	SD (I	n) Conto Pair	ur \overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
			86.7 ± 2	23.3 (1	3) 50-9 5	5 57.4	± 37.9	(13)	29.3	(9.94)	0.2	58.4			25, 75, 175
			101.6 ± 5	55.2 (1	3) 75-9 5	3 9.0	± 29.0	(13)	62.6	(14.31)	20.7	104.5	all	all	all
		50-95	62.1 ± 3	35.3 (1	2) 25-50	27.6	± 21.2	(12)	34.5	(10.09)	4.9	64.1			25, 75, 125
	Rut	25-95	43.8 ± 2	22.5 (1	2) 50-7 5	5 12.5	± 15.7	(12)	31.2	(7.43)	9.4	53.1			all
		25-95	47.7 ± 2	25.4 (1	2) 75-9 5	5 19.8	± 13.5	(11)	27.8	(8.38)	1.1	54.6		25, 75, 125	all
	Summer	25-75	74.9 ± 4	45.7 (1	1) 75-9 5	5 20.4	± 11.3	(13)	54.6	(14.12)	6.4	102.7			125, 175
	Winter	25-95	96.1 ± 4	48.7 (1	4) 25-50) 27.3	± 25.8	(14)	68.8	(14.74)	22.4	115.2	all	all	all
		25-95	96.1 ± 4	48.7 (1	4) 25-7 5	5 45.7	± 38.3	(14)	50.4	(13.51)	10.9	89.9	all	all	
		25-95	96.1 ± 4	48.7 (1	4) 50-7 5	5 20.7	± 16.1	(14)	75.4	(13.72)	31.2	119.7	all	all	all
		25-95	96.1 ± 4	48.7 (1	4) 75-9 5	50.6	± 39.1	(14)	45.5	(13.51)	6.0	85.0	all		25, 125, 175
		50-95	70.1 ± 3	37.0 (1	4) 25-5 0) 27.3	± 25.8	(14)	42.8	(13.51)	3.3	82.3	all		
		50-95	70.1 ± 3	37.0 (1	4) 50-7 5	5 20.7	± 16.1	(14)	49.4	(10.8)	15.1	83.8	all	all	125, 175
<u>cv</u>	Calving	25-95	.0470 ± .(.0240 (1	1) 75-95	. 0120	± .0100	(11)	0.034	(0.008)	0.009	0.060	25, 75, 125	25, 175	
	Fall	25-75	.0440 ± .0	.0130 (1	3) 25-5 0	.0200	± .0140	(13)	0.023	(0.005)	0.007	0.040			all
		25-75	.0450 ± .0	.0120 (1	2) 50-7 5	.0240	± .0110	(13)	0.022	(0.007)	0.000	0.043			75
		25-95	.0790 ± .0	.0440 (1	3) 25-5() .0330	± .0170	(13)	0.046	(0.013)	0.004	0.089	all	all	all
		25-95	.0670 ± .0	.0150 (1	2) 25-7 5	.0440	± .0140	(12)	0.024	(0.007)	0.002	0.046			25
		25-95	.0790 ± .0	.0440 (1	3) 50-7 5	.0250	± .0170	(13)	0.054	(0.013)	0.012	0.097	all	all	all

									Ра	irwise con	nparison		Signific	ant resoluti	ons (m)
		High				Low					95% Co inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth:		
Elevation Variable	Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ} =	± SD	(n)	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
		25-95	.0800 ±	± .0300	(12)	50-95	.0510 ± .0350) (13)	0.029	(0.01)	0.000	0.057		25	25, 75, 125
		25-95	.0790 ±	± .0440	(13)	75-95	.0310 ± .0260) (13)	0.047	(0.012)	0.013	0.082	all	all	all
		50-95	.0440 ±	± .0270	(13)	25-50	.0200 ± .0140) (13)	0.024	(0.007)	0.003	0.045			25, 125
	Rut	25-95	.0330 ±	± .0170	(12)	25-50	.0180 ± .0080) (12)	0.015	(0.005)	0.000	0.030	25, 75, 125	all	
		25-95	.0330 ±	± .0170	(12)	50-75	.0160 ± .0100) (11)	0.017	(0.005)	0.002	0.033	all	all	all
		25-95	.0300 ±	± .0140	(12)	50-95	.0160 ± .0130) (12)	0.014	(0.005)	0.000	0.028			25, 75
		25-95	.0330 ±	± .0170	(12)	75-95	.0170 ± .0110) (12)	0.016	(0.005)	0.001	0.030	25, 75, 125	all	all
	Winter	25-95	.0930 ±	± .0450	(14)	25-50	.0270 ± .0230) (14)	0.066	(0.014)	0.024	0.109	all	all	all
		25-95	.0930 ±	± .0450	(14)	25-75	.0450 ± .0330) (14)	0.048	(0.015)	0.002	0.095	all	all	
		25-95	.0930 ±	± .0450	(14)	50-75	.0210 ± .0150) (14)	0.073	(0.013)	0.032	0.114	all	all	all
		25-95	.0930 ±	± .0450	(14)	75-95	.0490 ± .0380) (14)	0.044	(0.013)	0.007	0.081	all	all	all
		50-95	.0670 ±	± .0370	(14)	25-50	.0270 ± .0230) (14)	0.040	(0.013)	0.003	0.078	all		
		50-95	.0670 ±	± .0370	(14)	50-75	.0210 ± .0150) (14)	0.047	(0.011)	0.012	0.081	all	all	

C. 4 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between contour pairs within each seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). We indicate the KDE bandwidths (h_{ref}-0.8h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} – 0.6h_{ref} and h_{ref} – 0.6h_{ref}) as well as DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which significant differences were found.

								Pa	irwise co	mparison		Signif	ficant resolution	ns (m)
		High			Low					95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth:		
Elevation Variable	Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ} ± S	5D (n)	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Mean difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
Mean	Fall	25-75	2.9 ± 1	4 (12)	75-95	1.3 ± 1.1	(12)	1.6	(0.5)	0.1	3.1		125	
		25-95	4.4 ± 1	4 (10)	25-50	2.0 ± 1.0	(11)	2.4	(0.7)	0.5	4.3	125, 175	125	
		25-95	4.4 ± 1	4 (10)	50-75	1.8 ± 1.2	(11)	2.6	(0.7)	0.7	4.5	125, 175		
		25-95	4.4 ± 1	4 (10)	75-95	1.9 ± 1.4	(13)	2.5	(0.6)	0.7	4.4	125, 175	75, 125, 175	25, 75, 125
	Summer	25-75	8.2 ± 5	5.1 (13)	75-95	2.9 ± 2.2	(13)	5.3	(1.5)	0.4	10.3	25		
	Winter	25-95	3.0 ± 1	9 (11)	50-75	0.8 ± 0.6	(11)	2.2	(0.6)	0.1	4.2		75, 125, 175	75, 175
SD	Calving	25-75	6.0 ± 3	3.2 (7)	75-95	1.1 ± 1.1	(6)	4.9	(1.3)	0.2	9.6	175		
	Fall	25-75	4.0 ± 2	2.6 (13)	75-95	1.6 ± 1.4	(13)	2.4	(0.8)	0	4.8		25, 75, 125	
		25-95	5.5 ± 2	2.4 (10)	25-50	2.4 ± 1.9	(11)	3.1	(0.9)	0.5	5.6	125, 175		25, 75, 125
		25-95	5.1 ± 2	.9 (13)	50-75	1.9 ± 1.4	(12)	3.2	(0.9)	0.3	6.1	all		
		25-95	5.5 ± 2	2.4 (10)	75-95	2.2 ± 1.2	(13)	3.3	(0.8)	0.8	5.7	125, 175	25, 75, 125	75, 125
	Rut	25-95	4.4 ± 2	2.5 (11)	50-75	1.7 ± 1.0	(12)	2.7	(0.9)	0.2	5.3			25

ccxlvii

		25-95	4.4 ± 2.5	(11)	50-95	1.9 ± 1.7	(12)	2.5	(0.9)	<0.1	5.0			25
		25-95	4.4 ± 2.5	(11)	75-95	1.5 ± 1.1	(10)	2.9	(0.9)	0.3	5.5			25, 75
	Winter	25-95	3.0 ± 1.9	(11)	50-75	0.6 ± 0.6	(11)	2.4	(0.6)	0.4	4.5		75, 125	75, 125
		50-95	2.9 ± 1.7	(12)	50-75	1.1 ± 0.8	(13)	1.8	(0.5)	0.1	3.6	25		
CV	Calving	25-95	0.20 ± 0.11	(11)	50-75	0.05 ± 0.04	(9)	0.15	(0.04)	0.02	0.27	125, 175		
	Fall	25-75	0.18 ± 0.13	(13)	75-95	0.06 ± 0.05	(13)	0.12	(0.04)	<0.01	0.24		25, 125, 175	
		25-95	0.28 ± 0.17	(12)	50-75	0.12 ± 0.08	(11)	0.16	(0.05)	<0.01	0.31		175	
		25-95	0.25 ± 0.16	(10)	75-95	0.10 ± 0.09	(13)	0.15	(0.05)	0.01	0.29	125, 175	125, 175	175
	Rut	25-75	0.23 ± 0.13	(12)	75-95	0.09 ± 0.07	(11)	0.15	(0.05)	0.01	0.28	25	175	all
	Summer	25-75	0.23 ± 0.14	(13)	75-95	0.08 ± 0.07	(13)	0.16	(0.04)	0.02	0.29	25, 75		
		25-95	0.32 ± 0.19	(11)	75-95	0.13 ± 0.10	(11)	0.19	(0.06)	<0.01	0.38			175

C. 5 Significant pairwise differences between seasons (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of elevation (m) between contours between each season (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). We indicate the KDE bandwidths (h_{ref}-0.8h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} – 0.6h_{ref} and h_{ref} – 0.6h_{ref}) as well as DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which significant differences were found.

										Pairwise Co	mparison					
												95% Cor Inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth (r	/Resolution n)	
Elevation Variable	High Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Low Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8 h _{ref}	0.6 h _{ref}
<u>Mean</u>	Calving	25-75	98.1	± 81.6	(10)	Winter	38.7	± 21.7	(13)	59.4	(26.5)	27.8	146.7			175
	Summer	25-50	71.7	± 44.1	(10)	Winter	29	± 29.2	(11)	42.7	(14.7)	1	84.4	175		
		25-75	107.7	± 65.1	(13)	Rut	39.1	± 23.2	(12)	68.6	(19.2)	9.3	128		all	all
		25-75	110.8	± 74.3	(13)	Winter	40.3	± 36.1	(14)	70.5	(22.8)	1.3	139.7	25	all	all
		25-95	127.9	± 78.5	(13)	Rut	46.1	± 34.8	(12)	81.8	(24)	8.7	154.9			all
		25-95	134.8	± 78.1	(13)	Winter	64.1	± 44.2	(13)	70.7	(25)	0.2	141.2		175	all
		50-95	103.2	± 65.5	(13)	Rut	42.1	± 33.3	(12)	61.1	(20.8)	2.6	119.5			25
		50-95	103.2	± 65.5	(13)	Winter	35	± 31.4	(14)	68.2	(20)	7.2	129.1			all
<u>SD</u>	Calving	25-50	71.7	± 62.1	(6)	Rut	23.9	± 11.5	(9)	47.8	(25.6)	53.3	148.9		175	
	Fall	25-75	77.4	± 23.2	(12)	Rut	37.9	± 23.9	(9)	39.5	(13.8)	0.3	78.7	175		
		25-75	77.5	± 23	(12)	Winter	38.9	± 29.7	(13)	38.7	(13)	1.7	75.6	75,125		
		25-95	101.6	± 55.2	(13)	Rut	44.9	± 27	(12)	56.8	(17.2)	4.7	108.8	all	25	
		25-95	101.6	± 55.2	(13)	Summer	50.9	± 41	(13)	50.7	(17.2)	2.4	99	all	all	

										Pairwise Cor	mparison					
											-	95% Co Inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth/I (m	Resolution)	
Elevation Variable	High Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Low Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8 <i>h</i> _{ref}	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
		50-95	70.5	± 42.6	(12)	Rut	31.3	± 23.1	(10)	39.2	(13.3)	1.6	76.8		25	
	Summer	50-75	44.7	± 40.5	(11)	Rut	14.2	± 16.9	(10)	30.6	(10.1)	1.8	59.3			125
		50-75	44.7	± 40.5	(11)	Winter	16.1	± 14.2	(12)	28.6	(9.7)	1.1	56.1			125
	Winter	25-95	96.1	± 48.7	(14)	Rut	44.9	± 27	(12)	51.2	(15.2)	4.2	98.3	all		
		50-95	70.1	± 37	(14)	Calving	32.5	± 24.1	(11)	37.6	(13.2)	0.3	74.9	all		
		50-95	70.1	± 37	(14)	Rut	28.7	± 17.3	(11)	41.4	(11.2)	7.9	75	all		
		50-95	70.1	± 37	(14)	Summer	33.2	± 19.2	(12)	36.9	(11.4)	3	70.9	all		
		75-95	50.6	± 39.1	(14)	Calving	14.4	± 10.1	(11)	36.2	(10.9)	2.6	69.7	all		
<u>cv</u>	Calving	25-50	0.05	± 0.05	(6)	Rut	0.02	± 0.01	(9)	0.04	(0.02)	0.04	0.11		175	
	Fall	25-75	0.05	± 0.02	(13)	Rut	0.02	± 0.01	(12)	0.03	(0.01)	<0.01	0.06	all		
		25-95	0.08	± 0.04	(13)	Rut	0.03	± 0.02	(12)	0.05	(0.01)	0.01	0.09	all	all	25
		25-95	0.08	± 0.04	(13)	Summer	0.03	± 0.03	(13)	0.04	(0.01)	0.01	0.08	75, 125, 175	all	
	Winter	25-95	0.09	± 0.05	(14)	Calving	0.05	± 0.02	(11)	0.05	(0.01)	0.01	0.09	all	25, 75, 125	
		25-95	0.09	± 0.05	(14)	Rut	0.03	± 0.02	(12)	0.06	(0.01)	0.02	0.10	all	all	all
		25-95	0.09	± 0.05	(14)	Summer	0.03	± 0.03	(13)	0.06	(0.01)	0.02	0.10	all	all	all
		50-95	0.07	± 0.04	(14)	Calving	0.03	± 0.02	(11)	0.04	(0.01)	0.01	0.07	all		

										Pairwise Co	mparison					
												95% Co Inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth (r	/Resolution n)	
Elevation Variable	High Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Low Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8 <i>h</i> _{ref}	0.6 h _{ref}
		50-95	0.07	± 0.04	(14)	Rut	0.02	± 0.01	(11)	0.05	(0.01)	0.01	0.08	all	all	25, 75
		50-95	0.07	± 0.04	(14)	Summer	0.02	± 0.01	(12)	0.04	(0.01)	0.01	0.08	all	all	175
		75-95	0.05	± 0.04	(14)	Calving	0.01	± 0.01	(11)	0.04	(0.01)	0.01	0.07	all		
		75-95	0.05	± 0.04	(14)	Summer	0.02	± 0.01	(12)	0.03	(0.01)	<0.01	0.07	all		

C. 6 Signif	icant pairwise differences between seasons (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between contours between each
	$season \ (winter, calving, summer, rut \ and \ fall). \ We \ indicate \ the \ KDE \ bandwidths \ (h_{ref}-0.8h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref}-0.6h_{ref} \ and \ h_{ref}-0.6h_{ref})$
	as well as DEM resolutions (25, 75, 125 and 175m) at which significant differences were found.

										Pai	rwise co	omparisor	<u>۱</u>	Signit	ficant resolution	ns (m)
												95% Co inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth:		
Slope Variable	High Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Low Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
Mean	Summer	25-50	5.4	± 3.3	(11)	Fall	2.0	± 1.2	(13)	3.4	(1.0)	0.1	6.8	25, 75, 125	75, 175	175
			5.6	± 2.8	(10)	Rut	2.2	± 1.8	(11)	3.4	(0.9)	0.8	5.9	75, 125, 175	175	
			5.6	± 2.8	(10)	Winter	1.9	± 2.2	(12)	3.7	(0.9)	1.2	6.2	75, 125, 175	75, 125, 175	
		25-75	8.2	± 5.1	(13)	Fall	3.2	± 2.5	(13)	5.0	(1.6)	<0.1	10.0	25, 125, 175	125	75, 125, 175
			8.2	± 5.1	(13)	Rut	2.2	± 2.4	(12)	6.0	(1.6)	1.2	10.8	all	all	75, 125, 175
			8.2	± 5.1	(13)	Winter	1.9	± 1.7	(14)	6.3	(1.5)	1.7	11.0	all	all	all
		25-95	8.9	± 6.7	(12)	Rut	2.3	± 2.1	(11)	6.6	(2.0)	0.2	13.0			75
			7.3	± 5.5	(11)	Winter	2.9	± 1.9	(12)	4.4	(1.5)	0.1	8.6	125		175
		50-75	4.6	± 3.1	(11)	Fall	1.7	± 1.3	(10)	2.9	(1.0)	0.1	5.6			75,125, 175
			4.9	± 3.5	(11)	Rut	1.6	± 1.6	(12)	3.3	(1.0)	0.6	6.0			all
			4.9	± 3.5	(11)	Winter	0.8	± 0.6	(13)	4.1	(0.9)	1.4	6.7		all	all
		50-95	6.4	± 5.7	(11)	Rut	2.4	± 1.8	(11)	4.1	(1.4)	0.1	8.0			75, 125
			5.5	± 5.6	(13)	Winter	1.5	± 1.4	(14)	4.1	(1.3)	0.4	7.7		25	

										Pai	rwise co	mparisor	1	Signific	ant resoluti	ons (m)
												95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	Bandwidth:		
Slope Variable	High Season	Contour Pair	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Low Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
		75-95	3.6	± 2.1	(13)	Fall	1.3	± 1.2	(13)	2.3	(0.7)	0.2	4.4		25, 75	
			3.6	± 2.1	(13)	Rut	1.5	± 1.0	(11)	2.0	(0.6)	0.1	4.0		25, 75	
SD	Calving	25-75	6.0	± 3.2	(7)	Winter	1.2	± 1.0	(11)	4.8	(1.2)	0.3	9.3	175		
		50-75	2.8	± 1.5	(8)	Winter	0.7	± 0.5	(6)	2.1	(0.6)	0.2	3.9			175
	Summer	25-75	7.8	± 4.7	(10)	Fall	3.4	± 2.4	(12)	4.4	(1.5)	0.2	8.6			75
			6.4	± 5.3	(13)	Winter	1.4	± 1.3	(14)	5.0	(1.5)	0.3	9.7	all	all	all
		50-75	4.8	± 3.0	(11)	Fall	2.0	± 2.1	(13)	2.8	(0.9)	0.3	5.3			25
			4.8	± 3.0	(11)	Rut	1.7	± 1.0	(12)	3.1	(1.0)	0.1	6.2		175	25, 125, 175
			4.8	± 3.0	(11)	Winter	0.6	± 0.7	(13)	4.2	(0.8)	1.7	6.7		all	all
сv	Rut	25-75	0.23	± 0.13	(12)	Winter	0.09	± 0.10	(14)	0.14	(0.05)	0.01	0.28	25	all	25, 75
			0.28	± 0.11	(8)	Winter	0.08	± 0.08	(7)	0.20	(0.07)	0.002	0.39	25		25, 75, 175
	Summer	25-75	0.27	± 0.19	(13)	Winter	0.10	± 0.06	(14)	0.21	(0.05)	0.03	0.38		75	
	Fall	25-75	0.27	± 0.16	(9)	Winter	0.08	± 0.04	(11)	0.19	(0.05)	0.01	0.37			75

									Pai	irwise co	mparison		Signif	icant resolution	ns (m)
											95% Cor inte	nfidence rval	Bandwidth:		
Slope Variable	High Season	Contour Pair	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Low Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
	Summer	25-50	0.24 ± 0.10	(6)	Winter	0.07	± 0.06	(9)	0.17	(0.06)	0.004	0.34	25, 125		
		25-75	0.27 ± 0.20	(8)	Winter	0.10	± 0.06	(9)	0.21	(0.05)	0.03	0.38		75	

Appendix D: Supplementary Results for chapter 4

		Contour:	25			50			75			95		
Season2	Increase in resolution (m)	Bandwidth:	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}	h _{ref}	0.8h _{ref}	0.6h _{ref}
Winter	25 – 75		14	14	14	14	14	14	14	13	14	14	14	14
	75 – 125		14	14	12	14	13	13	14	14	14	14	14	14
	125 - 175		5	3	1	11	10	6	14	10	11	13	13	12
Calving	25 – 75		11	11	10	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	11
	75 – 125		6	6	6	7	5	4	8	6	7	10	10	9
	125 - 175		2	1	1	2	1	1	2	2	1	5	4	3
Summer	25 – 75		13	12	11	13	12	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
	75 – 125		4	4	3	7	7	5	10	9	7	11	11	11
	125 - 175		1				1		3	2	1	9	8	7
Rut	25 – 75		11	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	12	12	12
	75 – 125		10	10	8	10	10	10	10	10	10	11	10	10
	125 - 175		2	2	2	2	1	1	6	5	2	9	8	7
Fall	25 – 75		13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
	75 – 125		13	11	11	13	12	12	13	13	13	13	13	13
	125 - 175		6	5	2	6	3	4	10	7	5	11	12	11

D. 1 Number of significant differences in x̄ of slope between each increase in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m) within each of the four UD contours (25, 50, 75 and 95%) in each season (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each KDE bandwidth (h_{ref},

0.8h_{ref} and 0.6h_{ref}).

D. 2 Significant pairwise differences (p<0.05) in $\overline{x}_{\Delta \overline{x}}$ and $\overline{x}_{\Delta SD}$ of slope (%) between each successive increase in resolution (25-75m vs. 75-125m, and 75-125m vs. 125-175m) within each contour (25, 50, 75 and 95) and seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). Significant differences between each increase in resolution were not found for $\overline{x}_{\Delta CV}$. We indicate the bandwidths (h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} and 0.6h_{ref}) at which differences between resolutions were significant.

										_	Pai	rwise Co	mparison		
			High				Low			-			95% Coi inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	Season	Contour	Increase in resolution (m)	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Increase in resolution (m)	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Bandwidths
<u>Mean</u>	Fall		25 - 75				75 - 125								
		25		-1.5	± 0.30	(13)		-0.6	± 0.13	(13)	0.9	(0.09)	0.6	1.2	all
		50		-1.5	± 0.31	(13)		-0.7	± 0.10	(13)	0.9	(0.09)	0.6	1.1	all
		75		-1.7	± 0.21	(13)		-0.8	± 0.10	(13)	0.8	(0.06)	0.6	1.0	all
		95		-1.6	± 0.14	(13)		-0.8	± 0.12	(13)	0.8	(0.08)	0.6	1.0	all
			75 - 125				125 - 175								
		25		-0.6	± 0.13	(13)		-0.3	± 0.03	(6)	0.3	(0.04)	0.2	0.4	all
		50		-0.7	± 0.10	(13)		-0.4	± 0.04	(6)	0.2	(0.03)	0.1	0.3	h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}
		95		-0.8	± 0.10	(13)		-0.6	± 0.09	(12)	0.2	(0.08)	0.0	0.5	0.8 <i>h</i> _{ref}
	Rut		25 - 75				75 - 125								
		50		-1.4	± 0.40	(11)		-0.7	± 0.23	(10)	0.8	(0.14)	0.3	1.2	h _{ref}
		75		-1.4	± 0.34	(11)		-0.7	± 0.25	(10)	0.7	(0.23)	0.1	1.4	all
		95		-1.5	± 0.38	(12)		-0.8	± 0.24	(11)	0.7	(0.22)	0.1	1.3	all

											Pai	irwise Co	mparison		
			High				Low			_			95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	Season	Contour	Increase in resolution (m)	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Increase in resolution (m)	\overline{x}_{Δ} ±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Bandwidths
			75 - 125				125 - 175								
		25		-0.5	± 0.25	(10)		-0.2 ±	0.06	(2)	0.3	(0.09)	0.0	0.7	h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}
	Winter		25 - 75				75 - 125								
		25		-1.5	± 0.26	(14)		-0.7 ±	0.12	(14)	0.8	(0.1)	0.5	1.1	all
		50		-1.6	± 0.33	(14)		-0.7 ±	0.21	(14)	0.8	(0.16)	0.4	1.3	all
		75		-1.5	± 0.19	(14)		-0.7 ±	0.17	(14)	0.8	(0.11)	0.5	1.1	h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}
		95		-1.5	± 0.26	(14)		-0.7 ±	0.18	(14)	0.8	(0.13)	0.4	1.2	h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}
<u>SD</u>	Fall		25 - 75				75 - 125								
		25		-1.4	± 0.25	(13)		-0.7 ±	0.23	(13)	0.7	(0.14)	0.3	1.1	all
		50		-1.3	± 0.35	(13)		-0.7 ±	0.24	(13)	0.6	(0.18)	0.1	1.1	all
		75		-1.5	± 0.23	(13)		-0.9 ±	0.26	(13)	0.6	(0.16)	0.1	1.0	all
		95		-1.4	± 0.29	(13)		-0.9 ±	0.22	(13)	0.5	(0.15)	0.1	0.9	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
	Winter		25 - 75				75 - 125								
		25		-1.5	± 0.41	(14)		-0.6 ±	0.19	(14)	0.9	(0.12)	0.5	1.3	all
		50		-1.7	± 0.76	(14)		-0.8 ±	0.32	(14)	1.0	(0.3)	0.1	1.8	h _{ref}

											Pai	irwise Cor	nparison		
			High				Low			_			95% Coi inte	nfidence erval	
Slope Variable	Season	Contour	Increase in resolution (m)	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Increase in resolution (m)	\overline{x}_{Δ}	± SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Bandwidths
		75		-1.7	± 0.39	(14)		-0.8	± 0.25	(14)	0.9	(0.18)	0.4	1.4	h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}
		95		-1.5	± 0.38	(14)		-0.7	± 0.22	(14)	0.8	(0.12)	0.4	1.2	all

D. 3 S	Significant pairwise differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) between the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) of each
	seasonal home range (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall) at each increase in resolution (25-75m, 75-125m and 125-175m).
	We indicate the bandwidths (h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref} and 0.6h _{ref}) at which differences between resolutions were significant.

									Pair	wise Cor	nparison		
			High			Low					95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Slope variable	Season	Increase in Resolution (m)	Contour	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Contour	$\overline{x}_{\Delta} \pm SD$	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Bandwidths
<u>Mean</u>	Fall	75 – 125	25	-0.6 ± 0.13	(13)	75	-0.8 ± 0.1	(13)	0.2	(0)	0.1	0.3	h _{ref}
		125 – 175		-0.3 ± 0.03	(6)		-0.6 ± 0.14	(7)	0.2	(0)	0.1	0.4	h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref}
		75 – 125	25	-0.6 ± 0.13	(13)	95	-0.8 ± 0.12	(13)	0.2	(0)	0.1	0.3	all
		125 – 175		-0.3 ± 0.03	(6)		-0.6 ± 0.09	(11)	0.2	(0)	0.2	0.4	h_{ref} , 0.8 h_{ref}
		75 – 125	50	-0.7 ± 0.1	(13)	75	-0.8 ± 0.1	(13)	0.1	(0)	0	0.3	h _{ref}
		75 – 125	50	-0.7 ± 0.1	(13)	95	-0.8 ± 0.12	(13)	0.1	(0)	0	0.3	all
		125 – 175		-0.4 ± 0.04	(6)		-0.6 ± 0.09	(11)	0.1	(0)	0	0.3	all
	Rut	125 – 175	25	-0.2 ± 0.06	(2)	95	-0.6 ± 0.17	(9)	0.3	(0.1)	0.1	0.6	all
<u>SD</u>	Fall	125 – 175	25	-0.4 ± 0.13	(6)	75	-0.8 ± 0.2	(7)	0.3	(0.1)	0.1	0.6	h _{ref}

h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}	0.6	0	(0.1)	0.3	(13)	-1.0 ± 0.32	95	(13)	-0.7 ± 0.23	25	75 – 125	
h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}	0.6	0.2	(0.1)	0.4	(11)	-0.9 ± 0.17		(6)	-0.4 ± 0.13		125 – 175	
h _{ref} , 0.6 h _{ref}	0.5	0.1	(0.1)	0.2	(11)	-0.9 ± 0.17	95	(6)	-0.6 ± 0.17	50	125 – 175	
0.8 <i>h</i> _{ref}	1.2	0.1	(0.2)	0.6	(5)	-0.9 ± 0.33	75	(2)	-0.2 ± 0.08	25	125 – 175	Rut
0.8 <i>h</i> _{ref} , 0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}	0.9	0.3	(0.1)	0.6	(8)	-0.8 ± 0.22	95	(2)	-0.2 ± 0.08	25	125 – 175	
h _{ref}	0.052	0.002	(0.009)	0.027	(7)	0.028 ± 0.014	75	(6)	0.055 ± 0.023	25	125 – 175	<u>CV</u> Fall

													Pai	rwise Co	mparison		
			High					Low							95% Co	nfidence	
Slope variable	Contour	Increase in resolution (m)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Bandwidths
<u>Mean</u>	25	25 - 75	Calving	-2.2	±	.6	(10)	Fall	-1.5	±	.3	(13)	0.7	(0.2)	0.1	1.4	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
				-2.0	±	.7	(11)	Rut	-1.2	±	.4	(11)	0.8	(0.3)	0.2	1.6	all
				-2.2	±	.6	(10)	Summer	-1.6	±	.7	(11)	0.6	(0.2)	0.1	1.2	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
				-2.2	±	.6	(10)	Winter	-1.6	±	.2	(14)	0.6	(0.2)	0.1	1.3	0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}
	75	25 - 75	Calving	-2.1	±	.5	(11)	Rut	-1.4	±	.3	(11)	0.6	(0.2)	0.1	1.3	all
				-2.1	±	.5	(11)	Winter	-1.5	±	.2	(14)	0.6	(0.2)	0.1	1.1	h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref}
			Summer	-2.0	±	.8	(13)	Rut	-1.4	±	.3	(11)	0.5	(0.2)	0.0	1.1	h _{ref}
	95	25 - 75	Calving	-2.4	±	.4	(11)	Fall	-1.6	±	.1	(13)	0.7	(0.1)	0.4	1.2	all
				-2.4	±	.4	(11)	Rut	-1.5	±	.4	(12)	0.9	(0.2)	0.5	1.4	all
				-2.4	±	.4	(11)	Winter	-1.5	±	.3	(14)	0.9	(0.2)	0.5	1.3	all
			Summer	-2.0	±	.6	(13)	Rut	-1.5	±	.4	(12)	0.5	(0.2)	0.1	0.9	all
		75 - 125	Calving	-1.3	±	.5	(10)	Winter	7	±	.2	(14)	0.5	(0.2)	0.0	1.1	h _{ref}

D. 4 Significant differences (p<0.05) in the descriptive metrics of slope (%) within each of the four contours (25, 50, 75 and 95) between each of the five seasonal home ranges (winter, calving, summer, rut and fall). We indicate the bandwidths (h_{ref}, 0.8h_{ref} and 0.6h_{ref}) at which differences between resolutions were significant.

		nparison	rwise Cor	Pai											
	nfidence rval	95% Cor inte						Low				High			
Bandwidths	Upper	Lower	(SE)	Mean Difference	(n)	SD	\overline{x}_{Δ} ±	Season	(n)	SD	\overline{x}_{Δ} ±	Season	Increase in resolution (m)	Contour	Slope variable
0.6 h _{ref}	1.4	0.1	(0.2)	0.7	(13)	.3	-1.4 ±	Fall	(10)	.6	-2.1 ±	Calving	25 - 75	25	<u>SD</u>
$0.8h_{ref}, 0.6h_{ref}$	1.5	0.0	(0.3)	0.7	(11)	.4	-1.1 ±	Rut	(11)	.7	-1.9 ±				
0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}	1.2	0.0	(0.2)	0.6	(11)	.5	-1.1 ±	Rut	(14)	.4	-1.7 ±	Winter			
0.8h _{ref} , 0.6h _{ref}	1.2	0.1	(0.2)	0.6	(11)	.3	-1.3 ±	Rut	(11)	.5	-1.9 ±	Calving	25 - 75	75	
0.6 <i>h</i> _{ref}	1.4	0.0	(0.2)	0.7	(11)	.3	-1.2 ±		(13)	1.0	-1.9 ±	Summer	25 - 75		
h _{ref}	0.8	0.1	(0.1)	0.4	(14)	.3	8 ±	Winter	(10)	.4	-1.2 ±		75 - 125		
all	1.1	0.1	(0.2)	0.6	(13)	.4	-1.5 ±	Fall	(11)	.5	-2.1 ±	Calving	25 - 75	95	
all	1.2	0.1	(0.2)	0.6	(12)	.4	-1.5 ±	Rut	(11)	.5	-2.1 ±				
h _{ref} , 0.8 h _{ref}	1.1	0.0	(0.2)	0.5	(14)	.4	-1.5 ±	Winter	(11)	.5	-2.1 ±				
0.6h _{ref}	0.9	0.0	(0.2)	0.4	(13)	.2	9 ±	Fall	(11)	.5	-1.3 ±	Summer	75 - 125		
h _{ref} , 0.6h _{ref}	1.1	0.2	(0.2)	0.6	(14)	.2	7 ±	Winter	(11)	.4	-1.4 ±				
h _{ref} , 0.8h _{ref}	0.9	0.1	(0.1)	0.5	(13)	.2	5 ±	Winter	(9)	.3	-1.0 ±		125 - 175		
h _{ref}	0.7	0.0	(0.1)	0.3	(13)	.2	5 ±	Winter	(11)	.2	9 ±	Fall	125 - 175		

													Pa	airwise Con	nparison		
			High					Low							95% Cor inte	nfidence erval	
Slope variable	Contour	Increase in resolution (m)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Season	\overline{x}_{Δ}	±	SD	(n)	Mean Difference	(SE)	Lower	Upper	Bandwidths
		125 - 175	Rut	9	±	.2	(9)	Winter	5	±	.2	(13)	0.3	(0.1)	0.0	0.7	h _{ref}
<u>cv</u>	25	25 - 75	Winter	.080	±	.045	(14)		.034	±	.014	(11)	0.05	(0.013)	0.01	0.09	0.6h _{ref}
		125 - 175	Fall	.055	±	.023	(6)	Winter	.018	±	.008	(5)	0.04	(0.011)	0.01	0.07	h _{ref}
	75	125 - 175	Summer	.032	±	.003	(2)	Calving	.011	±	.004	(2)	0.02	(<0.001)	0.02	0.02	0.8h _{ref}
			Winter	.020	±	.008	(10)	Calving	.011	±	.004	(2)	0.01	(0.003)	<0.01	0.02	0.8h _{ref}
	95	125 - 175	Rut	.030	±	.010	(9)	Winter	.013	±	.014	(13)	0.02	(0.005)	<0.01	0.03	h _{ref}
			Summer	.029	±	.011	(9)	Winter	.013	±	.014	(13)	0.02	(0.005)	<0.01	0.03	h _{ref}